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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
(Free translation)
To the shareholders of Budapesti Elektromos Művek Nyrt.
Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Budapesti Elektromos Művek Nyrt. (the
“Company”) which comprise the balance sheet as of 31 December 2018 (in which the balance sheet total is
MHUF 279,079), the statement of comprehensive income (in which the total comprehensive income for
the year is MHUF 10,131 profit), the statement of changes in equity, the statement of cash flows for the
year then ended and the notes to the financial statements including a summary of the significant
accounting policies.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of
the Company as at 31 December 2018, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted by the EU and
they have been prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the supplementary requirements of
Act C of 2000 on Accounting (“Accounting Act”) relevant for the annual financial statements prepared in
accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU.
Our opinion is consistent with our additional report to the audit committee.
Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hungarian National Standards on Auditing (“HNSA”) and
with applicable laws and regulations in force in Hungary. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the “Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements” section of our
report.
We are independent of the Company in accordance with the applicable laws of Hungary, with the
Hungarian Chamber of Auditors’ Rules on ethics and professional conduct of auditors and on disciplinary
process and, for matters not regulated in the Rules, with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
issued by the International Ethics Standards Board (IESBA Code of Ethics) and we also comply with
further ethical requirements set out in these.
The non-audit services that we have provided to the Company, in the period from 1 January 2018 to 31
December 2018, are disclosed in note 6.6 to the financial statements.
To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit services that we have provided to the
Company are in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations in Hungary and that we have not
provided non-audit services that are prohibited under Article 5 of Regulation of the European Parliament
and Committee No 537/2014 and Subsection (1) and (2) of Section 67/A of Act LXXV of 2007 on the
Chamber of Hungarian Auditors, the Activities of Auditors, and on the Public Oversight of Auditors.
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
Our audit approach
Overview
Overall materiality

Overall materiality applied was MHUF 2,660 that was determined
by taking into consideration the combination of total assets,
revenue and profit before tax.

Key Audit Matters

Valuation of investments in subsidiaries

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement
in the financial statements. In particular, we considered where management made subjective judgements;
for example, in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and
considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits, we also addressed the risk
of management override of internal controls, including among other matters, consideration of whether
there was evidence of bias that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.
We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an opinion
on the financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the Company, the accounting
processes and controls, and the industry in which the Company operates.
Materiality
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. An audit is designed to obtain
reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They are considered material if individually or in
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of the financial statements.
Based on our professional judgement, we determined certain quantitative thresholds for materiality,
including the overall materiality for the financial statements as a whole as set out in the table below.
These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the
nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and to evaluate the effect of misstatements, both
individually and in aggregate on the financial statements as a whole.
Materiality

MHUF 2,660

Determination

Overall materiality applied was determined by taking into
consideration the combination of total assets, revenue and
profit before tax.

Rationale for the materiality
benchmark applied

We chose these measures as the benchmark because, in our
view, it is the benchmark against which the performance of the
Company is most commonly measured by users.
As the Company is a holding company, investments represent
the majority of the Company’s total assets in the balance sheet,
thus the amount of total assets is a key figure.
In case of the services rendered for companies within the
Group profit is not the key measure, therefore the performance

can be assessed based on the net revenue.
In case of other services rendered to third parties the key
measure is the profit, thus profit before tax is the most
important benchmark.
This is consistent with the basis for our materiality calculation
in the previous year.
Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.
Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of investments in
subsidiaries

Our procedures included but were not limited to:

Investments in subsidiaries in the amount of
MHUF 227,560 represent 82% of total assets
in the balance sheet (please see disclosed in
Note 5.1.4).

>> obtaining an understanding of the key controls
associated with the preparation of the valuation
models used to assess the recoverable amount of
cash generating units;

The assessment of the recoverable amount of
the investments disclosed in Note 2.5 and 4.1
requires significant judgement in determining
the key assumptions supporting the expected
future cash flows of the business and the
utilisation of the relevant assets.

>>
critically
evaluating
management’s
methodologies for determining the key assumptions
utilised in the valuation models;
>> we also applied an internal valuation expert and
we assessed and challenged:
− the identification of cash generating units;
− the key assumptions for long-term growth rates in
the forecast cash flows; and
− the discount rate applied;
>> we checked the mathematical accuracy of the
cash flow models, agreed forecast cash flows to the
latest Board approved business plan and assessed
the historical accuracy of forecasting;
>> we assessed the sensitivity analyses performed
by management around the key drivers used in the
cash flow forecasts and the discount rate used; and
We have also assessed the appropriateness of the
disclosures in the notes to the financial statements.
Based on our procedures, we noted no material
exceptions and considered management’s key
assumptions to be within reasonable ranges.

Other information: the business report
Other information comprises the business report of the Company. Management is responsible for the
preparation of the business report in accordance with the provisions of the Accounting Act and other
relevant regulations. Our opinion on the financial statements expressed in the “Opinion” section of our
independent auditor’s report does not cover the business report.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the business report
and, in doing so, consider whether the business report is materially inconsistent with the financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If
based on our work performed we conclude that the business report is materially misstated we are required
to report this fact and the nature of the misstatement.
Based on the Accounting Act, it is also our responsibility when reading the business report to consider
whether the business report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Accounting Act
and other relevant regulations, if any, and to express an opinion on this and on whether the business
report is consistent with the financial statements.
Because the Company’s transferable securities are admitted to trading on a regulated market of a Member
State of the European Economic Area, our opinion on the business report shall cover the information
prepared under Paragraphs e) and f) of Subsection (2) of Section 95/B, and state whether the information
referred to in Paragraphs a)-d), g) and h) of Subsection (2) of Section 95/B of the Accounting Act has been
provided.
As the Company is a public interest entity and the conditions in Paragraph a) and b) of Subsection (1) of
Section 95/C of the Accounting Act are met at the balance sheet date, the Company shall publish a nonfinancial statement required by 95/C in it’s business report. In this respect, we shall state whether the
business report includes the non-financial statement required by Section 95/C of the Accounting Act.
In our opinion, the 2018 business report of the Company, also including the information prepared under
Paragraphs e) and f) of Subsection (2) of Section 95/B, is consistent with the 2018 financial statements in
all material respects, and the business report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the
Accounting Act. As there is no other regulation prescribing further requirements for the business report,
we do not express an opinion in this respect.
We are not aware of any other material inconsistency or material misstatement in the business report and
therefore we have nothing to report in this respect.
We state that the information referred to in Paragraphs a)-d), g) and h) of Subsection (2) of Section 95/B
of the Accounting Act has been provided. The business report includes the non-financial statement
required by Section 95/C of the Accounting Act.
Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the financial
statements
Management is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU and to prepare the
financial statements in accordance with the supplementary requirements of the Accounting Act relevant
for the annual financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU, and for such
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting in the financial statements unless management either intends to
liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with HNSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with HNSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
·

·

·
·

·

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of internal control.
Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.
Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in
the financial statements and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.
Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that gives a true and fair view.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that
were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
We were first appointed as auditors of the Company on 31 May 1996. Our appointment has been renewed
by shareholder resolution on 24 April 2017 representing a total period of uninterrupted engagement
appointment of 23 years.
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Balázs Mészáros
Budapest, 27 February 2019

Balázs Mészáros
Partner
Statutory auditor
Licence number: 005589
PricewaterhouseCoopers Könyvvizsgáló Kft.
1055 Budapest, Bajcsy-Zsilinszky út 78.
Licence Number: 001464

Translation note:
Our report has been prepared in Hungarian and in English. In all matters of interpretation of information, views or opinions, the
Hungarian version of our report takes precedence over the English version.
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1. GENERAL SECTION

1.1. Company profile
Company name:

Budapesti Elektromos Művek Nyilvánosan Működő
Részvénytársaság
(hereinafter referred to as the Company)

Short name of the Company:

ELMŰ Nyrt.

Registered office:

1132 Budapest, Váci út 72-74.

Electronic contact details of the Company:

www.elmu.hu
cegkapuelmu@elmu.hu

Court of Registration:

Metropolitan Court as Court of Registration
Company Registration Number: 01-10-041827
Date of incorporation: 16.04.1993

Registered capital of the company:

60 744 410 000 HUF

Corporate form of the organization:

Public limited-liability company.

The main decision-making body of the Company is the General Meeting, its governing and control
bodies are the Board of Directors of four members, and the Supervisory Board of nine members.
According to Paragraph (1) of Section 3:291. of the new Civil Code (hereinafter: Ptk.) , there is an
Auditing Committee operating at the Company, its members are elected by the General Meeting from
among the independent members of the Supervisory Board.

Board of Directors:

Dr. Marie-Theres Thiell

(chair)

Krisztina Horváth
László Koncz
Franz Josef Retzer
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Supervisory Board:

Karl Kraus

(chair)

Dr. Gábor Szörényi
Dr. Martin Konermann
Marc Wolpensinger
Lajos Németh
Dr. Miklós Dobák
Dr. Csaba Székely
Katalin Szuromi-Máté
József Dénes

Auditing Committee:

Dr. Martin Konermann
Marc Wolpensinger
József Dénes

Name of authorized representatives:

Dr. Marie-Theres Thiell
Krisztina Horváth
László Koncz
Franz Josef Retzer

Accountancy services provided by:

Budapesti Elektromos Művek Nyrt.
Józsefné Wilk
Chartered accountant
Registration area: IFRS, business
Registration number: 123887

Auditor:

The Company has an auditing obligation; its auditor
being:
PricewaterhouseCoopers Könyvvizsgáló Kft.
Balázs Mészáros, chamber membership number:
005589
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Budapesti Elektromos Művek Nyrt. has long traditions in the economic life of Hungary.
Following the political and economic changes of the 80’s and 90’s, the Company was established by the
transformation of Budapesti Elektromos Művek Vállalat on 31 December 1991. After privatization the
Company became part of the stakeholders of the RWE AG and EnBW AG companies.
Currently its main shareholder is innogy International Participations N.V., which is a subsidiary of RWE
AG.

The consolidated annual report of the mother company, i.e. RWE AG (45128 Essen, Opernplatz 1) and its
subsidiary innogy SE, compiled based on the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) is
available for inspection at the website www.rwe.com.

1.2. Shareholders and the ratio of their shares
31.12.2018
Shareholder's name
Number owned

31.12.2017

Ownership
ratio (%)

Number owned

Ownership
ratio (%)

innogy International Participations N.V.

3 356 432

55,25

3 356 432

55,25

EnBW Trust e.V.

1 515 000

24,94

1 515 000

24,94

EnBW Energie Baden-Württemberg AG

140 421

2,31

140 421

2,31

Magyar Villamos Művek Zrt.

949 278

15,63

949 278

15,63

Magyar Nemzeti Vagyonkezelő Zrt.
Nemzeti Eszközgazdálkodási Zrt.
Account managers
Domestic legal entities
Foreign legal entities
Local governments
Non-registered category (unspecified category)
Domestic private individuals
Foreign private individuals
Accounts not specified
Total

1
14 399
10
17 665

0,24
0,29

1
14 399
10
19 135

0,24
0,32

973

0,02

1 257

0,02

16 470

0,27

16 470

0,27

381

0,01

200

57 893

0,95

56 342

0,93

-

1 835

0,03

1 807

0,03

3 683

0,06

3 689

0,06

6 074 441

100,00

6 074 441

100,00

The core capital of ELMŰ Nyrt. consists of 6 074 441 pieces of ordinary shares of 10 000 HUF nominal
value each, which provide equal membership rights. The shares are quoted at the Budapest Stock
Exchange in category 'Standard'.

The annual report was approved by the Board of Directors on February 27, 2019.
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Usage of profit after tax

The Board of ELMŰ Nyrt. allocates the 10 131 MHUF profit of the period to profit reserve.
The Board of Directors recommends further that 9 719 MHUF from profit reserve of the Company,
which corresponding to 1 600 HUF per share, should be paid as dividend to the shareholders.

Scope of activities
The tasks of the Company include the control of its financial investments within its direct interest.
Some of the activities of ELMŰ Nyrt. are related to the strategy, or the control of the Group, such as
company development, legal and property management, controlling and internal control.
The other group of activities include the internal services, which are provided by the organizational units
in addition to ELMŰ Nyrt., to all members of the Group. Falling here are among others, the human
resource management and development, finance and accounting, purchasing and logistics, IT and facility
management.
There are some activities, which are carried out in the name of and on behalf of the Group, by the units
operating within the organization of the Company, mainly for third party customers. These are, for
example communication, marketing and environment protection.
ELMŰ Nyrt. is committed to the use of clean energy resources and to decentralized energy production.
It is dealing with the design and construction of photovoltaic systems on the national level.
The Company has a pioneer role in spreading emission-free urban traffic as part of which it promotes
using electric cars for which it offers a wide selection of electric charging equipment for private and
public use. The Company is also involved in the building of an electric car charging network by taking
into consideration the customers’ unique and customizable needs and requirements.
The Company lays special emphasis on allowing its customers to choose from the largest number of
innovative services. It offers customer-friendly solutions for a careless everyday life, be it the most
frequently occurring emergencies in households, realizable savings or comfort services.

Supplementary Annex to the 2018 Annual Report (according to IFRS standards) ELMŰ Nyrt.

8

1.3. Market situation
The Company terminated its past activity (electricity sales) on January 1, 2017, although its licence
remained valid until December 31, 2017.
The Hungarian free market of electric energy underwent significant changes. The players of the
electricity market are already offering their services over the country’s entire territory, meaning that the
former regional type of customer relations seem to weaken, and the majority of service providers are
beginning to offer a portfolio of at least two products - electricity and natural gas- to customers. In the
ever-growing competition the effect of the operating costs is also increasingly stronger, therefore the
service providers may gain a competitive edge through efficient operation; consequently, the Company
must also respond to these changes.
ELMŰ Nyrt. on January 1, 2017 transferred with a final effect its free-market energy trading activities to
its jointly managed company. The Company expects to see a simplified flow of operational processes
and a significant improvement in terms of flexibility and efficiency, as a result of the above changes.
In the previous years, the new business unit of the Company entered the market under the brand name
enHome and is providing decentralized energy solutions. enHome provides revolutionary new turnkey
solutions to the efficient local satisfaction of energy demands. Our portfolio includes all of the most
popular and most effective equipment available today: solar cells, solar collectors, heat pumps and
condensing boilers, which can be ordered both in packages or according to any tailor-made demands.
With the expertise of our partners we provide full services mainly to our household customers. This
includes energetics audit, selection, design, and, if necessary, authorization of the system and
maintenance, solving any financing difficulties, if needed, as well as energy supply contract, if necessary.

1.4. Changes in the regulatory environment
Pursuant to the amendment of Act C of 2000 on Accounting in 2015, ELMŰ Nyrt. prepares its annual
report according to the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) accepted by the European
Union.
Pursuant to section 9/A.§ (2) of the Act on Accounting, a company whose securities are admitted to
trading on a regulated market of any Member State of the European Economic Area shall compile its
annual report according to the IFRS.
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From January 1, 2017 the rate of corporate income tax was reduced to a uniform 9 % and this rate
remained effective in 2018 too.
Also in 2017 and 2018 the corporate income tax is qualified as a hybrid tax. Due to the stipulations
relevant to corporate income tax and the changes that occurred in the Company regarding its scope of
activities, if the corporate income tax for the reporting year is higher than the tax payable in the
previous year, it must be possible to determine the profit before taxes calculated according to the
accounting law effective in the previous years which can prove that the amount of the corporate
income tax calculated did not decrease due to the transition but it is the consequence of the change in
the scope of activities To demonstrate evidence of the above, it became necessary to manage two
accounting systems parallel.

In accordance with the Company’s accounting policy, the amount based on the profit liable to tax is
presented in the profit and loss statement as income tax, while the amount exceeded this is recognized
as an operating expense type of tax.

The Company’s reconciliation of the corporate tax base does not change due to the transition to
preparing a statement according to IFRS, since by taking advantage of the possibility provided for by the
law and based on its application submitted simultaneously with its corporate income tax return it
regards the corporate income tax calculated based on the accounting profit/loss on the grounds of the
Hungarian accounting rules as the tax payable. In relation with the transition to taxation according to
IFRS the Company did not incur any material transition difference. The transition has no impact on
deferred tax, as the tax base is negative according to both reconciliations, and the Company does not
state deferred tax receivable for the deferred loss, as it expects not to earn such taxable profit against
which the interim difference could be recognized.

The income tax of energy suppliers remained unchanged in the period under review at a rate of 31
percent, along with the circle of taxpayers concerned, in that trading licensees specified in the act on
electricity act and the act on natural gas supply, qualify as energy suppliers, thus is obliged to pay tax. As
of December 31, 2017, the Company’s electricity trading licence was terminated, thus from 2018 it is
not a subject to pay such tax.
The regulation determining the local business tax has remained unchanged in that the consolidated
value of the net sales reducing items COGS and mediated services can be considered at a graduated
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decreasing rate for the definition of the tax base. There were significant changes, on the other hand, in
the regulations regarding the associated enterprises, i.e. from 1 January 2017 only those associated
enterprises must determine the local business tax base based on the consolidated data, that were
founded by separation after 1 October 2016. As a result of this change in legislation, in the case of the
Company the obligation to determine the tax base based on consolidated data no longer exists.
Therefore, starting from year 2017 the Company had to determine the local business tax base and
amount based on its stand-alone data, and this rule shall remain valid in 2018 too.
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2. MAIN CHARACTERISTICS OF THE ACCOUNTING POLICY

2.1. The method applied in working out the reports
In addition to this stand-alone annual report prepared according to the IFRS’s, the Company has also
prepared consolidated financial statements, in harmony with the IFRS standards, about its own and its
subsidiaries’ (company group) operation. In the consolidated financial statements, the subsidiaries –
those companies in which the Company holds an indirect or direct interest in the proportion of the more
than half of the voting rights, or controls company management in a different manner – have all been
consolidated. The consolidated financial statements are available at the website www.elmu.hu.
Users are to consult this stand-alone financial statement together with the company group’s
consolidated financial statements, valid for the year ending on 31 December 2018, so that complete
information would be gained about the company group’s overall financial position, the results of
company management and changes that have occurred in the financial position.

The Company applies the practice of double-entry bookkeeping. Economic events are processed by
using an integrated, on-line corporate management system (SAP):
Pursuant to the amendment of Act C of 2000 on Accounting in 2015, Elmű Nyrt. prepares its annual
report according to the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).
At the Company the duration of the business year is identical to the calendar year.
The annual report has been prepared for 31 December 2018.

The Company applies in case of non-financial instruments the purchase value model, in case of financial
instruments the depreciated purchasing value model, except to financial instruments and liabilities
valued against the profit at fair value – these items comprise derivative transactions.
The assets kept for sale must be valued at the lower of the book value or the fair value net of the costs
of sale on the basis of the IRFS 5 standard.
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2.2. Activities being and already discontinued
Under the provisions of IFRS 5, universal service provider activities and free market electricity trading
activities are to be considered as discontinued activities, as the portfolio of universal service and free
market customers has been sold. Pursuant to the standard, the financial effects of the discontinued
activities must be presented, clearly separating it from the profit earned from continued activities.

2.2.1. USP activity
The Company has transferred its universal service provider activities its subsidiary ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ
Energiaszolgáltató Zrt. as from 1 December 2015.
Such economic events may still arise from any possible customer complaints arising after the transfer,
whose management is the Company’s duty.

2.2.2. Free market trade of electricity
On 1 January 2017 the transferred its free market electricity trading activities to its jointly controlled
company, ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiakereskedő Kft. The Company had to handle the customer requirements,
complaints still pending after the transfer, and to make any possibly arising adjustments.

The income and expenses arising from the activities being discontinued, the profit or loss before taxes,
and any deferred tax recognized are described in detail in chapter 6.9. Activities discontinued.

2.3. New accounting standards and IFRIC interpretations
Standards, amendments and interpretations not yet in effect, whose early application has not been
chosen by the Company:
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IFRS 16, Leases (issued in January 2016, applicable through IASB to business years starting on or after
January 1, 2019. The EU has accepted the standard).
Nature of the change:
This new standard regulates the recognition, valuation, presentation and the related disclosure of
leases. In case of all leases, a lessee obtains the right-of-use of the given asset, and - if the price is to be
settled later - a lease liability is also to be recognized. Accordingly, IFRS 16 terminates the separation of
operative and financial leases required by IAS 17, and prescribes a universal model for the lessee. Lessor
shall present all leases (unless they are of low value) exceeding the period of 12 months both as asset
and liability in the balance sheet, and the depreciation of the asset and the interest costs of the liability
separately in the profit and loss statement. Accounting rules of lessors are basically the same based on
IFRS 16 as the requirements of IAS 17. Therefore, lessors shall continue to separate operative and
financial leases, and to account for their effects in a different way.
Introduction of the impacts:
During last year the Company established a project team, for evaluating the leasing contracts of the
Company, by the new accounting treatment required by IFRS 16. The new standard will primarily affect
the operative leasing contracts of the Company.
On the balancing date the Company has 34 MHUF non-cancellable operative leasing liabilities. Of this
amount, around 16 MHUF are related to leases involving small amounts, which continue to be
recognized on straight line basis as costs, even after the application of the standard, in the Company’s
profit and loss statement.
On the remainder of the leasing contracts, the Company is expected to recognize 18 MHUF of right-ofuse assets (calculated by taking into account the related accrual portfolio of December 31, 2018),
18 MHUF of leasing liabilities as of January 1, 2019.
The net stock of assets will decrease totally by 3 MHUF and the net stock of short-term liabilities will
increase by 3 MHUF, thanks to recognizing the part of leasing liabilities, due for payment in less than
one year's time, among the short-term liabilities.
The Company expects that net earnings will not significantly change, resulting from applying the new
standard in the business year of 2019.
Next year the operating cash flow will increase by 3 MHUF, while financing cash flow will decrease by
the same amount, as the payments of the capital part of the leasing, will be recognized by the Company
in the latter category.
Lessors’ activities of the Company are non-significant therefore the new standard shall not have a
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material effect on the consolidated financial statements of the Company.
Adaptation date:
The Company will apply the new standard from the required date of January 1, 2019 and makes use of
the possibility of modified retrospective application, thus the comparison period, preceding the time of
application, will not be published again.

The opinion of the Company is that there is no such new/modified standard, which is not yet in force,
and its expected impact could be significant on the financial statements of the Company.

2.4. Principles of accounting

2.4.1. Conversion of amounts in foreign currencies

2.4.1.1. Functional and disclosure currency

The Company’s financial statements are prepared in the currency corresponding to the principal
economic environment, i.e. In Hungarian forint (HUF), which, at the same time, is the Company’s
functional and disclosure currency.

2.4.1.2. Transaction and balances

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are converted into the functional currency at the
exchange rates specified in the act on value added tax.
The exchange rate gain or loss relating to loans, cash or short-term investments that can be quickly
liquidated is stated in the period’s profit/loss among the incomes or expenditures of financial
transactions.
Any other exchange rate gain or loss is stated in the period’s profit/loss among other operational
expenditures or revenues.
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2.4.2. Property, plant and equipment
Tangible assets properly put into use or service (land, site, building, other engineering structure,
technical facility, machine, vehicle, operating and business equipment, other equipment) that are used
for the purposes of the operations of the Company on a permanent basis, directly or indirectly, must be
stated in the Property, plant and equipment line of the balance sheet and investment projects must also
be stated here.

2.4.2.1. Cost value

The (procurement, production) cost value of an asset is the sum of the items individually associated with
the asset concerned, incurred in the interest of the procurement, construction and putting into service
(commissioning) up to the date of commissioning or placement in warehouse. The cost (procurement)
value comprises the purchase price decreased by discounts, increased by extra charges, along with the
considerations and fees of transport, loading, foundation building, fitting, commissioning and
intermediating activities incurred in relation to the procurement, commissioning and/or placement in
warehouse of the asset, the commission agent’s fee, the taxes and tax-type charges as well as customs
charges relating to procurement, plus costs of borrowing relating to the asset. Any cost incurred at a
later stage may only be recognized as part of the asset’s book value or entered in the records as a
separate asset, if it is likely that the given item will provide prospective economic benefits for the
Company and the cost of the item can be reliably established.
Any and all other repair and maintenance costs relating to the asset are recognized when they are
incurred, in the period’s profit/loss.

2.4.2.2. Valuation after recording in the books

The Company applies the cost model in the valuation of property, plant and equipment.
The value of property, plant and equipment is stated in the balance sheet at cost, net of the
depreciation and impairment loss, and increased, as appropriate, by the reversal of any recognized
impairment loss. The residual value of the assets and their useful life is reviewed and modified, if
necessary, on every balance sheet cut-off date.
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In the recognition of the depreciation of the property, plant and equipment the Company applies – by
determining the useful life – the straight-line accounting method, based on the following estimated
useful lives of the various asset categories:

Buildings (long lifetime) (*)

50 years

Buildings (medium lifetime) (*)

33,3 years

Buildings (short lifetime) (*)

16,7 years

Other constructions (tunnel, underground construction, power plant channels)

25 years

Other constructions (active elements of public lightning)

12,5 years

Other constructions (off-network pipelines)

20 years

Other constructions (own intraplant public lighting equipments)

25 years

Other constructions (construction and paving of squares, yards, paths)

16,7 years

Other constructions (construction of parks, sport fields, recreation areas)

50 years

Machines, equipments, fixtures

1 to 10 years

Information technical devices

3 years

Vehicles

5 years

(*) Lifetime:
Long lifetime: concrete and reinforced concrete, burnt brick, stone and steel buildings, office buildings
Medium lifetime: light steel and other metal structure, bauxite concrete cinder block structure e.g.
warehouse buildings and garages
Short lifetime: plank structure (wooden houses)

The buildings and other structures are included in the movement table in chapter 5.1.1 in the column of
property, while the IT devices in the column of other equipment, fixtures and vehicles. Machines,
equipment, fittings and vehicles may, depending on the operations they are used in, are to be found in
the plant, machinery and vehicles column and/or the other equipment, tools, fixtures and fittings,
vehicles column.
The depreciation of an asset starts when the asset is available for use at the site and in the position in
which it can be operated in the way desired by management. The depreciation of assets ends at the
earlier of the following times: recategorization of the asset to assets held for sale or the derecognition of
the asset from the books.
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The value of a major renewal or refurbishment is recognized during the remaining useful lifetimes of the
assets concerned or during the period lasting up to the date of the next major renewal or
refurbishment, whichever time frame is shorter.
The Company recognizes no depreciation for fixed investments and pieces of land.
If an asset’s book value is higher than its recoverable value, the asset’s value is immediately written off
to equal the recoverable value.
In the course of the sale of property, plant and equipment a difference may result in comparison to its
book value. The resulting net gain or net loss must be booked as other operating income or other
operating expenditure.

2.4.3. Investment property
The special accounting rules of the IAS 40 “Investment Property” standard are applicable to investment
properties.
Investment properties - according to IAS 40 - include such lands, and/or building(parts) that are held for
leasing and/or capital increase (by the owner or - in case of financial leasing - the lessee) instead of using
those as part of business as usual or selling them in the short-term.
Rental income may arise from the lease of flats, lease of lands or leasing contracts.

The following properties are not regarded as investment property:
·

properties rented out for own employees,

·

properties in own use, e.g. buildings or land held on stock, or

·

properties under development as ordered by third parties or on which investments are
performed (even if these are intended to be leased out later on or serve the purpose of value
increase). The IAS 16 standard applies to such properties until the construction is completed.

Properties in own use are such properties which (the owner or - in case of financial leasing - the lessee)
hold for use related to the manufacturing of goods or the provision of services or management
purposes. (IAS 40.5)

The Company does no classify its buildings out of operation (use) among its investment properties, as
those are not held for capital increase or lease but for the purpose of sale. If the criteria specified in the
IFRS 5 standard are met, these properties are classified among the fixed assets held for sale; if the
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criteria are not met these are stated in the Property, plant and equipment balance sheet line, in
accordance with the requirements of the IAS 16 standard.
The value limit of the “insignificant (negligible) part” mentioned in the IAS 40 standard has been set by
the Company as a value under 5 %. In case of own use exceeding 5 % the head of the Accounting
Department and the head of the Property Management Department jointly determine whether or not in
a specific case own use is regarded as negligible.

Based on the IAS 40.20, investment properties shall be measured initially at their cost value.
The Company measures its investment properties based on the cost value model following initial
recognition and applies this policy to all of its investment properties.

Following initial recognition those business entities that opted for the application of the cost value
model must measure all of its investment properties according to the rules of the IAS 16 standard
relevant to this model. (IAS 40.56)
The cost value and useful lifetime of investment properties are identical to what is described in chapter
2.4.2.

2.4.4. Intangible assets
Non-monetary assets without physical manifestation (concessions, licenses and similar rights,
intellectual products) must be recognized in the balance sheet among intangible assets.
Registration of the intangible assets in the balance sheet takes place at purchase value decreased by the
depreciation write-off, and increased by the reversal of the accounted depreciation, if necessary.
In accordance with the accounting policy of the Company, intangible assets are measured by considering
zero residual value. The useful lifetime of an intangible asset varies between 3 and 5 years, determined
on a case-by-case basis, in line with the contracts concerned. The Company reviews and, if necessary,
modifies the useful life on every balance sheet effective date.

a) Rights with an asset value
Concessions, licenses and similar rights are stated at cost. Their value is reduced in the books by the
amount of the depreciation write-off calculated on the basis of the prescribed useful life.
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b) Intellectual product
Purchased software products and licenses are capitalized on the basis of the incurred procurement
and installation costs. The cost is written off over the asset’s useful lifetime.

2.4.5. Impairment loss of property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets
In the case of intangible assets whose useful lifetime cannot be determined at the time of procurement
depreciation is assessed once a year.
In the case of the assets for which depreciation is to be recognized the impairment loss is assessed and
recognized when changes in the relevant circumstances and/or certain events indicate that the asset’s
book value may not be possible to recover.
The amount by which the asset’s book value exceeds its recoverable value is recognized as impairment
loss. The recoverable value is the higher of the asset’s fair value net of the costs of its sale and its value
in use.
In estimating the amount of the impairment loss assets are grouped at the lowest possible level where
there are separately identifiable cash-flows (they qualify as cash generating units). The Company
considers the operating segment before consolidation as specified under IFRS 8 to be the smallest cash
generating unit.
On every balance sheet effective date, the Company assesses whether there is any indication that the
loss resulting from impairment loss recognized for the given asset in earlier years no longer exists or has
decreased. In the case of any such indication, the Company assesses the asset’s recoverable value. The
loss owing to impairment loss may be reversed up to a maximum of the recognized impairment loss,
taking into account the ordinary depreciation to be recognized for the given period.

2.5. Participations
The Company states its assets existing in its subsidiaries and jointly controlled companies held for
investment as participation, and, based on IAS 27.10, measures those at cost value.
The cost value means the purchase price paid for the assets (in case of a transaction in foreign exchange
it is the value converted to the Company’s functional currency). As participations are “non-monetary”
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items, after recognition their balance is not to be revalued when affected by the change of the exchange
rate.

Participations are split into three groups:
•

participations in subsidiaries,

•

participations in jointly managed companies,

•

participations in associate ventures.

The Company reviews its participations on a yearly basis and, if necessary, recognizes impairment based
on IAS 36.
The amount by which the asset’s book value exceeds its recoverable value is recognized as impairment
loss. The recoverable value is the higher of the asset’s fair value net of the costs of its sale and its value
in use.

2.6. Financial assets

2.6.1. Categorization of financial assets beginning from 01.01.2018 according to the applied
accounting policy (IFRS 9 standard)
The Company applies the IFRS 9 standard on the financial instruments coming into force on January 1,
2018, which covers the regulation of classification, valuation and derecognition rules of financial
instruments, and introduced a new impairment model.

At initial recognition financial instruments are classified either as a debt instrument or an equity
instrument.
Financial assets falling in debt instruments shall be classified in the following group, regardless of their
recognition in the balance of a current asset or an invested asset:
a) Financial Assets Valued at Depreciated Purchasing Value
b) Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income - FVTOCI
c) Fair Value through Profit and Loss - FVTPL
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As per the IFRS 9 standard, the Company evaluates their financial assets at depreciated purchasing value
or at fair value, taking into account the specific features of the business model and the contractual cash
flows.

Financial assets have to be valued at depreciated purchasing value, if:
•

it is kept by the Company based on a business model, which is aimed at the collection of
contractual cash flows, and

•

based on the contract, the financial asset generates cash flows which are due at specified
times and are related exclusively with capital repayments and interest payments.

A financial asset shall be evaluated as a Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income (FVTOCI), if:
•

it is kept by the Company based on a business model, which is aimed at the collection of
contractual cash flows or the sale of assets, and

•

based on the contract, the financial asset generates cash flows which are due at specified
times and are related exclusively with capital repayments and interest payments.

Financial assets not fulfilling the requirements of the first two categories, shall be valued as Fair Value
through Profit and Loss (FVTPL).

Display

As per the IFRS 9 standard, financial instruments have to be recognized in the balance sheet if the
contractual terms of the instrument become operator-specific. The Company recognizes financial
instruments in their report using settlement date accounting, applied to all categories.

Registration

A financial instrument is valued at initial recognition:
•

at Fair Value, which is typically the transaction price of the instrument,

•

adjusted by the amount of directly related transaction costs, except assets valued at Fair
Value through Profit and Loss (FVTPL), where these costs do not change the initial value.
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Subsequent evaluation

Interest income from financial instruments measured at amortized cost (calculated using the effective
interest rate) is accounted in the financial results. The Company recognizes the result of derecognition,
expected credit losses and profit/loss resulting from currency rates, in operating earnings.

During the evaluation of other Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income financial assets, the
recognition of differences resulting from the changes of the fair value, are accounted through other
comprehensive revenues. At derecognition, the Company transfers profit/loss accumulated in other
comprehensive revenues, to earnings. Interest income from financial instruments (calculated using the
effective interest rate) is recognized in financial results, while expected credit losses and profit/loss
resulting from currency rates, are recognized in operating earnings.

In the case of Fair Value through Profit and Loss financial assets, the Company recognizes the incurring
profits/losses both during subsequent measurement and derecognition.

Equity instruments contain other (below 20 %) permanent investments, which, according to the IFRS 9
standard, are valued as Fair Value through Profit and Loss (FVTPL) financial assets, or as Fair Value
through Other Comprehensive Income (FVTOCI) financial assets, depending on the choice of the
accounting policy.
The Company does not have any other equities below 20 %, thus no equity instruments are recognized
based on the IFRS 9 standard.
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The categorization of the Company’s financial instruments is presented in the following table:

MHUF
Categories

Balance sheet line
Derivative financial receivables

Defined according to
Defined according to
IAS 39
IFRS 9
Financial assets recognised Financial assets recognised
at real value through the
at real value through the
profit
profit

Loans
Receivables from buyers, affiliated
and other parties representing shares

Opening balance
according to IAS39

Opening balance
according to IFRS 9

-

-

-

30 551

30 551

-

1 329

1 401

30

30

-

88

88

-

65

-

65

-

65

12

12

-

66 771

66 771

-

4 019

4 019

-

908

908

-

Change

-

72

Loans and receivables
Financial assets

Other receivables
Financial assets recognised
at amortised cost
Liquid assets

Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial
assets
Other financial instrument

Derivative financial liabilities

Financial liabilities
recognised at real value
through the profit

Financial liabilities
recognised at real value
through the profit

Credits received
Financial liabilities

Liabilities to buyers, affiliated and
other parties representing shares

Financial commitments
recognised at depreciated
cost price

Financial commitments
recognised at depreciated
cost price

Other liabilities

-

65

MHUF
Financial assets 31.12.2018
Available-for-sale financial assets
Derivatives (receivables)
Loans
Accounts receivable and receivables from affiliated parties

Financial assets recognised at
Financial assets recognised at
real value through the other
depreciated cost price
comprehensive income
65
-

Total
65

-

-

-

32 210

-

32 210
2 588

2 588

-

Other financial receivables

69

-

69

Cash and cash equivalents

256

-

256

35 188

-

35 188

Total

MHUF

Financial assets 31.12.2017
Available-for-sale financial assets
Derivatives receivable

Financial assets recognised at
Financial assets recognised at
real value through the other
depreciated cost price
comprehensive income

Total

-

65
-

65
-

30 551

-

30 551

1 329

-

1 329

Other financial receivables

30

-

30

Cash and cash equivalents

88

-

88

31 998

65

32 063

Loans
Accounts receivable and receivables from affiliated parties

Total
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2.6.2. Categorization of financial assets until 31.12.2017 according to the applied accounting
policy (IAS 39 standard)
Among financial instruments the Company distinguished the following categories:
a) financial assets recognized at fair value through the profit,
b) loans granted,
c) accounts receivable and other receivables,
d) financial assets available-for-sale.

Financial instruments were categorized on the basis of the purpose for which they have been
purchased. The categorization of financial instruments was determined by the Company upon entering
each item in the balance sheet and then it was reviewed upon every balance sheet effective date.

a) Financial assets recognized at fair value through the profit

This category contained two sub-categories:
·

financial instruments for trading, and

·

financial instruments that the Company indicated as one measured at fair value through the
profit upon initial recognition.

Financial instruments purchased by the Company primarily for sale in the short-term or those
categorized as such, were assigned by the Company into the category of financial instruments for
trading.
Derivative transactions also fell in this category. Derivative transactions are financial instruments whose
value is driven by changes in the value of some underlying factor (interest rate, exchange rate, price,
index). Such transactions require no, or little initial investment and their accounting treatment and
financial settlement take place at later dates. Derivative transactions are instruments held for trading,
unless they meet the criteria for hedge accounting because in that case they qualify as hedging
transactions.
Derivative financial instruments are stated at fair value both initially and later on.
According to the accounting policy, the Company recognizes the change in the fair value of the financial
derivatives under other operating income/expense.
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b) Loans granted

Loans are such financial instruments which have definite or definable repayment schemes, which are
not listed on any active market. They are stated among current assets, except for those with more than
12 months to maturity after the balance sheet cut-off date – those are stated among fixed assets.

c) Accounts receivable and other receivables

They arise when the Company provides directly cash, goods or services for a buyer without intending to
trade in the receivable. They are stated among current assets, except for those with more than 12
months to maturity after the balance sheet cut-off date – those are stated among fixed assets.

d) Financial assets available for sale

All such financial instruments were grouped into this category that have not been grouped into the
other three categories upon purchase.
Marketable financial instruments include non-derivative financial instruments that had been originally
categorized by the Company as such or that had not been assigned to any other category. They were
stated among fixed assets, except for those intended to be sold by the Company within 12 months of
the balance sheet effective date.

Presentation in the balance sheet and valuation

Financial instruments purchased or sold are recognized upon the conclusion of the contract, at the time
when the Company assumed a commitment to purchase or sell the asset concerned. The cost value of a
financial instrument is the fair value increased by the transaction costs. This applies to all financial
instruments that were recognized not through the profit/loss, at fair value. A financial instrument is
derecognized from the books when the right to the cash-flow from that particular financial instrument
lapses or is transferred and the Company has waived in essence all rights and benefits relating to its
ownership.
The book value of marketable financial instruments and financial instruments recognized at fair value
through the profit/loss were recognized at fair value. Loans and receivables were booked at the
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amortized cost value, applying the effective interest method. Within the category of financial
instruments stated at fair value through the profit/loss the unrealized profits and losses stemming from
changes in the fair value were recognized in the period in which they are incurred, in the period’s
profit/loss. Non-realized profits and losses resulting from changes in the fair value of the equity
instruments assigned to marketable financial instruments were recognized in the other comprehensive
income.
If securities assigned to marketable financial instruments were sold or they suffered an impairment loss,
the accumulated fair value adjustments were recognized in the period’s profit/loss in the profit from
financial transactions. Interests on marketable financial instruments were recognized in the line of
income from financial transactions. The financial instruments and liabilities were netted and stated in
the balance sheet as a net amount, if the net recognition of the stated amounts is legally permitted and
the Company wishes to settle the amounts netted, or wished to realize the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

2.7. Inventories
Inventories are assets
·

purchased by the Company for sale as part of its regular business operation,

·

to be used in the course of the production of output to be sold or the provision of services to be
provided (materials).

Inventories must be valued at the lower of the procurement cost (prime cost) and the net realizable
value. The net realizable value is the selling price estimated on the basis of the regular business
circumstances, net of the direct costs of sale. The procurement cost is calculated on the basis of the
weighted average price method.
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2.8. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and liquid assets comprise cash and sight deposits. Cash and liquid assets are valued at amortized
cost. For further details on cash and liquid assets see chapter 5.2.5.

2.9. Invested assets held for sale
Pursuant to the IFRS 5 standard the category of assets held for sale comprises assets whose book value
is expected to be recovered more likely from their sale than through continued use. Moreover, it must
be proven that such assets are highly likely to be sold and that they are in a state ready to be sold.

The likelihood of their sale is determined by the following criteria (to be met simultaneously):
·

decision makers of the required levels are committed to the plan of selling the asset concerned,

·

the buyer of the asset or group of assets to be disposed is being actively sought for,

·

the entity sets a selling price that is reasonable in view of the asset’s value,

·

the transaction may be closed within one year of categorization.

The closure of the one-year period for the sale runs from the categorization of the asset as an asset held
for sale.

2.10. Shareholders' equity
The Company’s share capital is comprised of common shares carrying identical membership rights. The
Company does not have any repurchased shares.

2.11. Loans received
Loans borrowed are stated in the balance sheet at amortized cost, any difference between the amount
received (without the transaction costs) and the amount to be repaid is booked in the period’s
profit/loss statement during the term of the loan, on the basis of the effective interest method. Loans
borrowed are stated in the balance sheet among short-term liabilities, unless the Company has an
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unconditional right to postpone the settlement of the liability to beyond 12 months after the balance
sheet effective date.

2.12. Provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are allocated for personnel type expenditure, future liabilities (e.g. services under the
guarantee obligation, liquidated damages), legal obligations arising from litigation, if

·

the Company has a legal or implied obligation in the wake of past events,

·

it is more likely than not that there will be a need for withdrawing funds to settle an obligation
or liability,

·

the amount can be reliably estimated.

The allocation and use of personal type specific provisions is recognized in the profit/loss for the period
among staff costs. (Further information is available in section 5.5.2.)

For obligations relating to court cases below a threshold of 5 MHUF the Company allocates collective
provisions on the basis of the aggregate value of the obligations the Company may have to fulfill. For
obligations relating to court cases, involving amounts exceeding 5 MHUF the Company allocates
provisions on a case-by-case basis (on the basis of the documentations of each such case).
The allocation and use of other specific provisions - subject to their nature - is recognized in the
profit/loss for the period among net revenues from sale, personnel type or other operating
expenditures.

The provisions are measured at the present value of the amount of the expenditures estimated by the
management to be necessary for the settlement of obligations and liabilities outstanding on the balance
sheet effective date. The discount rate applied before taxes in calculating the present value is set in view
of the current market estimates of the time value of money and the risks associated with the given
obligation or liability. In the case of multiple similar obligations/liabilities the likelihood of the need for
withdrawing funds for settling the obligations is established on the basis of the entirety of the
obligations comprised in that particular category.
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2.13. Accounts payable
Accounts payable consists of the amounts payable for the goods and services received from suppliers in
business as usual. Accounts payable are classified among short-term liabilities, if their settlement is due
within a year (or within the normal cycle, if it is longer). In other cases, these amounts are stated among
the long-term liabilities.
Accounts payable are initially stated at fair value, and later on measured at the amortized cost value
determined by using the effective interest rate method.

2.14. Contract assets and liabilities
If either party to fulfill its contractual obligations, the Company sets a contract asset or liability in their
financial statements, depending on the relation between the performance of the company and the
payment of the customer.

It is a contractual obligation of the Company to deliver those goods or services to the customer, which
are paid for by the customer. At the payment, or when payments fall due, the Company has to recognize
the contract as a contractual obligation, if
·

the customer pays the remuneration, or

·

The Company has an unconditional right to the amount of consideration, before the Company
would deliver the goods or services to the customer.

Grants related to assets are recognized among deferred revenues, considered as contractual obligations
by the Company, then it is released by an equal amount to the depreciation accounted for the tangible
asset realized from contribution, and accounted among the net sales revenues in the results for the
reporting period. Network development contribution is a “during a period” type of settlement
agreement, since the customer receives and consumes the benefits resulting from the delivery of the
Company at the same time.

In case the repayment of contributions becomes binding, the amount to be repaid has to be accounted
against the still outstanding contractual obligation.
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2.15. Employee benefits
Employee benefits include:
·

wages, salaries and the related social security contributions, pensions and severance payments

·

short-term paid leaves of absence (holiday, sick leave) when the leaves of absence are expected
to materialize within 12 months of the end of the period of the work performed by the
employee,

·

profit sharing, bonuses, if they are payable within 12 months from the end of the period of
work,

·

non-monetary benefits for existing employees.

Supports provided in the form of employee benefits take the following forms:
·

discounted employee rate

·

loans granted to employees

Loans granted to employees and managers must be first recorded in the books at fair value, and then in
the course of subsequent measurements they must be booked at cost amortized using the effective
interest rate method.

2.16. Current year’s corporate income tax payable and deferred tax
The Company states the corporate income tax, the Robin Hood tax, the local business tax, the
innovation contribution and tax difference related to previous years resulting from tax inspection, selfauditing, among income taxes, supplemented with the change in the deferred taxes in the year
concerned. Both the local business tax and the innovation contribution are based on a particular net
profit, i.e. the sales revenue net of certain eligible costs provided for by the law.
The deferred tax is booked in relation to the temporary differences between the amount of assets and
liabilities taken into account as tax base and their amounts stated in the annual report, on the basis of
the so-called liability method. No deferred tax is recognized if it is related to the initial recognition of an
asset or liability – other than in the case of a business combination – having impact on neither the
accounting nor the taxable profit at the time of the given transaction. The rate of the deferred tax is
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determined on the basis of the tax rates enshrined in law by the balance sheet cut-off date and at the
time of the realization of the related deferred tax receivable those (and the acts of law) expected to be
in effect at the time of the settlement of the deferred tax liability.
Deferred tax receivables are recognized in amounts to the extent of which future taxable income is
considered likely to be available, to which temporary differences can be charged.
Deferred tax receivables and liabilities are stated in the balance sheet in combined way, if the
receivables and liabilities are related to the same tax authority, and the tax authority ensures
interchangeability for the settlement of the different tax types among one another, and the Company
takes advantage of this possibility. The effects of the profit tax and the changes in tax rules are detailed
in chapters 5.5.4. and 6.8.

2.17. Accounting treatment of income
Concerning the sales revenue, the Company employs the IFRS 15 standard, which is in force since
January 1, 2018, and which covers the valuation and accounting rules for sales revenues. The
introduction of the standard did not bring about any significant change in the recognition of the sales
revenues.

The Company formed the following groups:
•

contracts related to decentralized energy resources

•

contracts related to innovate services

•

contracts related to other services

Display of the income:
The standard IFRS 15 defines the usage of a 5-step model for the displaying of the revenue:

1. Identifying of the contract made with customers
2. Identifying of the performance obligation
3. Determining of the transaction price
4. Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations from the contract
5. Recognizing of the income
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The Company has applied the 5-step model described in the standard in all contract groups. In the
identification of the contracts no such factor has arisen that would affect the further steps of the
evaluation.
Then the following performance obligations were identified per contract group:
In the case of contracts related to decentralized energy resources and related to the sale of other
services the Company provides one single service to the buyer. In the case of contracts related to
innovate services the sale of products and the provision of services.
In determining the deal price, the Company did not identify such a factor that would require further
inspection (e.g. consideration that has changed).
The allocation of the deal price to performance obligations did not cause a difference compared to the
methodology used earlier even in case of contracts containing several performance obligations, as the
goods and services related to the specific performance obligations were priced according to their
independent sales price when concluding the contracts.

The Company did not identify such contractual costs which would be necessary to capitalize according
to the provisions of IFRS 15.

As the last step of the 5-step model the Company reviewed the methodology of the recognition of sales
revenues in respect of the individual performance obligations. No such performance obligation was
identified in the case of which the method of recognition would differ from earlier practice.

Sales revenues - as part of the core activity - are to be recognized at the fair value of the consideration
received for the product sold or service provided and it must not include the value added tax and other
taxes related to sales, as well as the discounts or rebates given. In the case of deferred payment, the
item concerned must be booked at present value. The condition of the recognition of a revenue item is
that it should be related to product sale or service provision accepted and recognized by the buyer.

The bulk of the category of other sales revenue is made up of the following regularly incurred sales
revenues:
·

Sales revenues from the sale of services provided for member companies (for example
strategical, support activities) are recognized during the period in which the services are
rendered.
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·

Revenues from renewing energy services are recognized during the period in which the services
are rendered.

·

Sales revenue from the sale of materials and goods are recognized when the Company delivers
the materials and goods to the buyer, the buyer has accepted the delivered product and the
recoverability of the receivables relating to the goods is duly assured. On 01 January 2017 the
Company sold its network licensee affiliated undertaking the warehouse material necessary for
the construction and maintenance of the grid.

Revenue from the sale of electricity
On 01 January 2017 the Company transferred its electricity trade activity to its affiliated undertaking.
The licence of ELMŰ Nyrt. related to its electricity trade activity expired on 31 December 2017.
The revenue from the sale of electricity recognized in the reporting period was stated in the
comprehensive profit of the discontinued activities.

2.18. Dividend
a) Dividend paid:
The dividend payable to the Company’s shareholders is stated in the annual report among the
liabilities during the period when the dividend payment was approved by the Company’s General
Meeting.

b) Dividend received:
Based on the accounting policy chosen, the Company states the dividend received after its
participations in the annual report in the line of other operating income.

2.19. Earnings per share
The amount of the earnings per common share (EPS ratio) is calculated as a ratio of the net earnings to
be allocated to the owners of common shares in the parent company, to the weighted average number
of outstanding common shares. The basic indicator and the diluted indicator are the same with regard
to all of the periods presented, therefore the Company shows the EPS ratio in a single line.
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2.20. Segment reporting
The Company is regarded as a parent company within the ELMŰ Group, therefore it prepares a
consolidated report, which contains the segment information as per the IFRS 8 standard.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1. Financial risk factors
The operations of the Company entail a variety of different financial risks. The tasks of risk management
are carried out by the Risk Management Committee whose powers are currently restricted to the
management of the market and credit risks. The Board of Directors prescribes regulations concerning
comprehensive risk management and it sets out corporate guidelines for specific areas, such as the
credit and market risks.
The Company’s comprehensive risk management policy is aimed at minimizing potential negative
impacts affecting the Company’s financial performance.

a) Market risk

Foreign exchange rate risk
The foreign exchange rate risks of the Company are not significant.

Other price risks
The Company had no material investments as at 31 December 2018 that could be affected by risk
variables such as stock exchange prices or other indicators.

Interest rate risk
On the asset side the interest rate of the loans granted is low as the interest rate varies as a result of
market changes. The Company relies partly on loan financing where variable interest rates apply,
therefore it is exposed to unfavorable impacts resulting from fluctuations in the interest rates. The Risk
Management Committee regularly reviews the interest levels of the external loans.

b) Credit risk

The Company is exposed to a significant level of credit risks. Guidelines ensure that it would have a
business relation (purchase and sale) only with such partners who have proper credit rating. Regulations
have been introduced to limit the amount of credit that may be granted to any partner without the
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Management’s consent, based on the decision adopted at the meeting of the Credit Risk Committee;
such limit is determined based on the size and the credit rating of the business partner collectively.
When this limit is exceeded, the deal may only be affected if secured by a bank guarantee or other
collateral providing adequate security.
In respect of the credit risk, the Company’s maximum exposure was as follows in the individual asset
categories:
MHUF
Maximum exposure to credit risk by class of assets

Notes

Non-current assets

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

1

2

Loans

1

2

Trade accounts receivables and other receivables

-

-

4 161

3 506

Current assets
Trade accounts receivables and other receivables

3 905

3 418

Trade accounts receivables due to 3rd parties

5.2.3.1

1 540

952

Receivables due to affiliates

5.2.3.1.

1 048

377

Other receivables

5.2.3.2.

1 317

2 089

Cash and cash equivalents

256

88

Deposit account for settlements and deposit account in foreign currency

5.2.5.

249

84

Other liquid assets

5.2.5.

7

4

5.2.6.

187

-

4 349

3 508

Assets held for sale
Total on-balance sheet exposure

c) Liquidity risk

In the context of prudent liquidity management an adequate portfolio of cash and liquid assets and
financing guaranteed by credit facilities must be in place and the Company must be capable of closing its
market positions.
The Company regularly communicates with its account keeping banks to ensure adequate access to
credit on a continuous basis in the various currencies specified in the contracts.
The sum of short-term liabilities exceeds that of current assets, which means that the Company finances
its activities from the cash and liquid assets originating from its operations and from current assets
loans.

See chapter 5.2.5 Cash and Liquid Assets for the rating of banks having a relation with the Company.
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3.2. Capital risk management
Equity capital of the Company consists of the values of subscribed capital, accumulated earnings, and
other comprehensive income. The Company’s share capital (subscribed capital) is comprised of common
shares carrying identical membership rights. The accumulated earnings are made up of the sum of the
Company’s profit reserves and its profit for the period.

The capital structure (gearing ratio) of the Company is illustrated by the figures presented in the table
below:
MHUF
Description

31.12.2018

Long-term liabilities
Short-term liabilities
Liquid assets

-

Liabilities (net debt)

31.12.2017

35

89

72 599

72 991

256

-

88

72 378

72 992

Equity capital

206 445

205 961

Capital leverage ratio (indebtedness ratio)

35%

35%

In the course of the management of the capital structure the Company strives to maintain its continuous
operability, to generate benefits for the shareholders and other stakeholders, and to maintain an
optimum capital structure to reduce capital costs.
To attain the above, the Company optimizes its financing requirements through a cash pool system. The
limit amounts required for financing are determined by ELMŰ Nyrt. in view of the Group’s business plan.
In view of the shareholders' equity ratios the financing limits provide for a suitable supply of external
capital. Regular – daily, weekly, monthly – monitoring of cash-flow data and the liquidity projections
derived from current actual data provide a suitable control mechanism for keeping to the financing
limits. The amounts of the net financial assets derived from rolling projections are quarterly adjusted to
the actual and the annual projection figures as well to ensure wide consistency across data.
The Company complies with the requirements laid down in the applicable statutory regulations.
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3.3. Fair value estimates
The IFRS 13 defines fair value as the price that would be paid for an asset in an arm’s length transaction
between market participants or would be paid for the transfer of a liability at the time of valuation.

Fair value is analyzed through the following levels of the hierarchy:

The level 1 inputs are listed (unmodified) prices in the active markets of assets or liabilities to which the
business entity has access at the time of valuation.
The level 2 inputs are inputs outside the listed prices, observed directly or indirectly in regard to the
given asset or liability.
The level 3 inputs are such inputs to the asset or liability that cannot be observed.

The fair value of the financial instruments not traded in active market trade is determined by the
Company applying a variety of measurement techniques. The Company applies a variety of methods and
uses different assumptions in accordance with the market conditions prevailing on the given balance
sheet effective date. The Company establishes the fair value of the futures foreign exchange
transactions on the basis of the futures market foreign exchange rates in effect on the given balance
sheet effective date.

MHUF
Levels of financial instruments as per real valuation
31.12.2018

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Directly observable market price

Derived market price

Directly not observable market
price

Total

Derivatives receivable

-

-

-

-

Assets classified as held for sale

-

-

187

187

-

-

187

187

Total

The values of assets held for sale are stated at book value. For more detailed information, see chapter
5.2.6.
In case of those instruments measured not at their fair value in the balance sheet, for which the fair
value has to be published, the fair value is presented in the supplementary annex, at the comments
detailing the balance sheet line.
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3.4. Analysis and management of financial risks

MANAGEMENT AND ANALYSIS OF MARKET RISK
Analysis of interest rate risk
The 2018 report of the Company is only subject to risks resulting from changing interest rates in relation
with borrowed loans, since they do not have any other significant interest-bearing financial instruments.
The following sensitivity analysis shows the effects of the changes in market interest rates.

Amount (MHUF)
Between 1-30 days
Between 31-90 days
Between 91-360 days
Between 1-5 years
Total short-term loans

2 292
3 970
6 262

31.12.2018
Sensitivity analysis for the 3% changes of interest
Number of days until Interest calculated until Impact of 300 basis
Impact of 300 basis
expiration date
expiration
point increase
point decrease
89
3
20
244
11
95
14
115
-

The basis of the interest rate sensitivity analysis is the 2018 year-end closing value of the short-term
loans, which is 67 169 MHUF (closing value in 2017 was 66 771 MHUF), of which the short-term loans
amounted to 6 262 MHUF.
Should the interest rate of the bank overdrafts and revolving credits per contract change by 300 basis
points on 31 December 2018 (should it have changed by 300 basis points on 31 December 2017), this
would influence the interim profit of the Company in the period as follows:
·

in case the interest rate decreased, the change would not change the periodical profit of the
Company (in 2017 it would have increased by 31 MHUF), since the average BUBOR value in 2018
is also presently zero,

·

in case the interest rate increased, the periodical profit of the Company would decrease by
115 MHUF (in 2017 it would have decreased by 140 MHUF).
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MANAGEMENT AND ANALYSIS OF CREDIT RISK

Categorization of impairment losses in case of financial assets until 01.01.2018 according to the
applied accounting policy (IFRS 9 standard)

Based on the IFRS 9 standard, the Company requires separate disclosure of expected credit losses for
the impairment on financial assets.

Simplified approach concerning the impairment requires the recognition of expected credit losses for
the entire duration. The Company applies the simplified approximation for accounts receivable (see
incomes) containing a significant financing component or for contractual assets.
For the accounts receivable and contractual assets, not containing a significant financing component,
the simplified impairment loss model shall be applied: impairment should be accounted based on credit
loss over the entire duration, from the recognition of the asset, consequently it is not necessary to
ascertain, whether the credit risk significantly increased or not.

The application of the new standard did not change significantly the financial statements of the
Company.
Cumulative effects of the transition are presented as the adjustment of the opening balance of equity, in
the first year of application. Comparative data from the previous year have not been changed.

The table below shows the impact of impairment change accounted according to the IFRS 9 standard,
and the impact of the IFRS 15 standard, on certain items of the separate IFRS balance sheet, compared
to the opening value.
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MHUF
01.01.2018
based on IFRS 9
and IFRS 15

BALANCE SHEET / ASSETS
Non-current assets
Available-for-sale financial assets
Other financial instrument
Current assets
Trade accounts receivables and other receivables

242 076
65
37 037
3 490

Total assets

Adjustment for
first-time
adoption of
IFRS 9
65
65
72
72

279 113

Adjustment for
first-time
adoption of
IFRS 15
-

72

31.12.2017
242 076
65
36 965
3 418

-

279 041
MHUF

Adjustment for Adjustment for
01.01.2018
first-time
first-time
based on IFRS 9
adoption of
adoption of
and IFRS 15
IFRS 9
IFRS 15
206 033
72
145 289
72
89
29
29
18
29
72 991
29
29
6 080
29
279 113
72
-

BALANCE SHEET / EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Retained earnings
Non-current liabilities

Long-term contract liabilities
Other non-current liabilities
Current liabilities

Short-term contract liabilities
Trade accounts payable and other liabilities
Total equity and liabilities

31.12.2017
205 961
145 217
89
47
72 991
6 109
279 041

The development of impairment losses on receivables by customer groups is presented in the following
tables concerning the periods 01.01.2018. (adjusted opening) and 31.12.2018. (closing):
MHUF
31.12.2018
Electricity buyers
Due, not impaired receivables
Between 1 - 30 days
Between 31 - 60 days
Between 61 - 90 days
Between 91 - 120 days
Between 121 - 180 days
Between 181 - 360 days
Over 360 days
Due based on group rating, impaired total

Gross value
8
5
37

01.01.2018

Impairment rate (%)
1,57%
0,86%
9,00%
31,00%
50,06%
62,22%
76,84%
97,54%

50

-

Impairment (-)

Gross value

3
36

169
3
12
0
2
2
14
97

39

299

Impairment rate (%)
1,51%
27,55%
16,29%
88,72%
57,65%
80,70%
84,89%
97,32%

Impairment (-)
3
1
2
1
1
12
94

-

114
MHUF

31.12.2018
Other customers
Due, not impaired receivables
Between 1 - 30 days
Between 31 - 60 days
Between 61 - 90 days
Between 91 - 120 days
Between 121 - 180 days
Between 181 - 360 days
Over 360 days
Due based on group rating, impaired total

Gross value
1 382
62
23
16
1
13
11
29
1 537

01.01.2018

Impairment rate (%)
0,08%
0,04%
0,10%
0,31%
1,31%
2,50%
9,50%
72,03%
-

Impairment (-)

Gross value

2
1
20

692
23
10
15
1
6
29
2

23

778

Impairment rate (%)
0,32%
0,04%
0,14%
0,35%
1,31%
2,83%
9,79%
91,19%

Impairment (-)
2
3
2

-
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MHUF
31.12.2018
Buyers under litigation
Over 360 days
Due based on group rating, impaired total

Gross value
184

01.01.2018

Impairment rate (%)
91,85%

184

-

Impairment (-)

Gross value

169

775

169

775

Impairment rate (%)

Impairment (-)

91,23%

707
-

707

Impairment on trade receivables and the opening correction due to IFRS 9 are shown in the table below:

MHUF
31.12.2018
Description
Opening value

Electricity buyers
111

Total

Buyers under
litigation

Other customers
18

771

900

Adjusted impairment (IFRS9)

3

Periodic growth

-

17

1

18

Periodic decrease

75

1

539

615

Closing value

39

23

169

231

-

11

-

64

-

72

MHUF
31.12.2017
Description
Opening value

Electricity buyers

Other customers

Buyers under
litigation

Total

610

5

4 723

5 338

-

13

2

15

Periodic decrease

499

-

3 954

4 453

Closing value

111

18

771

900

Periodic growth

On the basis of the accounting policy, the Company accounts for the impairment of accounts receivable broken
down to categories of buyers of electricity and other buyers. With regard to accounts receivable under liquidation
or litigation, the depreciation rates are also calculated based the credit losses and return on investment rates
based on past experience by categories. Reviewing the credit risk, based on the group rating the riskiest customers
are the value loss customers under litigation. Reviewing the other buyer categories by credit risk it is considered,
that the level of due, impaired accounts receivable is minimal, thus the Company is not exposed to a significant risk
in these customer categories.
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Recognition of impairment loss on financial assets until 31.12.2017 according to the applied
accounting policy (IAS 39 standard)

On every balance sheet effective date, the Company reviewed whether there is any objective proof of
any impairment loss in any financial instrument or group of assets.
The impairment loss of accounts receivable was booked when there was an objective proof according to
which the Company is not going to be able to realize all of the due amounts in accordance with the
original terms and conditions applying to the receivables. The amount to be written off equals the
difference between the asset’s book value and the present value of the estimated future cash income
discounted by the actual interest rate. The impairment loss was calculated on the basis of past
experience and the receivables’ book value was reduced by that amount. The amount of the impairment
loss was recognized in the period’s profit/loss among other operating expenditures.
On the basis of the accounting policy, the Company accounts for the impairment of accounts receivable
broken down to categories of buyers (other buyers, buyers of electricity, litigious customers), which
break-down will be applied in the future as well.
On every balance sheet effective date, the Company assesses whether there is any indication that the
loss resulting from impairment loss recognized for the given asset in earlier years no longer exists or has
decreased. In the case of any such indication, the Company assesses the asset’s recoverable value. Any
loss stemming from impairment loss may be reversed up to the original value of the asset, reducing the
amount of other operating expenditures in the period’s profit/loss.

MANAGEMENT AND ANALYSIS OF LIQUIDITY RISK
The Company is managing the liquidity risk based on the expected expiry dates, by disclosing the
analysis of the expiry dates of both financial liabilities and trade payables. The expiry dates of liabilities
are based on contracts at the Company.

The financial liabilities of the Company are partially made up of overdrafts and bank loans, which are
shown in the appropriate expiry category together with the interest to be paid until the date of expiry,
and without any discounts, in the table below.
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MHUF
31.12.2018
Description

Between 1-30 days Between 31-90 days

Between 91-360
days

Between 1-5 years

Total

BNP Paribas Magyarországi Fióktelepe

-

-

229

-

229

ING Bank N.V. Magyarországi Fióktelepe

-

-

1 653

-

1 653

CIB Bank Zrt.

-

-

1 982

-

1 982

ERSTE BANK HUNGARY Zrt.

-

257

-

-

257

MKB Bank Zrt.

-

-

117

-

117

OTP Bank Nyrt.

-

2 039

-

-

Overdrafts and interest payable until maturity, total

-

Financial liabilities to affiliated enterprises
Credit received and interest payable until maturity, total
Accounts payable and payables to affiliated parties
Other financial liabilities
Total financial liabilities

2 296

3 981

2 039
-

6 277

32 209

-

-

-

32 209

32 209

2 296

3 981

-

38 486

2 783

-

-

-

2 783

216

-

-

-

216

35 208

2 296

3 981

-

41 485

MHUF
31.12.2017
Description

Between 1-30 days Between 31-90 days

Between 91-360
days

Between 1-5 years

Total

ING Bank N.V. Magyarországi Fióktelepe

-

-

1 053

-

1 053

CIB Bank Zrt.

-

-

1 471

-

1 471

Deutsche Bank AG Magyarországi Fióktelepe

-

-

-

-

-

Erste Bank Hungary Zrt.

-

671

-

-

671

MKB Bank Zrt.

-

-

1 429

-

1 429

OTP Bank Nyrt.

-

6 114

-

-

6 114

BNP Paribas Magyarországi Fióktelepe

-

-

-

-

Overdrafts and interest payable until maturity, total
Financial liabilities to affiliated enterprises
Credit received and interest payable until maturity, total
Accounts payable and payables to affiliated parties
Other financial liabilities
Total financial liabilities

-

-

6 785

3 953

-

10 738

30 549

-

-

-

30 549

30 549

6 785

3 953

-

41 287

4 019

-

-

-

4 019

908

-

-

-

908

35 476

6 785

3 953

-

46 214

Matching net debts

The table below shows the matching and change of net debts:
MHUF
Reconciliation of net debt
Opening balance 01.01.2017
Cash flow
Changes of exchanges rate difference
Closing balance 31.12.2017
Opening balance 01.01.2018
Cash flow
Changes of exchanges rate difference
Closing balance 31.12.2018

Liquid Assets

-

Short-term debt and leasing
14
75
1
88
88
168
256

-
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
The applied estimates and judgments are under continuous assessment, and are built on past
experience and other factors, including the expectations on future events likely to occur, based on the
actual circumstances.

4.1. Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
The Company formulates estimates and assumptions for the future. The resulting accounting estimates,
by their nature, rarely match the actual results. Those estimates and assumptions, which can cause the
significant changes in the balance values of assets and liabilities in the next fiscal year, are shown below.

Estimation of the useful life of assets

The Company estimates how long the given property, plant and equipment can be used, and the useful
life of the asset is determined accordingly.
Practical experience shows that the actual useful life can be different from the estimated value.
On December 31, 2018, the net value of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets combined,
is 9 763 MHUF (9 208 MHUF on December 31, 2017), the net value of

investment properties is

953 MHUF (961 MHUF on December 31, 2017) and the depreciation recognized in the reporting period
was 1 082 MHUF (1 140 MHUF in 2017). The 1 percentage point decrease of the depreciation rates
would increase the profit by 336 MHUF (it could have increased it by 329 MHUF in 2017).

Estimates of realizable value of interests

The Company applies the methodology of fair value less costs to sell, to determine the recoverable
value of their fixed assets. The fair value is determined by the Company using the discounted present
value of the expected future cash flow. In the calculation of the discount rate, the methodology of the
weighted cost of capital is used. The future cash flow takes into account the known changes of the
market and regulatory environment, the performance of the Company in the previous year, and the
mid-range and long-term plans approved by the Board of Directors of the Company, in which cost
reductions are envisaged.
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Upon signs of impairment, the Company reviews the realizable value of their interests, and according to
the results of the review, the interests are devaluated to the extent of the recoverable value, if
necessary. Should the situation change in the future, further impairment is accounted, or the previously
accounted impairment is reversed - partially or fully.

ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiaszolgáltató Zrt.
The assessment was based on the current regulatory environment, furthermore it took into account, the
continuous strive to optimization of the sources of supply, and also maintaining the free-market
portfolio in accordance with the actual tendency. The Company identified signs of impairment
concerning their interest, and during its inspection, they came to the conclusion that the future cash
flow generating capability of the company does not induce an impairment event, the result of the
assessment (amount calculated on the basis of the discounted cash-flow method) is higher than the
book value. Applied discount rate: 7,5 %. The future cash flow takes into account the known changes of
the market and regulatory environment, the performance of the Company in the previous year, and the
mid-range plans approved by the Board of Directors of the Company, in which cost reductions are
envisaged.
Cost of capital
By 1 percentage point increase of the cost of capital, neither in the base nor in the reporting period
would be necessary to account an impairment on the investments, because the recoverable value would
still be above the book value at one percent higher cost of capital.
Regulatory and legal changes
In the calculation of the profitability of the investments, the Company made the estimation, that there
will be no further regulatory, legal and taxation changes affecting the value of the participations, which
would adversely affect the cash flow of the Company.
Long-term tax policy
In the calculation of the profitability of the investments, the Company made the estimation, that in the
long run, there will be movements of the taxation system towards the sector neutrality. The changes
reflect the general expectations of the performer of the electrical branch.

ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiakereskedő Kft.
The Company did not identify any signs of impairment concerning the participation.
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ELMŰ Hálózati Kft.
The Company did not identify any signs of impairment concerning the participation.

Accounting of provisions

The analyses and estimates are prepared jointly by the Company and their legal advisors, in order to
determine the probability, timing and amount of outflow of resources. In 2018 the Company created
provisions for expected personnel-related liabilities, guarantee services, for expected penalty-type
liabilities and lawsuits, in a total amount of 545 MHUF. If the actual amount of these liabilities differs
from the provision created, then the difference has to be accounted in the profit of the period. For more
detailed information on provisions, see subsection 5.5.2.
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5. ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCE SHEET

5.1. Fixed assets

5.1.1. Property, plant and equipment
MHUF

Description

Land, buildings and Technical equipment,
connecting property
machinery and
rights
vehicles

Other equipment,
gear and vehicles

Assets under
construction

Advances paid on
investments

Total

01.01.2017
Gross value
Accumulated depreciation

11 879
-

Net book value
Values for the reference period
Opening book value
Commissioning
Capitalisation

5 313

4 003
-

3 193

-

4 148

18

3

3 469

-

-

20 051
-

11 975

6 566

810

679

18

3

-

-

-

-

-

-

6 566

810

679

18

3

8 076

252

347

335

-

-

-

-

934

-

1 088

8 076

-

2 022

3

-

937

4

-

-

312

-

188

Gross value of scrapping

-

66

-

154

-

88

Gross value of sales

-

51

-

49

-

88

-

-

-

6

-

-

-

Gross value of reclassification in general ledger

6

-

Gross value of reclassification for IAS 40/ IFRS 5

86

-

-

-

-

86

Accumulated depreciation of scrapping

61

154

88

-

-

303

Accumulated depreciation of sales

49

48

88

-

-

185

Accum. depr. of reclassification in general ledger

-

6

-

6

-

-

Accum. depr. of reclassification for IAS 40/ IFRS 5

-

47

-

-

-

-

-

Periodic depreciation

-

-

Closing book value
31.12.2017
Gross value
Accumulated depreciation

202

-

6 648

-

Net book value
Values of the reference period
Opening book value
Commissioning

236

-

920

286

-

-

728

168

-

47
724
8 464

-

-

-

-

-

-

12 106

4 147

4 301

168

-

20 722

3 573

-

-

6 648

5 458

-

3 227
920

-

728

168

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

6 648

920

728

168

-

8 464

487

752

423

Capitalisation

-

-

-

Advances paid on investments

-

-

-

Gross value of scrapping

-

66

-

111

-

102

Gross value of sales

-

14

-

356

-

1 618
-

1 662

-

8 464

-

3

12 258

3 280
-

1 665

-

3

1

-

-

280

3
-

451

81

-

-

Gross value of damage

-

-

-

-

-

-

Gross value of transfer without charge

-

-

-

-

-

-

Gross value of reclassification in general ledger

-

-

-

-

-

36

-

-

Gross value of reclassification for IAS 40/ IFRS 5

-

336

-

11

-

-

383

Accumulated depreciation of scrapping

20

111

101

-

-

232

Accumulated depreciation of sales

14

300

73

-

-

387

Accumulated depreciation of damage

-

-

-

-

-

-

Accumulated depr. of transfer without charge

-

-

-

-

-

-

Accumulated depreciation of reclassification in general ledger

-

-

-

-

-

-

151

9

36

-

-

196

Accum. depr. of reclassification for IAS 40/ IFRS 5
Periodic depreciation

-

Closing book value
31.12.2018
Gross value
Accumulated depreciation
Net book value

186

-

6 718

-

236

-

1 378

313

-

-

829

123

-

-

735
9 048

-

-

-

-

-

-

12 177

4 421

4 505

123

-

21 226

5 459
6 718

-

3 043
1 378

-

3 676

-

-

829

123

-

-

12 178
9 048

The net amount of Property, plant and equipment under the scope of IAS 16 increased by 584 MHUF
(6,9 %) compared to 2017. The value of activations in the reporting period is 1 665 MHUF, including, as
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most significant items, 867 MHUF spent on building renovation, 404 MHUF on telecommunication
reconstruction and 358 MHUF on the expansion and renewal of the vehicle fleet, and the remaining
36 MHUF was spent on the purchase of individual assets, and the modernization of public lighting
devices.
The depreciation recognized in the reporting period decreased the value of property, plant and
equipment by 735 MHUF.
The net value of property, plant and equipment sold in the reporting year is 64 MHUF.
On the balance sheet date the Company examined, whether there is an objective evidence for the
disposal of any property, plant and equipment. The amount of scrapping accounted in the reporting
year (48 MHUF) is a sum of several items, which are not significant individually. In these cases, the
reason for disposal is the physical obsolescence of the asset. The accounting of the disposal is done
according to the IAS 36 standard.

The net value of Investment properties under IAS 40 (953 MHUF) is presented by the Company in a
separate balance sheet line (separately from Property, plant and equipment under the scope of IAS 16).
The Company presented in the reporting period the net value of 187 MHUF of the properties held for
sale under IFRS 5 also in a separate balance sheet line, among the Assets held for sale.

The information concerning leasing activities is shown in the tables below:

MHUF
Operating lease (when ELMŰ Nyrt. is the lessee) 31.12.2018
Rental of machinery and equipment
Total

Within 1 year
9
9
MHUF

Operating lease (when ELMŰ Nyrt. is the lessee) 31.12.2017
Rental of machinery and equipment
Total

Within 1 year
6
6
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MHUF
Operating lease (when ELMŰ Nyrt. is the lessor) 31.12.2018

Within 1 year

Rental of real estates

694

of which:

-

from subsidiaries

502

from enterprises under joint control

192

from other subsidiaries of the parent company

-

Rental of machinery and motor vehicles

407

of which:

-

from subsidiaries

336

from enterprises under joint control

58

from other subsidiaries of the parent company

13

Total

1 101

MHUF
Operating lease (when ELMŰ Nyrt. is the lessor) 31.12.2017

Within 1 year

Rental of real estates
of which:

661
-

from subsidiaries

450

from enterprises under joint control

190

from other subsidiaries of the parent company
Rental of machinery and motor vehicles
of which:

21
870
-

from subsidiaries

681

from enterprises under joint control

129

from other subsidiaries of the parent company
Total

60
1 531

With regard to the shown business years, the Company, as lessee, was dealing with non-related
companies, and as lessor, it provided services for related companies.
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5.1.2. Investment property
MHUF

Description

Land, buildings and
connecting
property rights

Total

01.01.2017

-

-

Gross value

1 745

1 745

Accumulated depreciation

-

Net book value
Values for the reference period
Opening book value
Commissioning
Gross value of reclassification in general ledger

-

Főkönyvi átsorolás halmozott értékcsökkenés
Periodic depreciation

683

-

1 062

1 062

-

-

1 062

1 062

2

2

76

-

29
-

Closing book value

683

56

76
29

-

56

961

961

31.12.2017

-

-

Gross value

1 671

1 671

Accumulated depreciation

-

Net book value

710

-

710

961

961

01.01.2018

-

-

Gross value

1 671

1 671

Accumulated depreciation

-

Net book value
Values of the reference period
Opening book value
Commissioning
Periodic depreciation

-

Closing book value
31.12.2018
Gross value
Accumulated depreciation
Net book value

710

-

961

961

-

-

961

961

26

26

34

-

34

953

953

-

-

1 697
-

710

744
953

1 697
-

744
953

Investment properties include the leased buildings of the Company, its net value was 953 MHUF for the
reporting period.
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5.1.3. Intangible assets
MHUF

Rights representing
pecuniary value

Description

Intellectual product

Total

01.01.2017
Gross value
Accumulated depreciation

7 032
-

Net book value

6 718

4 061
-

3 518

11 093
-

10 236

314

543

857

314

543

857

53

194

247

Values for the reference period (adjusted)
Opening book value
Commissioning
Periodic depreciation

-

Closing book value

170

-

190

-

360

197

547

744

7 085

4 255

11 340

31.12.2017
Gross value
Accumulated depreciation

-

Net book value

6 888

-

3 708

-

10 596

197

547

744

197

547

744

52

232

284

Values of the reference period
Opening book value
Commissioning
Periodic depreciation

-

Closing book value

110

-

203

-

313

139

576

715

7 137

4 487

11 624

31.12.2018
Gross value
Accumulated depreciation
Net book value

-

6 998
139

-

3 911

-

576

10 909
715

The net value of intangible assets decreased by 29 MHUF (by 3,9 %) compared to the reporting period.
In 2018 the Company spent 284 MHUF on the purchase of intangible assets, including 36 MHUF on

software development, 31 MHUF on ServiceNow installation, 39 MHUF Applocker and 178 MHUF on the
development of other user systems. The accounted depreciation in the reporting period decreased the
value of the intangible assets by 313 MHUF.
Intangible assets were not scrapped during the reporting year.
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5.1.4. Interests in affiliated undertakings
On 31 December 2018, the Company had shares in eight undertakings, shown in financial assets, in a
total value of 230 969 MHUF.
Interests according to analytics
Name of company, headquarters

31.12.2017

Growth

Decrease

31.12.2018

MHUF
According to articles of incorporation
Subscribed Ownership Voting right
capital
ratio (%)
(%)

I. Majority holdings
ELMŰ Hálózati Elosztó Kft.
1132 Budapest, Váci út 72-74.

-

-

-

-

261 270

100,00

100,00

221 814

-

-

221 814

221 814

100,00

100,00

874

2 784

3 658

-

-

-

-

ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiatároló Kft.
1132 Budapest, Váci út 72-74.

3

-

-

3

3

100,00

100,00

ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Solutions Kft.
1132 Budapest, Váci út 72-74.

-

3

-

3

3

100,00

100,00

5 740

-

-

5 740

1 000

70,00

70,00

2

-

-

2

3

70,00

50,00

3 180

-

-

3 180

8 479

50,00

50,00

2

-

-

2

3

65,00

50,00

225

-

-

225

200

50,00

50,00

231 840

2 787

3 658

230 969

ELMŰ DSO Holding Kft. "végelszámolás alatt"
1132 Budapest, Váci út 72-74.
RWE Energie SRL
Bucureşti Sectorul 1,
Bulevardul AVIATORILOR 27, III/4

ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiaszolgáltató Zrt.
1132 Budapest, Váci út 72-74.

-

II. Jointly controlled operations
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Ügyfélszolgálati Kft.
1037 Budapest, Kunigunda útja 47/A-47/B
III. Jointly controlled entities
BDK Kft.
1203 Budapest, Csepeli átjáró 1-3.
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Telco Kft.
1132 Budapest, Váci út 72-74.
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiakereskedő Kft.
1132 Budapest, Váci út 72-74.
Total

-

ELMŰ DSO Holding Kft. "under final settlement"
In 2015, the Company established ELMŰ DSO Holding Kft. as its wholly owned subsidiary, tasked with
the property management of ELMŰ Hálózati Kft. The value of the subscribed capital is 221 814 MHUF.
The final settlement of the company has been in progress since 01.06.2017.
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RWE Energie S.R.L.
Following the approval of the Competition Office and fulfilling other conditions – defined in the contract
– the ownership of RWE Energie S.R.L., the Romanian subsidiary of ELMŰ Nyrt., on September 3,
2018,- was transferred to MET Holding AG. In connection with the transaction 3 250 MHUF revenue was
realised (which consists of 4 026 MHUF that was transferred by the customer and 776 MHUF repayment
obligation), against the written-off 3 658 MHUF book value. Other related costs of the transaction
(559 MHUF) were accounted as well. The condition of the selling transaction was that on the day of
transferring the shares the outstanding financial claims should be settled by the customer (see chapter
5.2.2.). By selling the holding, the Company and its subsidiary settled their receivables and liabilities to
each other.

ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiatároló Kft.
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiatároló Kft. was established by ELMŰ Nyrt. on 1 December 2017, with 100 %
ownership rate. The subscribed capital of the company is 3 MHUF. The purpose of the Company’s
activities is to build an energy storage unit from batteries, inverters and transformers.

ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Solution Kft.
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Solution Kft. was established by ELMŰ Nyrt. on 14 August 2018, with 100 % ownership
rate. The subscribed capital of the company is 3 MHUF. The activity of the Company encompasses the
construction of electrical and telecommunication utilities, and the provision of the related services.

ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiaszolgáltató Zrt.
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiaszolgáltató Zrt. was founded jointly by the Company and ÉMÁSZ Nyrt. for the
purpose of transferring their universal service providing activities to it. As of 1 December 2015, the
Company supplies electricity to customers using universal services. The ownership shares of ELMŰ Nyrt.
are 70 %.
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Ügyfélszolgálati Kft.
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Ügyfélszolgálati Kft. was founded jointly by ELMŰ Nyrt. and their affiliated company,
ÉMÁSZ Nyrt. The share capital of the company is 3 MHUF, where the Company has 70 % ownership rate,
and 50 % of the votes. The activity of the Company encompasses the provision of customer service,
telecenter, invoicing and data processing, and their related services.
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ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Telco Kft.
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Telco Kft. (previously known as: ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Hálózati Szolgáltató Kft.) was founded
jointly by the Company and ÉMÁSZ Nyrt. and is currently owned by ELMŰ Nyrt. in 65 %, and by ÉMÁSZ
Nyrt. in 35 %, with ELMŰ Nyrt. having 50 % of the votes. The main activity of the Company encompasses
services related to wired telecommunication.
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiakereskedő Kft.
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiakereskedő Kft. (previously known as: Magyar Áramszolgáltató Kft.) was founded
jointly by the Company and its related company, ÉMÁSZ Nyrt., each having an ownership share of 50%.
The main activity of the company is the trading on the liberalized energy market, the supply of
electricity and natural gas to the authorized customers, and the procurement of electricity and natural
gas.

Budapesti Dísz- és Közvilágítási Kft.
Budapesti Dísz- és Közvilágítási Kft. was founded jointly by the Company and the Municipality of
Budapest, each having 50-50% of the votes. The main activity of the company is to operate the public
and decorative lighting of the capital, and to implement investments in the field of energy savings. In
2004 the Company recognized 1 060 MHUF of impairment loss on their interest in BDK Kft. (taking the
market value into account).

5.1.5. Deferred tax
The deferred tax claims and tax obligations are shown aggregated as a net balance, provided that the
compensation is possible, and the claims and obligations incurred at the same tax authority.
The Company did not have any deferred tax claims or obligations.

The Company would have deferred tax assets based on its deferred tax deduction, the majority of which
is resulted from its deferred losses of the previous years. Deferred taxes shall be shown on the distinct,
unused negative tax bases to the extent, which it is considered very likely, that there will be sufficient
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taxable profit in the future, which would allow these unused negative tax bases to be utilized against. In
spite of the positive result (profit) of the Company, based on the calculation with correction factors to
be taken into account when determining the basis of corporate tax, the tax basis is expected to be
negative in the future, therefore it is unlikely to be realizable.
The Company does not recognize its deferred tax-receivables, because it is considered very likely, that
there will be no taxable profit in the future, which would allow these temporary differences to be
utilized against. Its amount is 5 374 MHUF.
However, if the usability of deferred taxes allocated for the losses under the act on corporate tax not
recognized or written off earlier becomes probable, the related deferred tax will be recognized.

5.2. Current assets

5.2.1. Inventories
MHUF
Inventories
Base material

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

235

174

Auxiliary material and supplies

9

65

Other material

-

-

244

239

Material total
Wrapping and packaging

-

-

Mediated services

17

5

Goods at cost price

83

90

Goods total

100

95

Incomplete production and semi-finished
goods
Incomplete production total

102

392

102

392

Total

446

726

Compared to the status of December 31, 2017, the closing stock of inventories is 280 MHUF(38,57 %)
lower, which is due to the decrease of the actual value of work-in progress by 290 MHUF (73,98 %).
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Among its inventories, the Company stores primarily materials related to its Enhome, E-mobility, E+
business units. In addition to this there are subsidiary inventories of materials used for the own
operations of the Company (e.g. packaging and binding materials necessary for the operations of
logistics).

The average inventory of the reporting period was 244 MHUF.
Average yearly inventory turnover calculated with average inventory: 6,41 turns.

5.2.2. Loans provided
MHUF
Loans
Financial receivables from affiliated enterprises
Loans to affiliated enterprises
Total

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

32 209

22 557

-

7 992

32 209

30 549

The value of provided loans increased by 1 660 MHUF (5,43 %) compared to the reference period.
Financial receivables from related undertakings increased by 9 652 MHUF, consisting of the cash pool
receivables related to ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiakereskedő Kft., ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiaszolgáltató Zrt., ELMŰÉMÁSZ Energiatároló Kft. and ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Solutions Kft.
The loan given to the affiliate decreased by 7 992 MHUF. The Company made increase in share capital
with the value of 2 782 MHUF in RWE Energie S.R.L., parallel to that decreased the amount of the credit
claim. During the continuous operation the RWE Energie S.R.L. repaid 2 126 MHUF, and the amount of
outstanding claims at the time of selling was settled by the company buying RWE Energie S.R.L. in the
value of 3 084 MHUF.

5.2.3. Accounts receivables and other receivables
The balance line of accounts receivable from buyers and other receivables includes the aggregated value
of accounts receivable from buyers, receivables from related companies of ownership relations, and
other and derivative receivables.
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5.2.3.1. Accounts receivable and receivables from affiliated undertakings
MHUF
Accounts receivable

1 537

778

31.12.2018

Electricity buyers
Other customers
Litigated receivables
Impairment

50

01.01.2018
adjusted value
(IFRS 9)
299

184
-

Total accounts receivable

231

31.12.2017
299
778

775
-

828

775
-

900

1 540

1 024

952

Receivables from parent company
Receivables from subsidiary
Receivables from enterprises under joint control

6
473
100

175
83

175
83

Receivables from other subsidiaries of the parent company

469

119

119

Receivables from affiliated enterprises

1 048

377

377

Receivables from affiliated enterprises and other undertakings
representing a share

1 048

377

377

Total

2 588

1 401

1 329

The Company examined the effects of the application of IFRS 9 standard in case of the receivables from
buyers and revised the opening value of 2018. Due to applying the standard the impairment loss
decreased by 72 MHUF comparing to the base period as on 31.12.2017.
The closing balance of accounts receivable from buyers and related undertakings increased by
1 259 MHUF (94,73 %) compared to the reference period.
The closing balance of other customers is 759 MHUF (97,56 %) higher compared to the previous
business year.
The value of receivables from associated enterprises also increased by 671 MHUF (177,98 %) compared
to the reference period, mainly due to the increase of the receivable from ELMŰ Hálózati Kft. by
298 MHUF and from ÉMÁSZ Nyrt. by 305 MHUF.
The closing balance of electricity buyers decreased by 249 MHUF (83,26 %) compared to the reference
period. The determining factor of the change of receivables related to electricity buyers is resulted from
the Company having beforehand sold its accounts receivables, and terminated its electricity sales, as its
license of electricity trade expired.
The closing balance of litigated receivables decreased by 591 MHUF (75,26 %), also resulting from the
sale. Consequently, the impairment loss recognized for receivables from customers decreased by
669 MHUF (74,33 %).
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The fair value of the receivables on December 31, 2017, and on December 31, 2018, was approximately
equal to their book value.
The credit risk related to the impairment loss concerning the receivables from costumers is also
discussed in section 3.4. of this Supplementary Annex.

5.2.3.2. Other receivables
MHUF
Other receivables
Prepayments
Other financial receivables, total

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

69

30

69

30

Loans to employees for housing (part within 1 year)

2

2

Receivables from employees

2

23

Receivables from the state budget

979

1 575

Advances to suppliers, security deposit

191

426

74

33

Other non-financial receivables, total

1 248

2 059

Total

1 317

2 089

Other receivables

The closing balance of other receivables is 1 317 MHUF, it is 772 MHUF (36,96 %) lower than in the
reference period.
The amount of claims against the central budget decreased by 596 MHUF compared to the previous
year, this change is mainly caused by the decrease of receivables related to the calculation of valueadded tax by 585 MHUF.
Advances to suppliers decreased by 235 MHUF (55,16 %) compared to the reference year.
The fair value of the other receivables on December 31, 2017, and on December 31, 2018, was
approximately equal to their book value.

5.2.3.3. Derivatives receivable
The Company values outstanding futures transactions for foreign currencies at the end of the year on
the basis of the closing rates, in view of a forward rate pertaining to the date of performance of each of
the given transactions, on a case-by-case basis.
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In order to hedge its open positions, in 2018 the Company contracted futures transactions in the value
of 3 000 KEUR with innogy SE. In connection with the sale of its subsidiary i.e. RWE Energie S.R.L. the
Company entered into futures transaction in the value of 19 000 KEUR with innogy SE. Furthermore, the
Company entered in order to hedge the purchase price in foreign currency into futures transaction in
the value of 64 800 KRON with innogy SE-vel, which transaction has been concluded during the year.

5.2.4. Actual profit tax receivables
The balance sheet shows the aggregated amount of the profit tax claims and obligations, if the claim
and obligation are both related to the same tax authority.

5.2.5. Cash and cash equivalents
MHUF
Liquid assets
Deposit account for settlements

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

249

9

Escrow deposit account

7

2

Deposit account in foreign currency

-

75

Book transfer accounts

-

2

256

88

Total

Name of Bank
Erste Bank Zrt.
ING Bank Zrt.
DB Bank
Deposit account for settlements, total
Other liquid assets

Total liquid assets

Amount (MHUF)
249
-

Average deposit
interest
0,00%
0,00%
0,00%

249
7

256

The cash and liquid assets of the Company are deposited in the above listed reliable financial
institutions.
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The closing balance of cash, liquid assets and their equivalents is 256 MHUF, which increased by
168 MHUF in comparison to the reference period. The key factor of the change is the 240 MHUF
increase of the closing balance of the settlement deposit account compared to the preceding business
year. Our Company is continuously striving at keeping the amount of cash on the bank accounts and on
hand at a minimum level.
The banks associated with the Company are qualified by Moody's as follows:

Name of Bank
ING Bank N.V. Magyarországi Fióktelepe

2018

2017

2016

A+

Baa1

A1

Baa1

Baa1

Baa1

Aa3

Aa3

A1

OTP Bank Nyrt.

Baa1

Baa2

Baa3

MKB Bank Zrt.
ERSTE BANK HUNGARY Zrt.

A3
Baa3

B2
A3

B3
BAA1

CIB Bank Zrt.
BNP Paribas Magyarországi Fióktelepe

5.2.6. Assets held for sale
MHUF
Assets held for sale

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

Non-current assets

187

-

Property, plant and equipment

187

-

187

-

Total

The line of property, plant and equipment held for sale shows the properties (closed office property)
disinvested from the operation.

5.3. Shareholders' equity
The amount of the equity capital is 206 445 MHUF, which is 484 MHUF higher in comparison to the
closing balance of the previous period. The change is the combined effect of the profit realized in 2018
(10 131 MHUF) and the dividends paid for the profit of 2017 (-9 719 MHUF).
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Subscribed capital

Ordinary shares
(pcs)

Nominal value of
shares (HUF)

Total (HUF)

01.01.2017

6 074 441

10 000

60 744 410 000

31.12.2017

6 074 441

10 000

60 744 410 000

31.12.2018

6 074 441

10 000

60 744 410 000

5.3.1. Cross-compliance of shareholders' equity
Based on 114/B. § of the Hungarian Act on Accounting, the table below contains the deduction of the
difference between the equity calculated according to the Act on Accounting, and that calculated
according to the detailed preparation principles of the Act.

MHUF
Section 114 B (4) equity under IFRS

2018

Subscribed capital
Capital reserves
Retained earnings
Total equity

2017

60 744

60 744

-

-

145 701

145 217

206 445

205 961

Section 114 B (4) a) equity
Equity capital according to IFRS
Supplementary payments as assets according to IFRS (-)
Section 114 B (4) a) total equity:

206 445
-

65

205 961
-

65

206 380

205 896

60 744

60 744

60 744

60 744

Section 114 B (4) b) share capital according to IFRS
Share capital according to the effective articles of association if
classified as an equity instrument
Section 114 B (4) b) total share capital:
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Section 114 B (4) e) retained earnings
Accumulated profit after taxation of previous' years according to IFRS
that is not yet distributed among owners and not include other
comprehensive income (±)
Supplementary payments as assets according to IFRS (-)
Section 114 B (4) e) total retained earnings:

135 570
65

127 633
-

65

135 505

127 568

9 198
933

17 384
200

10 131

17 584

Section 114 B (4) g) retained profit/loss
Retained profit/loss from continuing operations
Retained profit / loss from discontinued / discontinuing operations
Retained profit/loss

Section 114 B (5) a) Reconciliation of registered capital with the share capital according to IFRS
Registered share capital

60 744

60 744

Share capital according to IFRS

60 744

60 744

-

-

Difference
Section 114 B (5) b) Retained earnings available for distribution
Retained earnings ( include the net profit after tax for last financial
year closed with annual financial statements)
Accumulated, unrealized profit from the increase of fair value of
investment properties according to IAS 40
Retained earnings available for distribution

145 636
145 636

145 152
145 152

5.4. Long-term liabilities
The closing value of long-term liabilities is 35 MHUF, decreased by 54 MHUF compared to 2017. This
change was primarily caused by the decrease of the long-term provisions.

5.4.1. Long term provisions
The Company created no long-term provision in the business year of 2018.
For more detailed information on provisions, see subsection 5.5.2.
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5.4.2. Contractual liabilities
MHUF
Contract liabilities (Long term)

31.12.2018

Net value of assets received free of charge
Total

01.01.2018

29

41

29

41
MHUF

Contract liabilities (Short term)

31.12.2018

Net value of assets received free of charge
Total

01.01.2018

12

16

12

16

The over-the-year part of contractual obligations is shown in the balance sheet long-term contract
liabilities and the within-one-year part is shown in the balance sheet line short-term contract liabilities.
The contract liabilities contain the 41 MHUF long-term and short-term closing balance of accrual of
assets taken over free of charge, which is 16 MHUF lower, compared to the base year.

5.5. Short-term liabilities
The closing value of short-term liabilities decreased by 392 MHUF (0,54 %) compared to 2017. This
change is mainly driven by accounts payable and other payables.

5.5.1. Short-term credits and loans received, and leasing
MHUF
Credits received and leasing

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

67 169

66 771

-

5 000

Overdraft facilities

6 262

5 707

Financial liabilities

60 907

56 064

67 169

66 771

Short-term credits received and leasing
Bank credits

Total
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Name of Bank

Amount (MHUF)

BNP Paribas Magyarországi Fióktelepe

228

Maturity date

Coverage

31.10.2019

negative pledge; pari passu

ING Bank N.V. Magyarországi Fióktelepe

1 647

10.12.2019

negative pledge; pari passu

CIB Bank Zrt.

1 978

30.06.2019

negative pledge; pari passu

without maturity date

negative pledge; pari passu

ERSTE BANK HUNGARY Zrt.

256
117

25.05.2019

negative pledge; pari passu

OTP Bank Nyrt.

MKB Bank Zrt.

2 036

30.03.2019

negative pledge; pari passu

OTP Bank Nyrt.

-

30.03.2019

negative pledge; pari passu

Total short-term credits received

6 262

Note: negative pledge = prohibition to encumber, pari passu = equal ranking of receivables

The short-term funding requirements of the Company – other than its own funds– also made the use of
short-term loans necessary. The closing balance of short-term debt becoming due within one year is
6 262 MHUF, decreased by 4 445 MHUF (41,51 %), compared to the balance of the previous year. The
assets of the Company are not pledged by lien or a similar liability.

The fair value of the short-term loans on December 31, 2017, and on December 31, 2018, was
approximately equal to their book value.

5.5.2. Provisions and contingent liabilities
MHUF
Provisions
01.01.2017

For absences and
leaves

For
lawsuits/disputes

For agreed
compensation

For future
liabilities

For other

Total

46

2

13

-

17

78

Increase in provision

36

5

19

35

58

153

Release of unused provision

11

2

3

-

16

33

Provision used during the year

33

-

11

-

1

45

31.12.2017

38

5

18

35

58

153

01.01.2018

38

5

18

35

58

153

35

51

3

397

24

510
63

Increase in provision
Release of unused provision
Provision used during the year
31.12.2018

6

5

15

27

10

30

-

3

8

15

56

37

51

3

397

57

545
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MHUF
Breaking total provision

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

-

42

545

111

545

153

- long-term
- short-term
Total

MHUF
Provisions
2019

For absences and
leaves

For
lawsuits/disputes

For agreed
compensation

For future
liabilities

For other

Total

37

51

3

397

57

545

Short-term provisions, total

37

51

3

397

57

545

Total

37

51

3

397

57

545

The closing stock of short-term provisions is 545 MHUF, which is 434 MHUF higher compared to the
reference period. The most significant factor of this change is the provision allocated for future
guarantee services and contractual obligations.
The other part of provisions was allocated for personnel-related provisions, and pending payables.

5.5.3. Accounts payable and other liabilities
The balance line of accounts payable to suppliers and other payables includes the aggregated value of
accounts payable to suppliers, payables to related companies and companies of other ownership
relations, derivative payables, and other payables.
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5.5.3.1. Liabilities to suppliers and affiliated undertakings
MHUF
Description

31.12.2018

Investment suppliers
Other suppliers
Liabilities from deliveries of goods and provision of services

31.12.2017

216

488

1 670

1 894

1 886

2 382

-

-

Payables to the subsidiaries

Payables to the parent company

123

404

Payables to jointly controlled entities

250

95

524

1 138

Payables to affiliated enterprises

Payables to other subsidiaries of the parent company

897

1 637

Payables to affiliated enterprises and other undertakings representing
a share

897

1 637

2 783

4 019

Total

The stock of suppliers – together with the liabilities to affiliated undertakings and companies of other
ownership relations – decreased by 1 236 MHUF (30,75 %) compared to the base period.
The amount of payables to affiliated undertakings is 897 MHUF, which is 740 MHUF less, than it was in
the preceding period. Main determinant of the change is the decrease of liabilities to
innogy IT Magyarország Kft. „v.a.” by 786 MHUF compared to the base period.
Within this group, the liabilities related to goods transfer and services – less affiliated and otherwise
interest-related undertakings – decreased by 496 MHUF (20,82 %); including a 272 MHUF decrease of
the investment suppliers, and 224 MHUF decrease of the other suppliers.
The fair value of the accounts payable on December 31, 2017, and on December 31, 2018, was
approximately equal to their book value.
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5.5.3.2. Other liabilities
MHUF
Other liabilities
Liabilities to shareholders
Payables from overpayment by buyers
Support obligation to coal industry

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

10

11

193

413

-

325

Deferred items and accruals

13

159

Other financial liabilities, total

216

908

Liabilities to employees

458

453

Liabilities related to shares and securities

190

192

Liabilities to the state budget

244

265

Other liabilities

952

235

Other non-financial liabilities, total

1 844

1 145

Total

2 060

2 053

The amount of other short-term liabilities is 2 060 MHUF, which is 7 MHUF higher compared to the base
period.
Main defining factors of the change were the increase of other liabilities by 717 MHUF, the decrease of
liabilities resulting from customer overpayments by 220 MHUF and the decrease of liabilities of the
contribution to the coal industry by 325 MHUF.

The closing value of the liabilities related to interests and securities includes the liabilities towards the
shareholders, resulting from the sale of the dematerialized shares. As per paragraph 408 of Act CXX of
2001 on the capital markets, the owners did not fulfill their obligation for the dematerialization, thus for
this reason a non-expiring liability is created towards the owners of the shares not submitted for
dematerialization. The Company registers this liability based on law, among the other non-financial
liabilities.
The fair value of other financial liabilities on December 31, 2017, and on December 31, 2018, was
approximately equal to their book value.
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5.5.3.3. Derivative liabilities
The closing value of the short-term derivative liabilities was 12 MHUF in the base period, corresponding
to the value of liabilities resulting from the valuation of the forward foreign exchange purchases with
innogy SE, which is presented in the balance sheet line Liabilities to suppliers and other liabilities.

5.5.4. Actual profit tax liabilities

The balance sheet shows the aggregated amount of the profit tax claims and obligations, if the claim
and obligation are both related to the same tax authority.
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6. COMPREHENSIVE PROFIT AND LOSS STATEMENT

6.1. Sales revenues
MHUF
Sales revenues
Revenues of provided central services to affiliated companies
Revenues of goods sold
Revenues of renewable energy services
Revenues from sales of E+ products
Other sales revenues
Total
-Of which: at a point in time
-Of which: over time

2018

2017

11 237

9 706

246

1 544

2 531

1 140

96

50

464

2 879

14 574

15 319

246
14 328

3 842
11 477

The above table of sales revenues has been changed significantly compared to the previous years, as
from 2017 free trade electricity trade activities are carried out by the related undertakings of the
Company. Thereby the Company lost control over the business unit of free trade electricity trade,
therefore, under the provisions of IFRS 5, these are shown as discontinued activities in the reference
and the reporting period. For further information, refer to section 6.9.
The Company accounts its revenues accordingly to IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers
standard starting on January 1, 2018. The introduction of the new standard did not bring about any
significant change in the recognition of the sales revenues.
The sales revenue is 14 574 MHUF, which is 745 MHUF (4,86 %) lower compared to the value in 2017.
Revenues from goods sold decreased significantly to 246 MHUF, it is 1 298 MHUF lower than in 2017.
The main reason of this is that the Company sold the raw materials related to electricity grid works from
its warehouse stocks in the reporting period to its affiliated undertaking in order to ensure more
efficient operation of the warehouse processes.
Other revenues non-connected to the electricity sales decreased by 2 415 MHUF (83,88 %) compared to
the previous business period; key factor of the change was the sale of the portfolio in the base period.
Central services provided to the related undertakings increased by the total amount of 1 531 MHUF in
2018. An additional significant increase is seen in the revenues from renewable energy services,
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increased by 1 391 MHUF, and the revenues from the sales of E+ products, increased by 46 MHUF
compared to last year.
The Company inspected the source and types of all revenues and found that they do not have any
performance obligations, which would be fulfilled over one year.
The Company considers a sales revenue against a customer a significant customer, which exceeds 10 %
of the total sales revenue.

The Company identified as individually significant customers as below:

MHUF
Sales revenues

2018

2017

ELMŰ Hálózati Kft.
Revenues of provided central services to affiliated companies
Revenues of goods sold

4 856

4 266

1

1 399

2 416

2 112

1

-

1 983

1 748

1 207

1 342

-

2 298

ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Ügyfélszolglati Kft.
Revenues of provided central services to affiliated companies
Other sales revenues
ÉMÁSZ Hálózati Kft.
Revenues of provided central services to affiliated companies
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiakereskedő Kft.
Revenues of provided central services to affiliated companies
Other sales revenues

6.2. Other operating income
MHUF
Other revenues from operation
Sale of intangible assets and tangible assets
Income from letting
Exchange rate gain from operation
Income from passing on costs and invoices
Income related to damages
Dividends received from shares
Other items increasing the profit
Total

2018

2017
39

90

250

253

-

13

153

2

34

31

11 557

16 373

18

467

12 051

17 229
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The value of other revenues is 12 051 MHUF, which shows a decrease of 5 178 MHUF compared to the
reference period.
Determinant factors of this change are: the decrease of dividend received on shares by 4 816 MHUF,
and other items decreasing the profit by 449 MHUF.

6.3. Depreciation and amortization
MHUF
Depreciation

2018

Property, plant and equipment
Investment properties
Intangible assets
Total

2017
735

724

34

56

313

360

1 082

1 140

The depreciation decreased by 58 MHUF compared to the previous period.

6.4. Material type expenditure
MHUF
Material type expenditures
Material cost

2018

2017

2 250

1 264

100

1 395

Other services used

6 910

5 911

-Of which: central services received from related parties

1 191

1 179

-Of which: maintenance costs

1 053

1 013

-Of which: cost of mediated services sold

3 539

2 892

9 260

8 570

Cost of goods sold

Total

Material type expenditures of the Company were 9 260 MHUF, which is 690 MHUF (8,05 %) higher than
in the previous period.
The change was primarily caused by the 986 MHUF (78 %) increase of the material cost, which is related
to the renewable energy business unit.
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The cost of goods sold decreased by 1 295 MHUF (92,83 %) compared to the base period. The main
reason of this change is that the Company sold the raw materials related to electricity grid works from
its warehouse stocks on 1st January 2017, in order to ensure more efficient operation of the warehouse
processes.

6.5. Personnel type expenditure
MHUF
Personnel type expenditures
Salaries and wages

2018

2017

3 053

2 540

Health insurance contributions and other personnel type expenditures

240

212

Contributions for voluntary pension fund

123

110

Social contribution tax

558

513

16

37

3 990

3 412

Personnel type provisions
Total

The personal type expenditures are 578 MHUF (16,94 %) higher compared to the preceding business
year.

The increase of the wages and salaries, and the related contributions and expenditures are basically
resulting from the wage increase.

Period/portfolio group

Physical
2018

Intellectual
Total
Physical

2017

Intellectual
Total

Average statistical
headcount of
employees (person)
48
287
335
49
257
306

The average headcount is 29 people higher in 2018 than in the previous year, resulting from the
expansion (IT-area) and regrouping of activities.
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6.6. Other operating expenses
MHUF
Other operating expenses
Derecognition of tangible assets and intangible assets

2018

2017
48

11

Sum of uncollectible amounts written off, debts waived
Exchange rate loss from operation
Rentals, leasehold and leasing

1

5

74

-

58

44

Profit from the allocation and release of provision

408

38

Profit from the sale of shares

408

-

Taxes, duties and contributions

208

206

1 757

1 526

2 962

1 830

Other expenses decreasing the profit
Total

The amount of the other operating expenditures is 2 962 MHUF, which is 1 132 MHUF (61,86 %) higher
compared to the previous year.
One of the causes for this is creation and unwinding of provisions (which does not contain the profit
impact of the changes of personal type provisions, because those are accounted among the personal
type expenditures), its net value increased the value of the operating expenditures by 370 MHUF in the
reporting period. In the reporting period, the key factors of the provisions allocated and released by the
Company – and recognized among the Other operating expenditures – are the provision created for
future liabilities in the value of 448 MHUF. For further detailed information on the provision creation
and release of the Company see Section 5.5.2.
The auditing company, in addition to the audit services related to the reports with a value of 34 MHUF
in the reporting year, provided also training service activities to the employees of the Company (on
IFRS 16 standards, professional training for those providing accounting services).
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6.7. Profit from financial transactions
MHUF
Description

2018

2017

Interest received from financial institutions

260

365

Other received (due) interests and interest-type revenues

1

81

Currency exchange gain of financial transactions

-

-

261

446

301

383

Interest and interest type expenses paid

-

29

Currency exchange loss of financial transactions

-

1

301

413

40

33

Revenues from financial transactions
Interest paid to financial institutions

Expenditures of financial transactions
Profit from financial transactions

-

The amount of the profit on financial transactions decreased by 73 MHUF in comparison to the
reference period.
Parallel to the 185 MHUF decrease of the income from financial transactions, the costs of financial
transactions also decreased by 112 MHUF compared to the reference period.
The decrease of other received (due) interests is resulted from the repayment of the loan provided to
RWE Energie S.R.L.

6.8. Profit tax
MHUF
Profit taxes
Corporate tax
Robin Hood tax
Tax on previous years

2018

-

Deferred tax

2017
11

-

-

12
31
-

Local business tax

-

182

-

195

Innovation contribution

-

27

-

30

-

220

-

268

Profit from continuing operations

-

202

-

230

Profit from discontinued operation

-

18

-

38

Total
Income tax expense is attributable to:
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MHUF
Explanation of profit tax

2018

Profit before taxes from continuing operations
Profit before taxes from discontinued operation
Profit before taxes according to IFRS
Tax calculated at 9%
Effect of items excluded from tax bases on the tax
Effect of non-deductible costs on the tax
Effect of the different tax base of other profit taxes on the tax
Effect of not recognised deferred tax
Tax on previous years
Robin Hood tax
Total profit tax expenses

2017

9 400

17 614

952

239

10 352
-

17 853

932
1 161
26
209
203
11
-

-

1 607
1 900
48
225
245
31
12

220

-

268

The 220 MHUF amount of profit tax is divided between the activities to be continued and those
discontinued / to be discontinued. The profit tax expenditure on activities to be continued are
202 MHUF and those on discontinued / to be discontinued are 18 MHUF.
The breakdown of the amount of the profit taxes in relation to the continued activities is as follows:
local business tax is 175 MHUF, innovation contribution is 27 MHUF.
In case of discontinued activities or activities to be discontinued this breakdown is as follows: local
business tax is 7 MHUF, income tax of energy suppliers from the self-revisions of the previous years is
11 MHUF.
Deferred tax expenditure under IFRS standard is not generated.

Effect of items excluded from tax bases on the tax
This is where the share of the profit (dividends) from interests is shown, since profit before tax contains
their amount after taxation. This line contains the tax effects of these items.

Effect of non-deductible costs on the tax
This line of the calculation contains the tax effect of non-deductible expenses – receivables considered
irrecoverable, certain impairments, and support provided to other organizations.

Effect of the different tax base of other profit taxes on the tax
This line contains the tax effect of the tax base of the local and central taxes – which are significantly
different and higher than the corporate tax. Since the first line of the calculation shows a theoretical tax
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calculated by an average rate, the effect of the local business tax and the innovation contribution is an
adjustment item in the calculation.

Effect of not accepted deferred tax
The Company disclaims its deferred tax assets, because it is considered very likely, that there will be no
taxable profit in the future, which would allow these temporary differences to be utilized against.

Effect of tax expenditure resulted from self-revision
The Company reports tax expenditure related to previous years among its profit taxes, in 2017 it
became aware of some information that concerned the tax deductions of previous years. Therefore, it is
particularly highlighted.

Income tax on energy suppliers
As of December 31, 2017, the Company’s electricity trading licence was terminated, thus in 2017 it had
to pay a small amount of such tax. This is shown here.
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6.9. Discontinued activities
The deduction of the discontinued activities and the activities to be discontinued is shown in the
following table:

MHUF
Profit / loss from discontinued / discontinuing operations

2018

Total revenue

2017
568

Direct tax (payed electricity tax)

-

416
-

8

Sales revenue

568

408

Other operating income

572

210

Material type expenditures

-

16

-

-

-

61

-

779

-

4 158

Personnel type expenditures
Other operating expenses
Impairment and reversal of financial assets

607

Income from operating activities

952

Financial income

-

Financial expenses

-

Financial result

-

Profit before tax
Income tax expense

Retained profit / loss from discontinued / discontinuing operations

4 453
261
-

33

-

23

10

1 140

585

-

795

-

4 800

-

952
19

-

238
38

Profit before tax from discontinued / discontinuing operations
Income tax expense

591

933

200

Both universal service provision and free trade electricity trade activities are to be qualified as
discontinued activities under IFRS 5 standard, because the customer portfolios of these activities were
sold to the related undertakings of the Company. The above table shows the financial effects of the
discontinued activities, which has to be shown clearly separated from the profit/loss resulted from the
continued activities.
The profit/loss resulted from the discontinued activity visible in 2018 and 2017 contains the effects of
the activity terminated in 2016 on the reporting year. (factoring, customer impairment reversed due to
settled receivables, and other related recognitions)
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The cash flow deduction of the discontinued activities and the activities to be discontinued is shown in
the following table:

MHUF
Cash Flow of discontinued / discontinuing operations

31.12.2018

Cash flows from operating activities

Net increase / decrease in cash and cash equivalents

-

120

Cash flows from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities

31.12.2017
3 223
-

-

184

3 274

-

64

51

6.10. Share information
MHUF
Description
Profit to be allocated to the company's shareholders from continuing operations
(MHUF)
Profit to be allocated to the company's shareholders from
discontinued/discontinuing operations (MHUF)
Total profit to be allocated to the company's shareholders (MHUF)
Weighted average of the number of ordinary shares issued (except repurchased
own shares)
Profit per share and diluted earnings per share (HUF/share)

2018

2017

9 198

17 384

933

200

10 131

17 584

6 074 441

6 074 441

1 668

2 895

1 514

2 861

154

34

Of wich:
- From continuing operations
- From discontinued/discontinuing operations

The earnings per share, based on the quotient of the profit in the reporting period, and the number of
ordinary shares, is 1 668 HUF in 2018. The diluted earnings per share is the same as the value calculated
on ordinary shares, because the Company does not have any stock options. The Company does not have
any repurchased shares.
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6.11. Related party transactions
MHUF
Description
RWE Aktiengesellschaft
Sale of goods and services to parent company
ELMŰ Hálózati Kft.
RWE Energie S.R.L.
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiatároló Kft.
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Solutions Kft.
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiaszolgáltató Zrt.
Sale of goods and services to subsidiaries
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Ügyfélszolgálati Kft.
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiakereskedő Kft.
Budapesti Dísz- és Közvilágítási Kft.
Sale of goods and services to jointly controlled companies
ÉMÁSZ Nyrt.
ÉMÁSZ Hálózati Kft.
RWE EnBW Magyarország Energiaszolgáltató Kft.
innogy Hungária Tanácsadó Kft.
innogy IT Magyarország Kft.
innogy solutions Kft.
innogy SE
iSE (RWE Deutschland AG)
RWE Supply & Trading GmbH
RWE East s.r.o.
Sale of goods and services to other subsidiary of the parent company
Sale of goods and services to affiliated parties, total

2018

-

2017

5
5
4 999
2
10
105
251
5 367
2 475
1 230
61
3 766
555
2 080
11
7
14
57
94
70
2 748
11 886

5 755
1
216
5 972
2 168
3 720
60
5 948
212
1 755
2
8
17
33
2
2
70
2 101
14 021
MHUF

Description
ELMŰ Hálózati Kft.
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Solutions Kft.
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiaszolgáltató Zrt.
Purchase of goods and services from subsidiaries
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Ügyfélszolgálati Kft.
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiakereskedő Kft.
Purchase of goods and services from jointly controlled companies
ÉMÁSZ Nyrt.
ÉMÁSZ Hálózati Kft.
RWE EnBW Magyarország Energiaszolgáltató Kft.
innogy Hungária Tanácsadó Kft.
innogy IT Magyarország Kft. "v.a."
innogy SE
RWE Deutschland AG
iSE (RWE IT Gmbh)
RWE Supply & Trading GmbH
innogy Ceská republika a.s.
iSE (RWE Effizienz GmbH)
iSE (RWE Vertrieb AG)
eluminocity GmbH
Purchase of goods and services from other subsidiary of the parent company
Purchase of goods and services from affiliated parties, total

2018
-

-

107
8
22
77
26
280
306
976
208
163
1 776
27
93
577
20
69
9
11
3 929
4 158

2017

-
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MHUF
Description
RWE Aktiengesellschaft
Income from financial and other transactions from parent company
ELMŰ Hálózati Kft.
ELMŰ DSO Holding Kft. "v.a."
RWE Energie S.R.L.
Income from financial and other transactions from subsidiaries
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Ügyfélszolgálati Kft.
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiakereskedő Kft.
Income from financial and other transactions from jointly controlled companies
ÉMÁSZ Nyrt.
ÉMÁSZ Hálózati Kft.
innogy SE
iSE (RWE IT Gmbh)
RWE Supply & Trading GmbH
innogy International Middle East (RWE Power International Middle East LLC)
Income from financial and other transactions from other subsidiary of the parent company
Income from financial and other transactions from affiliated parties, total

2018

2017

76
10 480
10 556
159
845
1 004
2
4
12
2
1
21
11 581

-

-

76
76
15 136
23
15 113
310
848
1 158
1
1
1
1
16 348

MHUF
Description

2018

ELMŰ DSO Holding Kft."végelszámolás alatt"
Expenses of financial and other transactions vis-à-vis subsidiaries
innogy SE
iSE (RWE IT Gmbh)
innogy International Middle East (RWE Power International Middle East LLC)
Expenses of financial and other transactions vis-à-vis other subsidiary of the parent company
Expenses of financial and other transactions vis-à-vis affiliated parties, total

2017
15
15
15

12
1
1
14
14

MHUF
Description
ELMŰ Hálózati Kft.
Purchase of tangible assets and intangible assets from subsidiaries
innogy IT Magyarország Kft.
iSE (RWE IT Gmbh)
iSE (RWE Effizienz GmbH)
iSE (RWE Vertrieb AG)
Purchase of tangible assets and intangible assets from other subsidiaries of the parent company
Purchase of tangible assets and intangible assets from affiliated parties, total

2018

2017
16
2
18
18
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Owner's guarantees undertaken by ELMŰ Nyrt., outstanding on December 31, 2018:

The Company secured its rights and liabilities not included in the balance sheet, by issuing a bank
guarantee through agreements with banks, and a guarantee from the parent company.
The bank guarantees issued by the Hungarian Branch Office of ING Bank N.V. in place on 31 December 2018
Date
30.11.2019
31.01.2020
31.01.2020
31.01.2019
31.01.2019
31.01.2019
31.01.2019
31.01.2020
31.12.2019
30.09.2019
31.12.2019
30.09.2019
26.10.2019
31.12.2020
31.01.2021
31.01.2021
31.03.2020
31.03.2020
31.01.2020
31.01.2021

Description
Payment guarantee
Payment guarantee
Payment guarantee
Payment guarantee
Payment guarantee
Payment guarantee
Payment guarantee
Payment guarantee
Payment guarantee
Payment guarantee
Payment guarantee
Payment guarantee
Payment guarantee
Payment guarantee
Payment guarantee
Payment guarantee
Payment guarantee
Payment guarantee
Payment guarantee
Payment guarantee

Összesen

Total (MHUF)
35
104
96
257
152
80
13
99
72
71
74
72
0
4
117
82
16
2
1
101

1 448

Owner's guarantees undertaken by ELMŰ Nyrt. , outstanding on 31 December 2018
Date
31.01.2019
31.01.2020
31.01.2020
28.02.2019
30.09.2019
31.01.2020
30.04.2019
30.11.2019
30.11.2019
31.12.2019
28.02.2020
31.01.2020
31.10.2019
31.10.2019

Összesen

Description
Parent company's guarantee
Parent company's guarantee
Parent company's guarantee
Parent company's guarantee
Parent company's guarantee
Parent company's guarantee
Parent company's guarantee
Parent company's guarantee
Parent company's guarantee
Parent company's guarantee
Parent company's guarantee
Parent company's guarantee
Parent company's guarantee
Parent company's guarantee

Total (MHUF)
80
322
2 411
482
788
482
1 286
145
322
6
402
482
418
370

7 996
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The owner's guarantees provided by ELMŰ Nyrt. to their related undertakings and valid on December
31, 2018 are 7 996 MHUF, which are expected to expire between January 31, 2019 and February 28,
2020. The real value of the guarantees is indifferent, because ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiakereskedő Kft. is
always solvent, these guarantees had never been activated in the previous periods.

Key management personnel compensation
MHUF
2018
Description of remuneration

2017

Board of
Directors

Supervisory
Board

Short-term benefits

163

20

Total

163

20

Board of
Directors

Supervisory
Board

183

128

21

149

183

128

21

149

Total

Total

In 2018, the total compensation of the Board of Directors was 163 MHUF, increased by 35 MHUF
compared to the previous year.
In the reporting period the Company paid 20 MHUF of honoraria to the Supervisory Board, as well as
4 MHUF honoraria and 159 MHUF indemnities expenses for the Board.
In the reporting period, a total of 5 MHUF social contribution tax and vocational training levy was paid
after the compensation of the key management personnel.
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7. SEGMENT REPORTING

7.1. General section
The Electricity Act, the directive of the Hungarian Energy and Public Utility Regulatory Authority on the
“Accounting separation of the operations of electricity undertakings” (hereinafter: HEA Directive) and
the relevant Directive adopted by the European Union prescribe for electricity undertakings to treat
their licensed operations separately in their accounting procedures in a way as though they were carried
out by separate legal entities.

Accordingly, a model aimed at segregating public lighting and charge electric vehicles and other (central,
management) activities has been worked out, along with a methodology of accounting and settlements
underlying accounting separation. The operation of public lighting systems has also become a licensable
activity since November 2013, therefore the data pertaining to such activities have been removed from
the data of the “other” business activities. Accordingly, the distribution of revenues and expenditures as
well as assets and liabilities among operations were performed, resulting in a balance sheet and profit
and loss account broken down per licensee. The Company’s report is thus made up of three parts:
- public lighting licensee,
- electric vehicle charging licensee,
- other operations.

7.1.1. The methodology of unbundling accounts

7.1.1.1. Principles governing the accounting treatment of sales revenues
The sales revenues relating to licensed activities are generated in a way regulated partly in the individual
contracts signed with consumers, while the sales revenues from the relevant other operations are
determined by the market circumstances.
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7.1.1.2. The principles governing the accounting treatment of costs
In the segment of street lighting and licensee for electric vehicle charging, the costs of these licensed
activities, are presented, the costs of any other activities are to be found in the other segment. Within
the group of companies, the member companies may provide one other with a variety of services. The
accounting treatment of the services are based on the service level agreements (SLA) concluded
between the companies concerned.

7.1.1.3. The principles of the accounting treatment of other financial revenues and
expenditure
The other and financial revenues and expenditure that can be directly allocated to activities are booked
with regard to the operations whose balance sheet comprises the relevant asset or liability. If it is not
possible to assign an item directly to an operation, it is distributed among activities proportionately.

7.1.1.4. Principles governing the accounting treatment of tax payment obligations
The corporate tax payable by the entities and the income tax levied on energy suppliers are stated in
proportion to the profits before taxes, in the profit and loss statements showing a positive profit figures
before taxes.

7.1.1.5. Principles governing the separation of the balance sheet after IFRS
According to the basic principle underlying the separation of the balance sheet it is possible to separate
the general ledger accounts relating to the given operation. The breakdown in the general ledger,
however, is in some cases more contracted, therefore such items need to be collected corresponding to
the breakdown justified by activities from the analytical accounts or they may need to be allocated with
the help of the relevant proportions or statistical indicators, that is, so-called artificial allocation ratios or
other special methods.

The main elements of the basic principles applied in the breakdown of the balance sheet are as follows:
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Fixed assets

Fixed assets are stated in the other business division, apart from the tangible assets relating to the
operation of public lighting, which are presented in the line of Property, plant and equipment.

Inventories

Stocks contain the inventories which are necessary to the activities.

Division of accounts receivable from buyers and other receivables

The portfolio of receivables concerning public lighting and the impairment loss and the credit loss
closely linked to the accounts receivable can be clearly assigned to the various business divisions on the
basis of the general ledger account numbers.

Division of accounts payable and other liabilities

Itemized examination is required for the establishment of the closing portfolios of investment and other
accounts payable of the different segments.

Distribution of the portfolio of cash and liquid assets

On the assets side every single item is distributed. The cash and liquid assets are split between the
licensee and the other business division in proportion to their shares of accounts receivable.

Division of short-term credits and loans received, and leasing

In the course of the distribution of the balance sheet items every single line of the balance sheet –
assets and liabilities alike – is split with the exception of the portfolio of short-term loans received and
leasing. The difference remaining on the side of liabilities shows the financing requirement of the given
division. From this it follows that no separation difference is created in the course of the distribution
process.
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Contract liabilities

In the line of Contract liabilities are the accrued income and deferred expenses of the development
funds transferred in perpetuity by consumers and the assets taken over free of charge, recognized in the
Other division.

7.2. Evaluation of the Balance Sheet
Subsequently to applying the Company’s division principles, 0,04 % of the assets appear in the public
lighting operation segment and 99,96 % appear in the Other segment.

7.2.1. The key changes affecting the balance sheet of the public lighting licensee operations.
The division’s short-term financing requirements necessitated short-term borrowing as well, besides
drawing on its own resources. The closing portfolio of the loans maturing within one year amounts to
196 MHUF.
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Balance sheet (public lighting operation licensee)
BALANCE SHEET / ASSETS

31.12.2018

MHUF

31.12.2017

Non-current assets

103

133

Property, plant and equipment

103

133

Investment properties

-

-

Intangible assets

-

-

Investments

-

-

Other financial instrumentums

-

-

Available-for-sale financial assets

-

-

Loans

-

-

Trade and other receivables

-

-

Deferred tax asset

-

-

1

19

Inventories

-

-

Securities

-

-

Loans

-

-

Trade accounts receivables and other receivables

-

13

Current assets

Income tax receivable

1

6

Cash and cash equivalents

-

-

Assets classified as held for sale

-

-

104

152

Total assets

31.12.2018

BALANCE SHEET / EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity

-

31.12.2017

92

Subscribed capital

-

Capital reserves

-

Retained earnings

-

-

86
-

92

-

86

Non-current liabilities

-

-

12

Deferred tax liability

-

-

Provisions

-

-

Long-term contract liabilities
Other non-current liabilities

-

-

12

Current liabilities

196

250

Short-term debt and leasing

196

221

Provisions

-

1

Short-term contract liabilities

-

-

Trade accounts payable and other liabilities

-

28

Income tax liability

-

-

Liabilities classified as held for sale

-

-

104

152

Total equity and liabilities
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7.2.2. The key changes affecting the balance sheet of the electric vehicle charging service
licensee operations
The conditions of authorization for electric vehicle charging services are the provision of data of the
charger(s), and the fee of the procedure has to be paid. Then the licensee becomes a charging station
operator.

The charging station operator has the following tasks:
·

Yearly, quarterly, monthly reporting to MEKH (mainly economic data to be provided on an
electronic interface, but the interface is not yet completed)

·

Continued registration of the charging equipment (charges listed in the permit, can be modified
in writing)

·

Agreements have to be made with the users of the charging service

·

A charging fee can be defined for the charging service (time-based or energy-based), and this
can be charged to the customers.

·

The charging equipments shall be available for use without an agreement (this can be charged
also, it does not have to be free)

·

Customers must be provided with the service level promised in the agreement (some kind of a
service network has to be maintained)

The equity capital line contains the profit reserves.
There was no revenue from the operation of the electric charging station. The expenditures come from
the expenditures of the public filling columns (for example, electric energy fee, IT costs, maintenance
fees).
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Balance sheet (electric vehicle charging service licensee)
BALANCE SHEET / ASSETS

31.12.2018

MHUF
Non-current assets

11

-

-

-

-

-

Property, plant and equipment
Investment properties
Intangible assets

31.12.2017

11

-

Investments

-

-

Other financial instrumentums

-

-

Available-for-sale financial assets

-

-

Loans

-

-

Trade and other receivables

-

-

Deferred tax asset

-

-

Current assets

-

-

Inventories

-

-

Securities

-

-

Loans

-

-

Trade accounts receivables and other receivables

-

-

Income tax receivable

-

-

Cash and cash equivalents

-

-

Assets classified as held for sale

-

-

11

-

Total assets

BALANCE SHEET / EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity

31.12.2018
-

Subscribed capital

39

-

-

Capital reserves
Retained earnings

31.12.2017

-

-

39

10
-

-

10

Non-current liabilities

-

-

Deferred tax liability

-

-

Provisions

-

-

Long-term contract liabilities

-

-

Other non-current liabilities

-

-

Current liabilities

50

10

Short-term debt and leasing

50

8

Provisions

-

-

Short-term contract liabilities

-

-

Trade accounts payable and other liabilities

-

2

Income tax liability

-

-

Liabilities classified as held for sale

-

-

11

-

Total equity and liabilities
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7.2.3. The key changes affecting the balance sheet of the other operations
Properties, machines and equipment in the Other activities segment, are rented out within the Group of
companies, for the member companies using the devices.

The bulk of the intangible assets is made up of software products ordered and purchased for the
operations, along with the billing software supporting the public utility activities.

The value of the participations and shareholdings belongs entirely to the other division.

The full amount of the closing portfolio of inventories (446 MHUF) is stated in the balance sheet of the
Other division.

The figure stated in the accounts receivable from buyers and other receivables includes receivables from
electricity buyers, along with the relevant amounts of impairment loss and credit loss.

The subscribed capital and the respective shares of tangible assets were assigned to the Other division.

Thanks to the profit it has been generating and the favorable payment conditions the division is capable
of self-financing, up to an amount of 66 923 MHUF.

The portfolio of accounts payable and other liabilities amounts to 4 884 MHUF, the key element of
which include investments and other accounts payable.
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Balance sheet (other activities)
BALANCE SHEET / ASSETS

MHUF
Non-current assets

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

241 637

241 943

8 945

8 331

Investment properties

953

961

Intangible assets

704

744

230 969

231 840

Property, plant and equipment

Investments
Other financial instrumentums

65

-

Available-for-sale financial assets

-

65

Loans

1

2

Trade and other receivables

-

-

Deferred tax asset

-

-

37 140

36 946

446

726

Current assets
Inventories
Securities

-

-

32 209

30 549

3 905

3 405

324

2 178

Cash and cash equivalents

256

88

Assets classified as held for sale

187

-

278 964

278 889

Loans
Trade accounts receivables and other receivables
Income tax receivable

Total assets

BALANCE SHEET / EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Subscribed capital
Capital reserves
Retained earnings
Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liability
Provisions

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

206 576

206 057

60 744

60 744

-

-

145 832

145 313

35

101

-

-

-

42

Long-term contract liabilities

29

-

Other non-current liabilities

6

59

Current liabilities

72 353

72 731

Short-term debt and leasing

66 923

66 542

545

110

Provisions
Short-term contract liabilities

12

-

4 873

6 079

Income tax liability

-

-

Liabilities classified as held for sale

-

-

278 964

278 889

Trade accounts payable and other liabilities

Total equity and liabilities
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7.3. Evaluation of the profit and loss statement of the public lighting activities

The public lighting activity – as a segmented operation – has been covered in our financial statements
since 2013, it had not been separately detailed or separated in earlier years.

7.3.1. Accounting treatment of sales revenues

The sales revenue from public lighting activities amounted to 119 MHUF. The revenues originated from
the maintenance of public lighting.

7.3.2. Expenditures

7.3.2.1. Material type expenditure
The actual costs are booked in the business divisions public lighting, e-mobility and others
simultaneously with entering in the accounting records, for the relevant controlling objects, cost centers
and different types of orders.
The operating cost unbundling technique is based on actual accounting records based on the
management model and the contractual relations between and among the member companies.

The bulk of material type expenses is made up by other services used.

The costs relating to the maintenance, operation and development of public lighting activities amounted
to 74 MHUF.

7.3.2.2. Personnel type expenditure

The personnel type expenditure relating to public lighting amounted to 25 MHUF, calculated on the
basis of headcount-based distribution.
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7.3.2.3. Depreciation

44 MHUF was booked in 2017 in the way of depreciation of public lighting active elements and other
public lighting assets, while this amount was 28 MHUF in 2018.

7.3.3. Development of other operating income and expenditure
Among other operating expenditure local taxes are presented.
Profit and loss statement (activity of public lighting licensee)
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2018

MHUF
Total revenue

2017
119

Direct tax (payed electricity tax)

128

-

-

119

128

Variations in self-manufactured stocks

-

-

Other own work capitalized

-

Other operating income

-

-

2

Sales revenue

-

Depreciation and amortization

-

28

-

32

Material type expenditures

-

74

-

73

Personnel type expenditures

-

25

-

25

Other operating expenses

-

-

Impairment and reversal of financial assets

-

-

Income from operating activities

-

Financial income

8

-

-

4
-

Financial expenses

-

-

Financial result

-

-

Profit before tax

-

8
2

-

1

-

6

-

5

Income tax expense
Retained profit/loss from continuing operations
Retained profit / loss from discontinued / discontinuing operations
Retained profit/loss

-

Basic earnings and diluted earnings per share (HUF/share)
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Total other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income

-

-

6
-

4

-

5

-

-

-

6

-

-

Supplementary Annex to the 2018 Annual Report (according to IFRS standards) ELMŰ Nyrt.

5

95

7.4. Evaluation of the Profit and Loss Statement of Other activities

7.4.1. Accounting treatment of sales revenues
The other sales revenues are 14 455 MHUF, which have two parts: SLA revenue, and revenues from sale
of solar cells to household customers.

7.4.2. Expenditures
7.4.2.1. Material type expenditure
The actual costs are recorded and booked in relation to the public lighting licensee in accordance with
the principles described in relation. Material-type expenditures include the services used to the
activities.

7.4.2.2. Personnel type expenditure
The payroll and staff costs of other activities comprise the amount of the working hours carried out in
secondary activities for which invoices are issued, along with the relevant wage and staff costs of the
supporting areas.

7.4.3. Changes in other operating revenues and expenditure
The main items of other operating revenues and expenditures: the revenue from the sale of tangible
assets and real estate sold, along with provisioning/release of provisions. The other operating revenues
show a decrease of 5 180 MHUF compared to the year 2017.
Local taxes made up a significant element of the category of other expenditures.

7.4.4. Profit from financial transactions
The interests paid on short-term loans were distributed on the basis of the principle set out in relation
to the licensee activities.
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The principle underlying the distribution of the dividends received from investment enterprises is the
same as that applying to the splitting of the financial investments in the balance sheet, i.e. this category
is stated entirely in the balance sheet of the other business division.

7.4.5. Tax payment obligation
The corporate tax payable is stated in proportion to the profits before taxes, in the profit and loss
statements showing positive profit figures before taxes.
Profit and loss statement (other activities)
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2018

MHUF
Total revenue
Direct tax (payed electricity tax)
Sales revenue
Variations in self-manufactured stocks
Other own work capitalized
Other operating income

2017

14 455

15 188

-

-

14 455

15 188

102

-

17

-

12 051

17 231

Depreciation and amortization

-

1 054

-

1 108

Material type expenditures

-

9 167

-

8 487

Personnel type expenditures

-

3 955

-

3 384

Other operating expenses

-

2 962

-

1 845

Impairment and reversal of financial assets

-

Income from operating activities
Financial income

10

-

9 477

17 595

261

446

Financial expenses

-

301

Financial result

-

40

33

9 437

17 628

Profit before tax
Income tax expense
Retained profit/loss from continuing operations
Retained profit / loss from discontinued / discontinuing operations

-

204

-

-

9 233

413

229
17 399

933

200

10 166

17 599

Basic earnings and diluted earnings per share (HUF/share)

-

-

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss

-

-

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

-

-

Total other comprehensive income

-

-

10 166

17 599

Retained profit/loss

Total comprehensive income
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8. CONTINGENT CLAIMS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
There were neither contingent liabilities, nor capital commitments incurred against the interests of the
Company in their related undertakings, which are shared with another undertaking.
Lawsuits against the Company
The Company’s court cases as at 31 December 2018 are listed in the following table:
MHUF
Type of legal proceedings

31.12.2018

Active lawsuits
Passive lawsuits
Total

31.12.2017

190

778

34

283

224

1 061

In the case of active lawsuits, the judicial proceeding has begun, but their duration cannot be
determined yet. Passive cases include cases instituted and claims for damages filed against the
Company.
The subjects of the passive cases:
-

claims for damages in relation to invoicing,

-

other lawsuits.

Similarly to the passive trials, provisions are generated if there is an expected payment obligation
resulting from the trial, for the Company.
For further information, refer to section 2.12.
The closing value of the provision for litigation/discussion is 51 MHUF, which is created to cover the
payments of the passive trials against the Company. For further information, refer to section 5.5.2.
RIGHTS AND COMMITMENTS NOT INCLUDED IN THE BALANCE SHEET
The Company secured its rights not included in the balance sheet by establishing mortgages in relation
to accounts receivable under litigation. In the enforcement phase of debt collection through litigation
enforcement rights were registered by the land registry office in regard to debts under litigation. The
closing value of mortgages was 74 MHUF on 31 December 2018, and 69 MHUF in the reference period.
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9. ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION
The Company is committed to the protection of the environment. It operates fully observing the
regulations adopted by the competent authorities, in line also with the spirit of the regulations.
In our environment protection activities, our goal is to develop environment-awareness, furthermore, to
reduce the environmental impact to the minimum, and to prevent pollution and eliminate any pollution
already existing. We monitor our processes by operating an environment-focused management system.
An important tool of environmental protection is the operation of an integrated management system,
supplemented by the ISO 50001 energy management system, helping the Group in continuously
reducing its ecological footprint.
The 2018 review audit by a third party was successful, confirming again, that provisions of the ISO
14001:2015 standard are met. The framework of the system allows continuous monitoring and
management of the environmental loads and potential sources of danger generated by the Company.
The implementation of environmental objectives and programs are scheduled and continuously
documented. In designing the business processes the aspects of environment protection have been
taken into consideration in order to gradually decrease environmental load. The environmental
approach and the receptiveness for the environment of the employees of the Company is developed in
regular training, as part of the implemented environment management system.
The Company acts in a responsible fashion in the waste management as well. The waste in the office
building of the Company is collected selectively by the employees. Through recycling the Company
contributes to the limitation of the usage of natural resources, and also facilitates the reduction of the
municipal waste.
The hazardous wastes produced at the Company are treated as per the legal provisions.
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10. CHECKS AND INSPECTIONS CARRIED OUT BY AUTHORITIES
The following official inspections have been conducted at the Company in 2018:

No checks or inspections were carried out by the tax authorities at the Company in 2018.

The tax authority may inspect books and records for any given tax year and may charge supplementary
taxes and/or fines within the next 6 years. The Company’s management has no knowledge of any
circumstances that may give rise to any liability of a material amount for the Company.

The Government Office of the Capital of Budapest conducted data reconciliation on 5 occasion – with
respect to the individual calculation of pension.
The audit was completed without findings.

The Department for Health Insurance of the Government Office of the Capital City Budapest has held a
comprehensive inspection of social security disbursement agency for the period 01.10.2014 30.04.2018, concerning social security services, settlements and statements.
The audit was completed without findings.

The Budapest Directorate for Disaster Management held a comprehensive audit at the Budapesti
Elektromos Sportegyesület (Sport Club) on 27.07.2018.
No insufficiency was identified.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
(Free translation)
To the shareholders of Budapesti Elektromos Művek Nyrt.
Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements
Opinion
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Budapesti Elektromos Művek
Nyrt. and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as of 31
December 2018 (in which the consolidated balance sheet total is MHUF 247,835), the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income (in which the total comprehensive income for the year is
MHUF 16,103 profit), the consolidated statement of changes in equity, the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended and the notes to the consolidated financial statements including a summary
of the significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2018, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as adopted by the EU and they have been prepared, in all material
respects, in accordance with the supplementary requirements of Act C of 2000 on Accounting
(“Accounting Act”) relevant for the consolidated annual financial statements prepared in accordance with
IFRS as adopted by the EU.
Our opinion is consistent with our additional report to the audit committee.
Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hungarian National Standards on Auditing (“HNSA”) and
with applicable laws and regulations in force in Hungary. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the “Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements”
section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the applicable laws of Hungary, with the Hungarian
Chamber of Auditors’ Rules on ethics and professional conduct of auditors and on disciplinary process
and, for matters not regulated in the Rules, with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants issued by
the International Ethics Standards Board (IESBA Code of Ethics) and we also comply with further ethical
requirements set out in these.
The non-audit services that we have provided to the Group, in the period from 1 January 2018 to 31
December 2018, are disclosed in note 7.6 to the financial statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Könyvvizsgáló Kft., 1055 Budapest, Bajcsy-Zsilinszky út 78.
T: (+36) 1 461 9100, F: (+36) 1 461 9101, www.pwc.hu

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit services that we have provided to the
Group are in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations in Hungary and that we have not
provided non-audit services that are prohibited under Article 5 of Regulation of the European Parliament
and Committee No 537/2014 and Subsection (1) and (2) of Section 67/A of Act LXXV of 2007 on the
Chamber of Hungarian Auditors, the Activities of Auditors, and on the Public Oversight of Auditors.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
Our audit approach
Overview
Overall group materiality

Overall group materiality applied was MHUF 2,660 which was
determined by taking into consideration the combination of
consolidated total assets, consolidated revenue and consolidated
profit before tax.

Group Scoping

We included the parent company, 4 subsidiaries, 1 joint
operation and 2 joint ventures in our audit which amount
up to 100% of the sales revenue, 98% of the profit before
tax and 95% of the total comprehensive income.

Key Audit Matters

·
·

Accrued/deferred revenue of electricity and network
usage fee
Valuation of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement
in the consolidated financial statements. In particular, we considered where management made subjective
judgements; for example, in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved making assumptions
and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits, we also addressed the
risk of management override of internal controls, including among other matters, consideration of
whether there was evidence of bias that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.
Materiality
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. An audit is designed to obtain
reasonable assurance whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.
Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They are considered material if individually or in
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of the consolidated financial statements.
Based on our professional judgement, we determined certain quantitative thresholds for materiality,
including the overall materiality for the consolidated financial statements as a whole as set out in the table
below. These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and
the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures and to evaluate the effect of misstatements, both
individually and in aggregate on the consolidated financial statements as a whole.

Materiality

MHUF 2,660

Determination

Overall group materiality applied was determined by taking
into consideration the combination of consolidated total
assets, consolidated revenue and consolidated profit before
tax.

Rationale for the materiality
benchmark applied

We chose these measures as the benchmark because, in our
view, it is the benchmark against which the performance of the
Group is most commonly measured by users.
The amount of total assets is a key measure, as major part of
the Group’s revenues relates to regulated network activities in
which the value of network assets represent a significant role.
These assets represent the most significant part of the total
assets in the consolidated financial statements.
The revenue figure is key measure in case of the regulated
trading activities, while the profit before tax is key measure in
case of the free-market and other trading activites, where the
most important basis of performance measurement is the
profit.
This is consistent with the basis for our materiality calculation
in the previous year.

Group audit scope
We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an opinion
on the consolidated financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the Group, the
accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which the Group operates.
In addition to the parent company we have identified 4 subsidiaries, 1 joint operation and 2 joint ventures,
which, in our view, required an audit of their complete financial information, due to their financial
significance to the group. Those reporting components have significant turnover or assets and operate in
Hungary.
For the remaining components we performed analytical review on Group level. This together with
additional procedures performed at the Group level, including testing of consolidation journals and
intercompany eliminations, gave us the evidence we needed for our opinion on the Group financial
statements as a whole.
Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Accrued/deferred revenue of electricity
and network usage fee

Our procedures included but were not limited to:

The
accrued/deferred
revenue
of
MHUF 19,768 disclosed in Note 4.1 represents
the value of electricity and network usage fee
between the estimated consumption and the
invoiced amount. Detailed financial models
utilising
estimates
of
the
electricity
consumption of the Group’s customers and
applicable pricing are used to determine the
estimate of the revenue.
We focused on this area as it involves
significant management judgement to estimate
customer consumption at the end of the
reporting period to determine the electricity
revenue.

>>obtaining an understanding of the key controls
management has in place to determine the estimate
of revenue;
>>understanding and challenging management’s
assumptions in respect of the volume and pricing
used in determining the level of estimated revenue
>> developing an independent estimate of the
expected revenue and compared our independent
estimate to the Group’s reported total revenue. Our
independent estimate was developed by:
− agreeing volume data underlying the calculation
of the estimated volumes on a sample basis to
purchases, sales and other systems of which, the key
controls were sample tested; and
−comparing the prices applied with those published
by the relevant authorities;
>> considering the adequacy of the Group’s
disclosures in respect of accrued and deferred
revenue.
There were no material exceptions noted as a result
of our procedures.

Valuation of property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets
Property,
plant
and
equipment
of
MHUF 173,924 and intangible assets of
MHUF 2 626 disclosed in Note 6.1 and 6.2
respectively represent significant balances in
the consolidated balance sheet.
The assessment of the recoverable amount of
these assets disclosed in Note 2.10 and 4.1
requires significant judgement in determining
the key assumptions supporting the expected
future cash flows of the business and the
utilisation of the relevant assets.

Our procedures included but were not limited to:
>> obtaining an understanding of the key controls
associated with the preparation of the valuation
models used to assess the recoverable amount of
cash generating units;
>>
critically
evaluating
management’s
methodologies for determining the key assumptions
utilised in the valuation models;
>> we also applied an internal valuation expert and
we assessed and challenged:
− the identification of cash generating units;
− the key assumptions for long-term growth rates in
the forecast cash flows; and
− the discount rate applied;
>> we checked the mathematical accuracy of the
cash flow models, agreed forecast cash flows to the
latest Board approved business plan and assessed

the historical accuracy of forecasting;
>> we assessed the sensitivity analyses performed
by management around the key drivers used in the
cash flow forecasts and the discount rate used; and
We have also assessed the appropriateness of the
disclosures in the notes to the financial statements.
Based on our procedures, we noted no material
exceptions and considered management’s key
assumptions to be within reasonable ranges.
Other information: the consolidated business report
Other information comprises the consolidated business report of the Group. Management is responsible
for the preparation of the consolidated business report in accordance with the provisions of the
Accounting Act and other relevant regulations. Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements
expressed in the “Opinion” section of our independent auditor’s report does not cover the consolidated
business report.
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
consolidated business report and, in doing so, consider whether the consolidated business report is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit,
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If based on our work performed we conclude that the
consolidated business report is materially misstated we are required to report this fact and the nature of
the misstatement.
Based on the Accounting Act, it is also our responsibility when reading the consolidated business report to
consider whether the consolidated business report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of
the Accounting Act and other relevant regulations, if any, and to express an opinion on this and on
whether the consolidated business report is consistent with the consolidated financial statements.
Because the Company’s transferable securities are admitted to trading on a regulated market of a Member
State of the European Economic Area, our opinion on the consolidated business report shall cover the
information prepared under Paragraphs e) and f) of Subsection (2) of Section 95/B, and state whether the
information referred to in Paragraphs a)-d), g) and h) of Subsection (2) of Section 95/B of the Accounting
Act has been provided.
As the Company is a public interest entity preparing consolidated financial statements and the conditions
in Paragraph a) and b) of Subsection (5) of Section 134 of the Accounting Act are met at the balance sheet
date, the Company shall publish a non-financial statement required by Section 95/C in it’s consolidated
business report relating to the companies included in the consolidation. In this respect, we shall state
whether the consolidated business report includes the non-financial statement required by Section 95/C,
and Subsection (5) of Section 134 of the Accounting Act.
In our opinion, the 2018 consolidated business report of the Group, also including the information
prepared under Paragraphs e) and f) of Subsection (2) of Section 95/B, is consistent with the 201X
consolidated financial statements in all material respects, and the consolidated business report has been
prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Accounting Act. As there is no other regulation
prescribing further requirements for the consolidated business report, we do not express an opinion in this
respect.

We are not aware of any other material inconsistency or material misstatement in the consolidated
business report and therefore we have nothing to report in this respect.
We state that the information referred to in Paragraphs a)-d), g) and h) of Subsection (2) of Section 95/B
of the Accounting Act has been provided. The consolidated business report includes the non-financial
statement required by Section 95/C, and Subsection (5) of Section 134 of the Accounting Act.
Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the consolidated
financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU and to
prepare the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the supplementary requirements of the
Accounting Act relevant for the consolidated annual financial statements prepared in accordance with
IFRS as adopted by the EU, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting in the consolidated financial statements unless management either
intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HNSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with HNSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
·

·

·

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.
Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

·

·

·

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in
the consolidated financial statements and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.
Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that gives a true and fair view.
Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit.
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.
From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
We were first appointed as auditors of the Group on 31 May 1996. Our appointment has been renewed by
shareholder resolution on 24 April 2017 representing a total period of uninterrupted engagement
appointment of 23 years.
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Balázs Mészáros.
Budapest, 27 February 2019

Balázs Mészáros
Partner
Statutory auditor
Licence number: 005589
PricewaterhouseCoopers Könyvvizsgáló Kft.
1055 Budapest, Bajcsy-Zsilinszky út 78.
Licence Number: 001464
Translation note:
Our report has been prepared in Hungarian and in English. In all matters of interpretation of information, views or opinions, the
Hungarian version of our report takes precedence over the English version.
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1. GENERAL SECTION

1.1. Company profile
Company name:

Budapesti Elektromos Művek Nyilvánosan Működő
Részvénytársaság
(hereinafter referred to as the Company)

Short name of the Company:

ELMŰ Nyrt.

Registered office:

1132 Budapest, Váci út 72-74.

Electronic contact details of the Company:

www.elmu.hu
cegkapuelmu@elmu.hu

Court of Registration:

Metropolitan Court as Court of Registration
Company Registration Number: 01-10-041827
Date of incorporation: 16.04.1993

Registered capital of the company:

60 744 410 000 HUF

Board of Directors:

Dr. Marie-Theres Thiell

(chair)

Krisztina Horváth
László Koncz
Franz Josef Retzer
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Supervisory Board:

Karl Kraus

(chair)

Dr. Gábor Szörényi
Dr. Martin Konermann
Marc Wolpensinger
Lajos Németh
Dr. Miklós Dobák
Dr. Csaba Székely
Katalin Szuromi-Máté
József Dénes

Auditing Committee:

Dr. Martin Konermann
Marc Wolpensinger
József Dénes

Name of authorized representatives:

Dr. Marie-Theres Thiell
Krisztina Horváth
László Koncz
Franz Josef Retzer

Accountancy services provided by:

Budapesti Elektromos Művek Nyrt.
Józsefné Wilk
Chartered accountant
Registration area: IFRS, business
Registration number: 123887

Auditor:

The Company has an auditing obligation; its auditor
being:
PricewaterhouseCoopers Könyvvizsgáló Kft.
Balázs Mészáros, chamber membership number:
005589
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Budapesti Elektromos Művek Nyrt. has long traditions in the economic life of Hungary.
Following the political and economic changes of the 80’s and 90’s, the Company was established by the
transformation of Budapesti Elektromos Művek Vállalat on 31 December 1991. After privatization the
Company became part of the stakeholders of the RWE AG and EnBW AG companies. Corporate form of
the organization: "Public limited-liability company".
The main decision-making body of the Company is the General Meeting, its governing and control
bodies are the Board of Directors of four members, and the Supervisory Board of nine members.
According to Paragraph (1) of Section 3:291. of the new Civil Code (hereinafter: Ptk.) , there is an
Auditing Committee operating at the Company, its members are elected by the General Meeting from
among the independent members of the Supervisory Board.
The ELMŰ Group (hereinafter: Group) consists of Budapesti Elektromos Művek Nyrt. as the parent
company, ELMŰ DSO Holding Kft., ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiaszolgáltató Zrt., ENTÁR Kft., ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ
Solutions Kft., and RWE Energie S.R.L. (which was sold on 31.08.2018.) as direct subsidiaries, ELMŰ
Hálózati Kft., as an indirect subsidiary, ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Ügyfélszolgálati Kft. as a jointly controlled
undertaking and the jointly managed entities: ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiakereskedő Kft., ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Telco
Kft. (formerly: ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Hálózati Szolgáltató Kft.) and Budapesti Dísz- és Közvilágítási Kft.
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Shareholders and the ratio of their shares

31.12.2018
Shareholder's name
Number owned

31.12.2017

Ownership
ratio (%)

Number owned

Ownership
ratio (%)

innogy International Participations N.V.

3 356 432

55,25

3 356 432

55,25

EnBW Trust e.V.

1 515 000

24,94

1 515 000

24,94

EnBW Energie Baden-Württemberg AG

140 421

2,31

140 421

2,31

Magyar Villamos Művek Zrt.

949 278

15,63

949 278

15,63

Magyar Nemzeti Vagyonkezelő Zrt.
Nemzeti Eszközgazdálkodási Zrt.
Account managers
Domestic legal entities
Foreign legal entities
Local governments
Non-registered category (unspecified category)

1
14 399
10

0,24
-

17 665

0,29

1
14 399
10

0,24
-

19 135

0,32

973

0,02

1 257

0,02

16 470

0,27

16 470

0,27

381

0,01

200

57 893

0,95

56 342

0,93

Foreign private individuals

1 835

0,03

1 807

0,03

Accounts not specified

3 683

0,06

3 689

0,06

6 074 441

100,00

6 074 441

100,00

Domestic private individuals

Total

-

ELMŰ Nyrt. is controlled directly by International Participations N. V., who own 55,25 % of the shares of
the Company, while the final controlling owner of the Company is the RWE AG.
The core capital of ELMŰ Nyrt. consists of 6 074 441 ordinary shares of 10 000 HUF nominal value each,
which provide equal membership rights. The shares are quoted at the Budapest Stock Exchange in
category 'B'.
The consolidated annual financial statements of the mother company, i.e. RWE AG (45128 Essen,
Opernplatz 1) and its subsidiary, i.e. innogy SE, compiled based on the International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) accepted by the European Union (EU) is available for inspection at the www.rwe.com
website.
The consolidated financial report was approved by the Board of Directors on February 27, 2019.
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Scope of activities

Parent Company

The tasks of the ELMŰ Nyrt. include the control of its financial investments within its direct interest.
Some of the activities of the ELMŰ Nyrt. are related to the strategy, or the control of the Group, such as
company development, legal and property management, controlling and internal control.
The other group of activities include the internal services, which are provided by the organizational
units, in addition to the ELMŰ Nyrt., to all members of the Group. Falling here are among others, the
human resource management and development, finance and accounting, purchasing and logistics, IT
and facility management.
There are some activities, which are carried out in the name of and on behalf of the Group, by the units
operating within the organization of the ELMŰ Nyrt., mainly for third parties. These are, for example
communication, marketing and environment protection.
ELMŰ Nyrt. is committed to the use of clean energy resources and to decentralized energy production.
It is dealing with the design and construction of photovoltaic systems on the national level.
The Company has a pioneer role in spreading emission-free urban traffic as part of which it promotes
using electric cars for which it offers a wide selection of electric charging equipment for private and
public use. The Company is also involved in the building of an electric car charging network by taking
into consideration the customers’ unique and customizable needs and requirements.
The Company lays special emphasis on allowing its customers to choose from the largest number of
innovative services. It offers customer-friendly solutions for a careless everyday life, be it the most
frequently occurring emergencies in households, realizable savings or comfort services.
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Business stakes owned by the Group

Name of company

Ownership rates in
the interests
owned by the

Non-controlling
interests
Principal activities of the companies

Remarks

u.v.l.

Method of the
consolidation

2018 (%) 2017 (%) 2018 (%) 2017 (%)
ELMŰ DSO Holding Kft.
ELMŰ Hálózati Kft.
RWE Energy Srl.
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiatároló Kft.
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Solution Kft.
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiaszolgáltató Zrt.
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Ügyfélszolgálati Kft.
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Telco Kft.
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiakereskedő Kft.
Budapesti Dísz- és Közvilágítási Kft.

100
100

100
100

Asset management
Forwarding electricity using the distribution grid

-

100

Free market electricity trading

100
100

-

Construction of energy storage plant
Technical consulting

70
70

70
70

65
50
50

65
50
50

30

30

Universal service
Customer service, telecenter
Services related to public lighting
Free market electricity trading
Operating the public and decorative lighting of the capital

Sold in the reporting
period

Direct subsidiary
Indirect subsidiary
Direct subsidiary
Direct subsidiary
Direct subsidiary
Direct subsidiary
Jointly controlled
Jointly managed
Jointly managed
Jointly managed

Market situation
The Hungarian free market of electric energy underwent significant changes. The players of the
electricity market are already offering their services over the country’s entire territory, meaning that the
former regional type of customer relations seem to weaken, and the majority of service providers are
beginning to offer a portfolio of at least two products - electricity and natural gas- to customers. The
intensifying competition also magnifies the effect of operational costs, therefore the road to
competitive advantage for suppliers lies in improving their operational efficiency, therefore the Group
must also react to these changes.
ELMŰ Nyrt. on January 1, 2017 transferred with a final effect its free-market energy trading activities to
its jointly managed company. The Company expects to see a simplified flow of operational processes
and a significant improvement in terms of flexibility and efficiency, as a result of the above changes.
In the previous years, the new business unit of the Company entered the market under the brand name
enHome and is providing decentralized energy solutions. The enHome provides revolutionary new
turnkey solutions to the efficient local satisfaction of energy demands. Our portfolio includes all of the
most popular and most effective equipment available today: solar cells, solar collectors, heat pumps and
condensing boilers, which can be ordered both in packages or according to any tailor-made demands.
With the expertise of our partners we provide full services mainly to our household customers. This
includes energetics audit, selection, design, and, if necessary, authorization of the system and
maintenance, solving any financing difficulties, if needed, as well as energy supply contract, if necessary.
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Changes in the regulatory environment

ELMŰ Nyrt. beginning from 2017 it prepares its annual report according to the International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS). ELMŰ Nyrt. took 2018 advantage of the possibility provided for by the law
and based on its application submitted simultaneously with its corporate income tax return it regards
the corporate income tax calculated based on the accounting profit/loss without the IFRS’s as the tax
payable. ELMŰ Nyrt. establishes the accounting for income taxes based on results according to IFRS
beginning from 2019 on, considering Chapter II/A of Law LXXXI of 1996 on Corporate Tax and Dividend
Tax. Due to the special provisions applied, the adjusted IFRS corporate tax base does not differ a lot
from the tax base calculated in accordance with the effective Hungarian accounting rules. This change
will have no impact on the profit/loss of the Group.
The transition has no impact on deferred tax, as the tax base of ELMŰ Nyrt. is negative according to
both reconciliation and the Company does not state deferred tax receivable for the deferred loss, as it
expects not to earn such taxable profit against which the interim difference could be recognized.
In accordance with the accounting policy of ELMŰ Nyrt., the amount based on the profit liable to tax is
presented in the profit and loss statement as income tax, while the amount exceeded this is recognized
as an operating expense type of tax.

The statutory provisions concerning the corporate tax, the income tax of energy supplier, the local
business tax and the tax on public utility lines for 2019 did not changed compared to the same for 2018.

The effects of the profit tax and the changes in tax rules are detailed in sections 6.7 and 7.9.
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2. MAIN CHARACTERISTICS OF THE ACCOUNTING POLICY

2.1. The method applied in working out the reports

The consolidated annual report was prepared according to the International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS), approved by the European Union.
The Group applies in case of non-financial instruments the purchase value model, in case of financial
instruments the depreciated purchasing value model, except to financial instruments and liabilities
valued against the profit at fair value – these items comprise derivative transactions.
The Group valued the available-for-sale financial assets shown in the base period over other
comprehensive income on fair value.
The assets kept for sale must be valued at the lower of the book value or the fair value net of the costs
of sale on the basis of the IRFS 5 standard.
The Group applies the accounting principles and techniques laid out herein consistently throughout
each year and each one of its member companies.

2.2. Activities being and already discontinued
Accordingly to IFRS 5 standard the activities of RWE Energy S.R.L., the subsidiary in Romania are to be
qualified as discontinued activities, since on 31.08.2018 the separate geographical segments has been
sold. Pursuant to the standard, the financial effects of the discontinued activities must be presented,
clearly separating it from the profit earned from continued activities. The Group presents the effects of
the sale on the profit among the Other operating expenditures.
The income and expenses arising from the activities being discontinued, the profit or loss before taxes,
and any deferred tax recognized are described in detail in section 7.10. Activities discontinued.
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2.3. New accounting standards and IFRIC interpretations

Standards, amendments and interpretations not yet in effect, whose early application has not been
chosen by the Group.

IFRS 6, Leases (issued in January 2016, applicable through IASB to business years starting on or after
January 1, 2019. The EU has accepted the standard).

Nature of the change:
This new standard regulates the recognition, valuation, presentation and the related disclosure of
leases. In case of all leases, a lessee obtains the right-of-use of the given asset, and - if the price is to be
settled later - a lease liability is also to be recognized. Accordingly, IFRS 16 terminates the separation of
operative and financial leases required by IAS 17, and prescribes a universal model for the lessee. Lessor
shall present all leases (unless they are of low value) exceeding the period of 12 months both as asset
and liability in the balance sheet, and the depreciation of the asset and the interest costs of the liability
separately in the profit and loss statement. Accounting rules of lessors are basically the same based on
IFRS 16 as the requirements of IAS 17. Therefore, lessors shall continue to separate operative and
financial leases, and to account for their effects in a different way.

Introduction of the impacts:
During last year the Group established a project team, for evaluating the leasing contracts of the Group,
by the new accounting treatment required by IFRS 16. The new standard will primarily affect the
operative leasing contracts of the Group.
On the balancing date, the Group has 411 MHUF non-cancellable operative leasing liabilities. Of this
amount, around 18 MHUF are related to leases involving small amounts, which continue to be
recognized on straight line basis as costs, even after the application of the standard, in the Group’s
profit and loss statement.
On the remainder of the leasing contracts, the Group is expected to recognize 393 MHUF of right-of-use
assets (calculated by taking into account the related accrual portfolio of December 31, 2018), 393 MHUF
of leasing liabilities as of January 1, 2019. The net stock of current assets and short-term liabilities will
decrease by 67 MHUF, thanks to recognizing the part of leasing liabilities, due for payment in less than
one year's time, among the short-term liabilities.
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The Group expects that net earnings will decrease in the order of 39 MHUF, resulting from applying the
new standard in the business year of 2019.
Next year the operating cash flow will increase in the order of 67 MHUF, while financing cash flow will
decrease by the same amount, as the payments of the capital part of the leasing, will be recognized by
the Group in the latter category.
Lessors’ activities of the Group are non-significant therefore the new standard shall not have a material
effect on the financial statements.

The new standard will be applied from the required date of January 1, 2019, and the Group makes use
of the possibility of modified retrospective application, thus the comparison period, preceding the time
of application, will not be published again.

The Group makes use of the possibility given by IFRS Paragraph 16.5 and will not recognize right-of-use
assets and leasing liabilities among the small value and short-term leases.
In the case of leases, qualified as operating leases, based on the IAS 17 standard, at the time IFRS 16 is
first applied, the Group measures the right-of-use asset at a value equal to that of the leasing liability,
adjusted in the balance sheet with the value of the pre-paid or accrued leasing fees, related to the given
leasing, recognized directly before the time of the first application.

The opinion of the Group is that there is no such new/modified standard, which is not yet in force, and
its expected impact could be significant on the financial statements of the Company.

2.4. Consolidation

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are enterprises (including special purpose vehicles as well) whose financial and operational
policies can be controlled by ELMŰ Nyrt. directly or indirectly through other member companies, in
most cases by possessing more than half of the voting shares/shareholdings. From the business year
starting on January 1, 2014, the rules of the IFRS 10 must be applied in assessing whether the parent
company is controlling another enterprise. According to that standard an investor has control over the
company in which it has invested, if it is entitled to the variable positive income generated by the latter
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or is obliged to bear the consequences of the latter’s negative income and is capable of controlling the
latter’s operation by its decisions (power) thereby influencing such incomes (returns).
The subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date when the controlling right is passed onto the
parent company. From the date when the parent company’s control over the entity is discontinued and
its subsidiary no longer qualifies as an associate undertaking (IAS 28) or a joint arrangement (IFRS 11),
the Group states the value of the remaining shareholding at fair value and then until 31.12.2017.
measures it on the basis of IAS 39 and beginning from 01.01.2018 on the basis of IFRS 9.
The value of the subsidiaries acquired by the Group is stated on the basis of the acquisition method.
IFRS 3 makes it possible to measure any non-controlling shareholding in the acquired company at fair
value. In this case the acquired enterprise’s goodwill is booked in full, instead of the recognition of the
part of the goodwill falling on the acquiring enterprise (“full goodwill” option). This option may be
applied on a case-by-case basis.
A decrease in the shareholding in a subsidiary investment resulting in loss of control entails revaluation
of the fair value of the remaining shareholding. The difference between the fair value and the carrying
value is the gain or loss resulting from the derecognition of the shareholding and is to be recognized in
the profit/loss-line.
The costs relating to an acquisition must be booked as costs separately from the acquisition and must
not be taken into account in the goodwill. Intra-company (intra-group) transactions and balances as well
as unrealized profits on transactions between companies belonging to the Group must be eliminated
from the consolidated report. Unrealized losses must not be contained in a report either, unless the
impairment of the transferred asset can be proven in the course of the transaction.
Intra-group transactions between the continuing operations and the discontinued/discontinuing
operations are eliminated without correction of the earnings coming from continuing and
discontinued/discontinuing operations.
The accounting policies applied by the subsidiaries are as and when necessary, adjusted in order to align
them to the accounting policy and principles applied by the Group.

Associated enterprises

An associated enterprise is a – not fully consolidated – business entity where the parent company or any
of its subsidiaries has a significant influence on but not controlling the business entity’s business and
financial policy. Significant influence is the capability of participating in the process of adopting decisions
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concerning the financial and/or operational policies of an investment without controlling or exercising
joint control over such policies. If the parent company has – directly or indirectly (e.g. through its
subsidiaries) has at least 20 % but not more than 50 % of the voting rights in another enterprise, it is
assumed to have a significant influence over the latter, unless otherwise provided in a separate
agreement.
Associated enterprises are recognized in the books at their purchasing value, and thereafter they are
treated with the equity method (the equity method is described in detail in the section about the jointly
managed companies).
Joint arrangements (organizations)

The Group has been applying the IFRS 11 "Joint Arrangements" standard since January 1, 2014.

Jointly controlled operation

A jointly controlled operation is a common agreement, where the parties that have joint control of the
arrangement, have rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to that joint operation.
In the course of a jointly controlled operation the assets (jointly possessed assets), the liabilities (jointly
undertaken liabilities), returns (returns generated from the sale of the products produced by the joint
arrangement, realized by the joint operation), along with the relevant expenditures are recognized,
including the relevant proportions of the expenditures entailed by the jointly undertaken agreements.
The part of the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenditures of an enterprise engaged in jointly
controlled operations, falling on the ELMŰ Group, are consolidated with the relevant lines of the
consolidated report.
When the Group transfers or sells assets to the enterprise engaged in jointly controlled operations any
gain or loss – as befits the content of the transaction – may only be recognized in proportion to the
interests of the other parties in the enterprise engaged in jointly controlled operations. When the Group
purchases assets from the enterprise engaged in jointly controlled operations, the Group settles with
the enterprise engaged in jointly controlled operations the part of the profit/loss incurred by it as a
result of the transaction when the asset is sold on to a third party.
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Jointly controlled entities

If the Company has rights concerning the net assets of the joint arrangement, the arrangement qualifies
as a jointly controlled entity. Jointly controlled entities are jointly managed by the co-owners.
A jointly controlled entity is stated in the books originally at cost. Later on they are recognized on the
basis of the equity method. The Group’s share in the profits/losses of its jointly controlled enterprises
are stated in the period’s profit/loss (Share in the profits/losses of enterprises whose accounting
treatment is based on the equity method). The accumulated amount of the movements is recognized
against the investment’s carrying value.
Dividends received from an investment reduces its carrying value. The carrying value may need to be
adjusted also as a result of any change in the investor’s proportionate share in the investment when the
changes in the investment’s shareholders' equity are not recognized in the period’s profit/loss. Such
changes may result from revaluation of real estates, machines, equipment or investments, or from
adjustments to differences in the course of business combinations. Such changes are booked direly to
the capital of the investor.
If the loss (negative result) falling on the Group exceeds the value of the share, liability is recognized to
the extent of the negative result, if the Group is obliged to make a capital injection.
The unrealized profit relating to transactions between the Company and its jointly controlled entity
must be eliminated from the report, in proportion to the Company’s share in the jointly controlled
entity. A report may only include unrealized losses if the impairment of the transferred asset can be
proven in the course of the transaction. The accounting policies applied by jointly controlled entities
have been adjusted in order to align them to the accounting policy and principles applied by the Group.

2.5. Segment reporting

In the IFRS 8 Operating segments standard a management approach is applied, i.e. the management
segments must be identified from the aspect of decision makers and other responsible individuals.
A business entity’s main operational decision maker is the board of management, the Board of
Directors.

Further information to the reports in pursuance of the segments please find in section 5.
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2.6. Conversion of amounts in foreign currencies

Functional and disclosure currency

The items contained in the financial reports of the various enterprises belonging to the Group are
denominated in the currencies used in respective primary economic environment of the enterprise
concerned (functional currency). The figures stated in the consolidated financial statement are
denominated in Hungarian forints, which is, at the same time, the parent company’s functional and
disclosure currency.

Transaction and balances

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are converted into the functional currency at the
exchange rates in effect on the date of performance.
The exchange rate gain or loss relating to loans, cash or short-term investments that can be quickly
liquidated is stated in the period’s profit/loss among the incomes or expenditures of financial
transactions.
Any other exchange rate gain or loss is stated in the period’s profit/loss among other operational
expenditures or revenues.
Effects of changes in changes in foreign exchange rates (IAS 21)

A business entity engaged in operations abroad measures its transactions in a currency other than its
functional currency, or it performs operations abroad or invests in a foreign enterprise. The IAS 21
standard distinguishes between monetary and non-monetary instruments. Monetary elements must be
measured at the exchange rate in effect on the day of the cut-off date of the financial statements, while
non-monetary elements must be measured at historical rates. The Group revaluated the values of the
Romanian subsidiary (RWE Energie S.R.L.) accounted in a different functional currency (RON) in the
reporting period as on the date of sale and in the base period with regard to the balance sheet date.
Using the closing rate method, the Group recalculates items comprising comprehensive profit/loss at
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average rates, while it recalculates its shareholders' equity elements and the assets and liabilities at
closing rates to the disclosure currency of the consolidated report.

2.7. Property, plant and equipment
Tangible assets properly put into use or service (land, site, building, other engineering structure,
technical facility, machine, vehicle, operating and business equipment, other equipment, concessions,
licences and similar rights relating to real estates) that are used for the purposes of the operations of
the Group on a permanent basis, directly or indirectly, must be stated in the Property, plant and
equipment line of the balance sheet. Fixed investments must also be stated in this line.
Cost value
The (procurement, production) cost value of an asset is the sum of the items individually associated with
the asset concerned, incurred in the interest of the procurement, construction and putting into service
(commissioning) up to the date of commissioning or placement in warehouse. The cost (procurement)
value comprises the purchase price decreased by discounts, increased by extra charges, along with the
considerations and fees of transport, loading, foundation building, fitting, commissioning and
intermediating activities incurred in relation to the procurement, commissioning and/or placement in
warehouse of the asset, the commission agent’s fee, the taxes and tax-type charges as well as customs
charges relating to procurement, plus costs of borrowing relating to the asset. Any cost incurred at a
later stage may only be recognized as part of the asset’s carrying value or entered in the records as a
separate asset, if it is likely that the given item will provide prospective economic benefits for the Group
and the cost of the item can be reliably established.
Any and all other repair and maintenance costs relating to the asset are recognized when they are
incurred, in the period’s profit/loss.
Valuation after recording in the books
The Group applies the cost model in the valuation of property, plant and equipment.
The value of property, plant and equipment is stated in the annual balance sheet at cost, net of the
depreciation write-off, and impairment loss (and increased, as appropriate, by reversal of any
recognized impairment loss). Main part of property, plant and equipment consists of network
equipment, and, given their nature, the Group calculates with zero residual value for these devices. The
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residual value of other devices is not significant practically, therefore we calculate with zero residual
value in case of these devices, too. The residual value of the assets and their useful life is reviewed and
modified, if necessary, on every balance sheet cut-off date.
In the recognition of the depreciation write-off of the property, plant and equipment the Group applies
– by determining the useful life – the linear accounting method, based on the following estimated useful
lives of the various asset categories:

Buildings (long lifetime)

50 years

Buildings (medium lifetime)

33,3 years

Buildings (short lifetime)

16,7 years

Other constructions (tunnel, underground construction, power plant channels) 25 years
Other constructions (off-network pipelines)

20 years

Other constructions (own intraplant public lighting equipments)

25 years

Other constructions (construction and paving of squares, yards, paths)

16,7 years

Other constructions (construction of parks, sport fields, recreation areas)

50 years

Network

12,5 to 25 years

Transformer station, substation

14,3 to 20 years

Machines, equipments, fixtures

1 to 10 years

Information technical devices

3 years

Vehicles

5 years

(*) Lifetime:
Long lifetime: concrete and reinforced concrete, burnt brick, stone and steel structure, sub-station
buildings, office buildings
Medium lifetime: light steel and other metal structure, bauxite concrete cinder block structure e.g.
warehouse buildings and garages
Short lifetime: plank structure (wooden houses)

Buildings, other engineering structures and networks are presented in the assets analysis in subsection
6.1 in the real estates-column, the transformer stations and substations are presented in its plant,
machinery and vehicles column, the IT assets are stated in the other equipment, tools, fixtures and
fittings, vehicles column. Machines, equipment, fittings and vehicles may, depending on the operations
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they are used in, are to be found in the plant, machinery and vehicles column and/or the other
equipment, tools, fixtures and fittings, vehicles column.
The depreciation of an asset starts when the asset is available for use at the site and in the position in
which it can be operated in the way desired by management. The depreciation of assets ends at the
earlier of the following times: recategorization of the asset to assets held for sale or the derecognition of
the asset from the books.
The value of a major renewal or refurbishment is recognized during the remaining useful lifetimes of the
assets concerned or during the period lasting up to the date of the next major renewal or
refurbishment, whichever time frame is shorter.
The Group recognizes no depreciation for fixed investments and pieces of land.
If an asset’s book value is higher than its recoverable value, the asset’s value is immediately written off
to equal the recoverable value.
In the course of the sale of property, plant and equipment a difference may result in comparison to its
book value. The resulting net gain or net loss must be booked as other operating income or other
operating expenditure. For further information, refer to sections 7.2. and 7.6.

2.8. Investment properties

Investment properties are plots of land, and/or buildings or parts of them, which are kept by the Group
for rent and/or equity increase.
The following properties are not regarded as investment property:
-

properties rented out for own employees,

-

properties in own use, e.g. buildings or land held on stock, or

-

properties under development as ordered by third parties or on which investments are
performed (even if these are intended to be leased out later on or serve the purpose of value
increase). The IAS 16 standard applies to such properties until the construction is completed.

The value limit of the “insignificant (negligible) part” has been set by the Group as a value under 5 %. In
case of own use exceeding 5 % the head of the Accounting Department and the head of the Property
Management Department jointly determine whether or not in a specific case own use is regarded as
negligible.
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The investment properties shall be measured initially at their cost value. The cost value and useful
lifetime of investment properties are identical to what is described in section 2.7.

The Group measures its investment properties based on the cost value model following initial
recognition and applies this policy to all of its investment properties.
Since for the evaluation of the investment properties, the Group employs the cost model of the
standard, the transfers between investment properties, owner-occupied properties and inventories, do
not change the book value of the transferred property, and do not change the purchasing value of the
property concerned, for evaluation or disclosure purposes.
Transfers to and from the investment properties can only be carried out, if there is a change in the use
of that particular property.
The Group does no classify its buildings out of operation (use) among its investment properties, as those
are not held for capital increase or lease but for the purpose of sale.
If the criteria specified in the IFRS 5 standard are met, these properties are classified among the fixed
assets held for sale; if the criteria are not met these are stated in the Property, plant and equipment
balance sheet line, in accordance with the requirements of the IAS 16 standard.

2.9. Intangible assets

Non-monetary assets without physical manifestation (concessions, licenses and similar rights,
intellectual products) must be recognized in the balance sheet among intangible assets.
Registration of the intangible assets in the balance sheet takes place at purchase value decreased by the
depreciation write-off, and increased by the reversal of the accounted depreciation, if necessary.
In accordance with the accounting policy of the Group, intangible assets are evaluated by considering
zero residual value. The useful lifetime of an intangible asset varies between 3 and 5 years, determined
on a case-by-case basis, in line with the contracts concerned. The Group reviews and, if necessary,
modifies the useful life on every balance sheet cut-off date.

a) Rights with an asset value
Concessions, licenses and similar rights are stated at cost. Their value is reduced in the books by the
amount of the depreciation write-off calculated on the basis of the prescribed useful life.
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b) Intellectual product
Purchased software products and licenses are capitalized on the basis of the incurred procurement
and installation costs. The cost is written off over the asset’s useful lifetime.

2.10. Impairment loss of property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets

In the case of intangible assets whose useful lifetime cannot be determined at the time of procurement
depreciation is assessed once a year.
In the case of the assets for which depreciation is to be recognized the impairment loss is assessed and
recognized when changes in the relevant circumstances and/or certain events indicate that the asset’s
book value may not be possible to recover.
The amount by which the asset’s book value exceeds its recoverable value is recognized as impairment
loss. The recoverable value is the higher of the asset’s fair value net of the costs of its sale and its value
in use.
In estimating the amount of the impairment loss assets are grouped at the lowest possible level where
there are separately identifiable cash-flows (where they qualify as cash generating units). The Group
considers the operating segment before aggregation as specified under IFRS 8 to be the smallest cash
generating unit.
On every balance sheet cut-off date, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that the loss
resulting from impairment loss recognized for the given asset in earlier years no longer exists or has
decreased. In the case of any such indication, the Group assesses the asset’s recoverable value. The loss
owing to impairment loss may be reversed up to a maximum of the recognized impairment loss, taking
into account the ordinary depreciation to be recognized for the given period.
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2.11. Financial assets
2.11.1. Categorization of financial assets beginning from 01.01.2018 according to the applied
accounting policy (IFRS 9 standard)
The Group applies the IFRS 9 standard on the financial instruments coming into force on January 1,
2018, which covers the regulation of classification, valuation and derecognition rules of financial
instruments, and introduced a new impairment model.

At initial recognition financial instruments are classified either as a debt instrument or an equity
instrument.
Financial assets falling in debt instruments shall be classified in the following group, regardless of their
recognition in the balance of a current asset or an invested asset:
a) Financial Assets Valued at Depreciated Purchasing Value
b) Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income - FVTOCI),
c) Fair Value through Profit and Loss - FVTPL.
As per the IFRS 9 standard, the Group evaluates their financial assets at depreciated purchasing value or
at fair value, taking into account the specific features of the business model and the a contractual cash
flows.

Financial assets have to be valued at depreciated purchasing value, if:
•

it is kept by the Group based on a business model, which is aimed at the collection of
contractual cash flows, and

•

based on the contract, the financial asset generates cash flows which are due at specified
times and are related exclusively with capital repayments and interest payments.

A financial asset shall be evaluated as a Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income (FVTOCI), if:
•

it is kept by the Group based on a business model, which is aimed at the collection of
contractual cash flows or the sale of assets, and

•

based on the contract, the financial asset generates cash flows which are due at specified
times and are related exclusively with capital repayments and interest payments.
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Financial assets not fulfilling the requirements of the first two categories, shall be valued as Fair Value
through Profit and Loss (FVTPL).

Display

As per the IFRS 9 standard, financial instruments have to be recognized in the balance sheet if the
contractual terms of the instrument become operator-specific. The Group recognizes financial
instruments in their report using settlement date accounting, applied to all categories.

Registration

A financial instrument is valued at initial recognition:
•

at Fair Value, which is typically the transaction price of the instrument,

•

adjusted by the amount of directly related transaction costs, except assets valued at Fair
Value through Profit and Loss (FVTPL), where these costs do not change the initial value.

Subsequent evaluation

Interest income from financial instruments measured at amortized cost (calculated using the effective
interest rate) is accounted in the financial results. The Group recognizes the result of derecognition,
expected credit losses and profit/loss resulting from currency rates, in operating earnings.

During the evaluation of other Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income financial assets, the
recognition of differences resulting from the changes of the fair value, are accounted through other
comprehensive revenues. At derecognition, the Group transfers profit/loss accumulated in other
comprehensive revenues, to earnings. Interest income from financial instruments (calculated using the
effective interest rate) is recognized in financial results, while expected credit losses and profit/loss
resulting from currency rates, are recognized in operating earnings.

In the case of Fair Value through Profit and Loss financial assets, the Group recognizes the incurring
profits/losses both during subsequent measurement and derecognition, as other operating revenues or
other operating expenditures.
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Equity instruments contain other (below 20 %) permanent investments, which, according to the IFRS 9
standard, are valued as Fair Value through Profit and Loss (FVTPL) financial assets, or as Fair Value
through Other Comprehensive Income (FVTOCI) financial assets, depending on the choice of the
accounting policy.
The Group does not have any other equities below 20 %, thus no equity instruments are recognized
based on the IFRS 9 standard.
The categorization of the Group’s financial instruments is presented in the following table:

MHUF
Categories

Balance sheet line
Derivative financial receivables

Available-for-sale financial assets
Other financial instruments

Defined according to
IAS 39
Financial assets recognised
at real value through the
profit

Defined according to IFRS 9

Opening balance according to IAS39

Financial assets recognised at real value
through the profit

Opening balance according to IFRS 9

-

Available-for-sale financial
assets

Loans

Change

-

-

68

-

-

68

-

68
68

11

11

-

44 392

44 599

207

68

68

-

2 218

2 218

-

223

223

-

11 213

11 213

-

29 185

29 185

-

1 142

1 142

-

Financial assets
Financial assets recognised at
amortised cost

Receivables from buyers, affiliated and
other parties representing shares
Loans and receivables
Other receivables

Liquid assets

Derivative financial liabilities

Financial liabilities
recognised at real value
through the profit

Financial liabilities recognised at real
value through the profit

Credits received
Financial liabilities Liabilities to buyers, affiliated and
other parties representing shares

Financial commitments
recognised at depreciated
cost price

Financial commitments recognised at
depreciated cost price

Other liabilities

MHUF
Financial assets 31.12.2018
Other financial instruments
Derivatives (receivables)
Loans
Accounts receivable and receivables from affiliated parties
Other financial liabilities
Liquid assets
Total

Financial assets recognised
at amortised costs
65
8
47 494
124
708
48 399

Financial assets recognised
at real value through the
profit
-

Financial assets recognised
at real value through the
profit
188
-

-
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Total
65
188
8
47 494
124
708
48 587
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MHUF
Financial assets 31.12.2017
Available-for-sale financial assets
Derivatives receivable
Loans
Accounts receivable and receivables from affiliated parties
Other financial liabilities
Liquid assets
Total

Loans and receivables

Available-for-sale financial
assets

11
44 392
68
2 218

68
-

46 689

68

Financial assets recognised
at real value through the
profit
454
-

Total
68
454
11
44 392
68
2 218

454

47 211

MHUF
Financial liabilities 31.12.2018
Credits received and leasing
Accounts payable and payables to affiliated parties
Other financial liabilities
Derivatives (liabilities)
Total

Financial commitments
valued at depreciated cost
price
6 774
24 720
1 353
-

Financial liabilities
recognised at real value
through the profit
297

32 847

Total
6 774
24 720
1 353
297

297

33 144
MHUF

Financial liabilities 31.12.2017
Credits received and leasing
Accounts payable and payables to affiliated parties
Other financial liabilities
Derivatives (liabilities)
Total

Financial commitments
valued at depreciated cost
price
11 213
29 185
1 142
-

Financial liabilities
recognised at real value
through the profit
223

41 540

223

Total
11 213
29 185
1 142
223
41 763

Impact of financial assets and financial liabilities, registered at their amortized purchasing value, on
profits, is shown in Section 7.8. Profit/loss on financial transactions.
The impact on profit of the financial assets recognized at real value through the profit, are shown in
section 7.2. Other operating revenues.
The book values of the financial instruments not measured at the fair value model, are approximately
equal to their fair value.

2.11.2. Categorization of financial assets until 31.12.2017 according to the applied accounting
policy (IAS 39 standard)
Among financial instruments the Group distinguishes the following categories:
a) financial assets recognized at fair value through the profit,
b) loans and receivables,
c) financial assets available-for-sale,
d) securities held until expiry.
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Financial instruments are categorized on the basis of the purpose for which they have been purchased.
The categorization of financial instruments is determined by the Group upon entering each item in the
balance sheet and then it is reviewed/revised upon every balance sheet cut-off date.
The Group had no securities held to maturity neither in 2017 nor in 2016.

a) Financial assets recognized at fair value through the profit
This category comprises two sub-categories: financial instruments held for trading, and financial
instruments recognized originally at fair value, through profits and losses. Financial instruments
purchased by the Group primarily for sale in the short-term or those categorized as such, are assigned
by the Group to this category.
Derivative transactions also fall in this category. Derivative transactions are financial instruments whose
value is driven by changes in the value of some underlying factor (interest rate, exchange rate, price,
index). Such transactions require no, or little initial investment and their accounting treatment and
financial settlement take place at later dates. Derivative transactions are instruments held for trading,
unless they meet the criteria for hedge accounting because in that case they qualify as hedging
transactions. Derivative financial instruments are stated at fair value both initially and later on. Changes
in the fair value of a financial derivative instrument must be booked to operational
income/expenditures if the hedging relationship not recognized in the book is required to secure an
operational transaction from an economic aspect.
ELMŰ Nyrt. and ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiakereskedő Kft. are the only two members of the Group dealing in
derivative transactions.

b) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are financial instruments with definite or definable repayment schemes, not listed
on any active market. They come into being when the Group provides directly cash, goods or services
for a buyer without intending to trade in the receivable. They are stated among current assets, except
for those with more than 12 months to maturity after the balance sheet cut-off date – those are stated
among fixed assets. Short term loans are stated in the balance sheet among other receivables.

c) Financial assets available-for-sale
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Marketable financial instruments include non-derivative financial instruments that had been originally
categorized by the Group as such or that had not been assigned to any other category. They are stated
among invested assets, except for those intended to be sold by the Group within 12 months of the
balance sheet cut-off date.
Presentation in the balance sheet and valuation

Financial instruments purchased or sold are recognized upon the conclusion of the contract, at the time
when the Group assumes commitment to purchase or sell the asset concerned. The cost value of a
financial instrument is the fair value increased by the transaction costs. This applies to all financial
instruments that are recognized not through the profit/loss, at fair value. A financial instrument is
derecognized from the books when the right to the cash-flow from that particular financial instrument
lapses or is transferred and the Group has waived in essence all rights and benefits relating to its
ownership.
The book value of marketable financial instruments and financial instruments recognized at fair value
through the profit/loss are recognized at fair value. Loans and receivables are booked at the amortized
cost value, applying the effective interest method. Within the category of financial instruments stated at
fair value through the profit/loss the unrealized profits and losses stemming from changes in the fair
value are recognized in the period in which they are incurred, in the period’s profit/loss. Non-realized
profits and losses resulting from changes in the fair value of the equity instruments assigned to
marketable financial instruments are recognized in the other comprehensive income.
If securities assigned to marketable financial instruments are sold or they suffer an impairment loss, the
accumulated fair value adjustments are recognized in the period’s profit/loss in the profit from financial
transactions. Interests on marketable financial instruments are recognized in the line of income from
financial transactions.

Recognition of impairment loss on financial instruments

On every balance sheet cut-off date, the Group reviews whether there is any objective proof of any
impairment loss in any financial instrument or group of assets.
The impairment loss of accounts receivable is booked when there is objective proof according to which
the Group is not going to be able to realize all of the due amounts in accordance with the original terms
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and conditions applying to the receivables. The amount to be written off equals the difference between
the asset’s book value and the present value of the estimated future cash income discounted by the
actual interest rate. The impairment loss is calculated on the basis of past experience and the
receivable’s book value is reduced by that amount. The amount of the impairment loss is recognized in
the period’s profit/loss among other operating expenditures.
On the basis of its Accounting Policy, the Group accounting of the loss of value of customers is broken
down to categories of buyers of electricity, payers of system usage fee, other buyers, and litigious.
Within buyers of electricity, the Group accounts for loss of value on commercial consumers, based on
individual rating, and for the other consumers, based on group rating.
On every balance sheet cut-off date, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that the loss
resulting from impairment loss recognized for the given asset in earlier years no longer exists or has
decreased. In the case of any such indication, the Group assesses the asset’s recoverable value. Any loss
stemming from impairment loss may be reversed up to the original value of the asset, reducing the
amount of other operating expenditures in the period’s profit/loss.

2.12. Inventories
Inventories are assets
-

purchased by the Company for sale as part of its regular business operation,

-

to be used in the course of the production of output to be sold or the provision of services to be
provided (materials).

Inventories must be valued at the lower of the procurement cost (prime cost) and the net realizable
value. The net realizable value is the selling price estimated on the basis of the regular business
circumstances, net of the direct costs of sale. The procurement cost is calculated on the basis of the
weighted average price method.

2.13. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and liquid assets comprise cash and sight deposits. Cash and liquid assets are valued at amortized
cost. For further details on cash and liquid assets see section 6.8.
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2.14. Shareholders' equity

The Company’s share capital is comprised of common shares carrying identical membership rights. The
Group does not have any repurchased shares.

2.15. Loans received

When entered in the balance sheet loans are stated at fair value, net of the transaction costs incurred.
Loans borrowed are subsequently stated in the balance sheet at amortized cost, any difference between
the amount received (without the transaction costs) and the amount to be repaid is booked in the
period’s profit/loss statement during the term of the loan, on the basis of the effective interest method.
Loans borrowed are stated in the balance sheet among short-term liabilities, unless the Group has an
unconditional right to postpone the settlement of the liability to beyond 12 months after the balance
sheet cut-off date.

2.16. Accounts payable

The Group states accounts payable at their depreciated purchasing value. This amount is the market
value of the consideration payable in the future for goods or services received.

2.17. Contract assets and liabilities
If either party to fulfill its contractual obligations, the Group sets a contractual asset or liability in their
financial statements, depending on the relation between the performance of the company and the
payment of the customer.

It is a contractual obligation of the Group to deliver those goods or services to the customer, which are
paid for by the customer. At the payment, or when payments fall due, the Group has to recognize the
contract as a contractual obligation, if
·

the customer pays the remuneration, or

·

the Group has an unconditional right to the amount of consideration, before Group would
deliver the goods or services to the customer.
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Grants related to assets are recognized among contractual obligations by the Group, then during the
expected lifetime of the consumption location, those are accounted among the net sales revenues in the
profit of the period. Network development contribution is a “during a period” type of settlement
agreement, since the customer receives and consumes the benefits resulting from the delivery of the
Group at the same time.
In case the repayment of contributions becomes binding, the amount to be repaid has to be accounted
against the still outstanding contractual obligation.

2.18. Current year’s corporate income tax payable and deferred tax

The Group states the corporate income tax, the Robin Hood tax, the local business tax and the
innovation contribution among income taxes, supplemented with the change in the deferred taxes in
the year concerned.
Both the local business tax and the innovation contribution are based on a particular net profit, i.e. the
sales revenue net of certain eligible costs.
The deferred tax is booked in relation to the temporary differences between the amount of assets and
liabilities taken into account as tax base and their amounts stated in the consolidated financial
statement, on the basis of the so-called liability method. No deferred tax is recognized if it is related to
the initial recognition of an asset or liability – other than in the case of a business combination – having
impact on neither the accounting nor the taxable profit at the time of the given transaction. The rate of
the deferred tax is determined on the basis of the tax rates enshrined in law by the balance sheet cut-off
date and at the time of the realization of the related deferred tax receivable those (and the acts of law)
expected to be in effect at the time of the settlement of the deferred tax liability.
Deferred tax receivables are recognized in amounts to the extent of which future taxable income is
considered to be likely to be available, to which temporary differences can be charged.
Deferred tax accounts payable is recognized on account of transitional differences incurred in relation to
investments in jointly controlled entities and associates, except where the scheduling of the offsetting of
the transitional difference is controlled by the Group and it is likely that the transitional difference is not
going to turn around in the foreseeable future. The balance of the deferred tax receivable and liability is
stated in the balance sheet if the receivable and liability are both related to the same tax authority and
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are incurred on the part of the same company. The effects of the profit tax and the changes in tax rules
are detailed in sections 6.4. and 7.9.

2.19. Employee benefits
Employee benefits include:
·

wages, salaries and the related social security contributions, pensions and severance payments

·

short-term paid leaves of absence (holiday, sick leave) when the leaves of absence are expected
to materialize within 12 months of the end of the period of the work performed by the
employee,

·

profit sharing, bonuses, if they are payable within 12 months from the end of the period of work

·

non-monetary benefits (cut-rate employee tariff) for existing employees.

·

Loans provided for employees.

2.20. Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are allocated for personnel type expenditure, future liabilities (e.g. services under the
guarantee obligation, liquidated damages), legal obligations arising from litigation, if
-

the Group has legal or implied obligation in the wake of past events,

-

it is more likely than not that there will be a need for withdrawing funds to settle an obligation
or liability,

-

the amount can be reliably estimated.

The provisions are measured at the present value of the amount of the expenditures estimated by the
management to be necessary for the settlement of obligations and liabilities outstanding on the balance
sheet effective date. The discount rate applied before taxes in calculating the present value is set in view
of the current market estimates of the time value of money and the risks associated with the given
obligation or liability. In the case of multiple similar obligations/liabilities the likelihood of the need for
withdrawing funds for settling the obligations/liabilities is established on the basis of the entirety of the
obligations/liabilities comprised in that particular category.
Provisions are formed even when in the case of any one of the obligations/liabilities assigned to the
given category there is only a low probability for the need to withdraw funds to arise.
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For obligations/liabilities relating to court cases below a threshold of 5 MHUF the Group forms collective
provisions. on the basis of the aggregate value of the obligations/liabilities the Group may have to face.
For obligations/liabilities relating to court cases, involving amounts exceeding 5 MHUF the Group forms
provisions on a case-by-case basis (on the basis of the documentations of each such case). The allocation
and use of personal type specific provisions is recognized in the profit/loss for the period among staff
costs. (Further information is available in section 7.5.) The forming and utilizing of other specific
provisions is recognized in the profit/loss for the period among other operational expenditures. (Further
information is available in chapter 7.6.)

2.21. Accounting of revenues

Concerning the sales revenue, the Group employs the IFRS 15 standard, which is in force since January 1,
2018, and which covers the valuation and accounting rules for sales revenues. The introduction of the
standard did not bring about any significant change in the recognition of the sales revenues.

Sales revenues - as part of the core activity - are to be recognized at the fair value of the consideration
received for the product sold or service provided and it must not include the value added tax and other
taxes related to sales, as well as the discounts or rebates given. In the case of deferred payment, the
item concerned must be booked at present value. The condition of the recognition of a revenue item is
that it should be related to product sale or service provision accepted and recognized by the buyer.
The sales revenue line of the comprehensive income statement contains the value net of the energy tax.

The Group formed the following groups:
•

contracts related to the sale of electricity,

•

contracts related to the system usage fee,

•

contracts related to the connection fee,

•

contracts related to other services
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Display of the income:
The standard IFRS 15 defines the usage of a 5-step model for the displaying of the revenue:
1.

Identifying of the contract made with customers

2.

Identifying of the performance obligation

3.

Determining of the transaction price

4.

Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations from the contract

5.

Recognizing of the income

The Group has applied the 5-step model described in the standard in all contract groups. In the
identification of the contracts no such factor has arisen that would affect the further steps of the
evaluation.

The bulk of the category of other sales revenue is made up of the following regularly incurred sales
revenues:
·

The electricity sales revenue comprises the amounts stated in the invoices issued on the basis of
meter readings or flat rate tariff agreements along with the accrued and deferred amount of the
price of electricity already consumed but not yet billed. The accrual and estimation of sales of
electric energy for the full range of consumers, is done monthly based on the accrual data of the
previous month, the current year forecast, and the annual reading, using a model created on the
experience from previous years. The calculated sales to be accrued with the model, is regularly
controlled by the Financial Sales Directorate, using different statistical and other methods.

·

The system usage fee revenue comprises the fee paid by consumers outside the Group invoiced
for the consumption of electricity through the Group’s network.
System usage fees purchased from network licensee companies outside of the Group (3rd
parties) and reinvoiced to electricity consumers are recognized in net amount in the
consolidated IFRS report of the Group, as this activity of the Group shall be considered as
agency activity. Under the currently applicable standard, legislation and business model, the
Group uses the net accounting method with regard to the recognition of system usage fees.

·

Connection fee revenues
The consumers have to pay a network development contribution when they are connected to
the electric energy network, which is based on the actual cost of the extension of the network.
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Performance obligation is a connection service, which the customer enjoys benefits of, over the
whole expected lifetime. Therefore, the amount originating from the connection fees is accrued,
and is only accounted as a revenue during the useful life of the affected consumption location.
The accrued connection fees are shown in the balance sheet on the line of contractual liabilities.
By paying the connection fee, the consumer obtains the right to use the available power at the
given connection point, and this right is transferable along with the consumption location. As per
the regulation 76/2011. XII. 21.) NFM, the connection fees (formerly: network development
contributions) are used by ELMŰ Hálózati Kft. for network development projects.

·

The bulk of the category of other sales revenue is made up of the following regularly booked
sales revenues:
Sales revenue from the sale of materials and goods are recognized when the Group delivers the
materials and goods to the buyer, the buyer has accepted the delivered product and the
recoverability of the receivable relating to the goods is duly assured. It is among sales revenues
from the sale of materials and goods is that the Group recognizes, inter alia, its sales revenues
from the sale of materials and meters sold to subcontractors and used for network construction.
Sales revenues from the sale of (for example accounting, financial) services are recognized during
the period in which the services are rendered. The value of such services is established on the
basis of the ratio of the actually provided service to the entirety of services to be provided, such
as for instance the sales revenue charged to jointly controlled entities. Within the Enhome
activity, installation, network connection and licensing of solar powered, household size small
power stations for customers, which, at the discretion of the Company, is considered as
integrated service, thus one performance obligation. In case of the contracts of Enhome the
Group accounts the revenues within the performance period.

The Group did not identify such contractual costs which would be necessary to capitalize according to
the provisions of IFRS 15.

2.22. Accounting of leases
a) When the Group is the lessee
Operative leasing arrangements under which the lessor retains practically all risks and benefits
relating to ownership are booked among operative leasing transactions. The payments made on
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operating lease transactions are recognized as costs, charging the profit of the reporting period, for
the rental duration, on a linear basis.
b) When the Group is the lessor
Assets leased to third parties under operative leasing transactions are stated in the balance sheet
among property, plant and equipment. Depreciation is debited to the value of such assets during
their useful lifetimes, in accordance with the methods applied to similar property, plant and
equipment owned by the Group. The rental incomes are recognized on a linear basis, charging the
profit of the reporting period, for the period of renting.

Upon concluding a contract, the Group checks whether the contract concerned comprises embedded
leasing. If it does, it is recognized by applying the accounting policy pertaining to the recognition of
leasing transactions. Detailed information concerning leasing figures will be introduced in section 6.1.

2.23. Distribution of the dividend
The dividend payable to the Group’s shareholders is stated in the financial statement among the
liabilities during the period when the dividend payment was approved by the Group’s general meeting.

2.24. Earnings per share
The amount of the earnings per common share (EPS ratio) is calculated as a ratio of the net earnings to
be allocated to the owners of common shares in the parent company, to the weighted average number
of outstanding common shares. The basic indicator and the diluted indicator are the same with regard
to all of the periods presented, therefore the Group shows the EPS ratio in a single line in the
consolidated report.

2.25. Invested assets held for sale
Pursuant to the IFRS 5 standard the category of assets held for sale comprises assets whose book value
is expected to be recovered more likely from their sale than through continued use. Moreover, it must
be proven that such assets are highly likely to be sold and that they are in a state ready to be sold.
The likelihood of their sale is determined by the following criteria (to be met simultaneously):
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·

decision makers of the required levels are committed to the plan of selling the asset concerned,

·

the buyer of the asset or group of assets to be disposed is being actively sought for,

·

the entity sets a selling price that is reasonable in view of the asset’s value,

·

the transaction may be closed within one year of categorization.

The one year period for closure runs from the categorization of the asset as an asset held for sale.
The assets kept for sale must be valued at the lower of the book value or the fair value net of the costs
of sale on the basis of the IRFS 5 standard.

2.26. Business combinations between entities under joint control

Business combinations between entities under joint control, recognized by the predecessor accounting
method. According to this method, the Group's consolidated annual report is compiled like the entities
would have been united from the beginning of the earliest period presented, or later, when the entities
came under common control.
The organization, which consolidates the reports according to IFRS, of the subsidiaries, is considered the
highest level of reporting, joint control entity. For the ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ group of companies, the entity
having joint control (management) is RWE AG. In the business combinations between entities under
joint control, the assets and liabilities of the accepting entity, are stated by the book values of the
transferring entity. The difference between the net book value of the transferring entity (including the
goodwill related to the original acquisition) and the consideration of the acquisition, shall be recognized
in the consolidated annual report of the accepting entity, within shareholders' equity as the correction
of Retained earnings and Non-controlling interests.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1. Financial risk factors

The operations of the Group entail a variety of different financial risks. The two most important risks
include the exchange rate risk and the credit risk.
The tasks of risk management are carried out by the Risk Management Committee whose powers are
currently restricted to the management of the market and credit risks. The Board of Directors prescribes
regulations concerning comprehensive risk management and it sets out corporate guidelines for specific
areas, such as the credit and market risks.
The Group’s comprehensive risk management policy is aimed at minimizing potential negative impacts
affecting the Group’s financial performance.

a) Market risk

Foreign exchange rate risk
The foreign exchange rate risk of the Group primarily comes from the fact that both ELMŰ Nyrt. and
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiakereskedő Kft. are trading electricity with foreign currency partners as well.
The Risk Management Committee is responsible for the periodical monitoring of the net positions
denominated in EUR and must report to the Management and the Board of Directors, offering
suitable hedging strategies when necessary.
The Board of Directors’ risk management policy prescribes in the case of EUR positions the use of
derivative financial instruments (futures transactions) with regard to 100 % of the transactions
expected to be made during the next 12-month period whereby the exchange rate risk can be
hedged in economic terms. From the aspect of accounting, however, these transactions do not meet
the requirements of hedge accounting.
These provisions apply to the transactions affected by ELMŰ Nyrt. and ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ
Energiakereskedő Kft. The other enterprises involved in the Group’s consolidated annual report do
not carry material exchange rate risks.
The book value of the Group’s financial instruments denominated in foreign currency at the balance
sheet effective date (before revaluation) was as follows:
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MHUF
Financial assets in foreign currency

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

2
377

133
517

379

650

Trade accounts receivables
Deposit account in foreign currency
Total

MHUF
Financial liabilities in foreign currency

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

383
340

787
-

723

787

Trade accounts payable
Deposit account in foreign currency
Total

Other price risks
The Group had no material investments in as at December 31, 2018 and 2017 that could be affected
by risk variables such as exchange prices or other indicators.

Interest rate risk
The amount of loans provided and the interest earning financial instruments is very small therefore
on the assets’ side there is a low interest rate risk to be taken care of. The Group relies partly on
loan financing where variable interest rates apply, therefore it is exposed to unfavorable impacts
resulting from fluctuations in the interest rates. The Risk Management Committee regularly reviews
the interest levels of the external loans.

b) Credit risk

The Group is exposed to a significant level of credit risks. Guidelines have been introduced to ensure
that business (buying and selling) is done preferably only with parties with adequate credit rating,
except for the client portfolio supplied by the Group as a Universal Service Provider because it is
under an obligation to supply such customers pursuant to the provisions of the Electricity Act (VET).
Regulations have been introduced to limit the amount of credit that may be provided to any partner
without the Management’s consent, based on the decision adopted at the meeting of the Credit
Risk Committee. Such limit is determined by the business partner’s size and credit rating. When this
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limit is exceeded, the deal may only be affected if secured by a bank guarantee or other collateral
providing adequate security.
The Group has no buyer with a balance exceeding 10 % of the total accounts receivable.
In respect of the credit risk, the Group’s maximum exposure was as follows in the individual asset
categories:
MHUF
Maximum exposure to credit risk by class of assets
Non-current assets
Loans
Trade accounts receivables and other receivables
Current assets
Trade accounts receivables and other receivables
Trade accounts receivables due to 3rd parties
Receivables due to affiliates
Receivables due to other investments
Financial derivatives (financial assets)
Other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Deposit account for settlements and deposit account in foreign currency
Other liquid assets
Income tax receivables
Assets held for sale

Notes

7.6.
6.7.
6.7.1., 6.7.2.
6.7.1., 6.7.2., 7.12.
6.7.1.
6.7.4.
6.7.3.
6.9.
6.9.
6.9.

Total on-balance sheet exposure

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

30
8
22
52 284
49 685
23 167
24 316
11
188
2 003
708
688
20
1 891
187

64
11
53
56 304
50 958
28 943
15 438
11
402
6 164
2 218
2 205
13
3 128
-

52 501

56 368

c) Liquidity risk
In the context of prudent liquidity management an adequate portfolio of cash and liquid assets and
financing guaranteed by credit facilities must be in place and the Company must be capable of
closing its market positions. The Group regularly communicates with its account keeping banks to
ensure adequate access to credit on a continuous basis in the various currencies specified in the
contracts. The sum of short-term liabilities exceeds that of current assets, financed by the Group by
the cash and liquid assets originating from its operations.
For the rating of banks associated with the Group see section 6.8. Cash and liquid assets.

3.2. Capital management
Equity capital of the Group consists of the values of subscribed capital, accumulated earnings, other
comprehensive income and not-controlling interest. The Group’s share capital (subscribed capital) is
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comprised of common shares carrying identical membership rights. The accumulated earnings are made
up of the sum of the Group’s retained earnings and its profit for the year.

The capital structure (gearing ratio) of the Group is illustrated by the figures presented in the table
below:
MHUF
Description
Long-term liabilities
Short-term liabilities
Liquid assets

2018

-

Liabilities (net debt)

30 308
42 411
708

2017
16 099
60 792
2 218

-

72 011

74 673

Equity capital

175 116

168 514

Capital leverage ratio (indebtedness ratio)

41%

44%

In the course of the management of the capital structure the Group strives to maintain its continuous
operability, to generate benefits for the shareholders and other stakeholders, and to maintain an
optimum capital structure to minimize capital costs.
To attain the above, the Group optimizes the financing requirements of the individual member
companies and the Group through a cash pool system. The limit amounts required for financing are
determined by ELMŰ Nyrt. in view of the Group’s business plan. In view of the shareholders' equity
ratios the financing limits provide for a suitable supply of external capital. Regular – daily, weekly,
monthly – monitoring of cash-flow data and the liquidity projections derived from current actual data
provide a suitable control mechanism for keeping to the financing limits. The amounts of the net
financial assets derived from rolling projections are quarterly adjusted to the actual and the annual
projection figures as well to ensure wide consistency across data.
The Group’s members comply with and meet the requirements laid down in the applicable statutory
regulations.

Supplementary annex to the 2018 Consolidated Annual Report ELMŰ Nyrt.

41

3.3. Fair value estimates
The IFRS 13 defines fair value as the price that would be paid for an asset in an arm’s length transaction
between market participants or would be paid for the transfer of a liability at the time of valuation.
Fair value is analyzed through the following levels of the hierarchy:
The level 1 inputs are listed (unmodified) prices in the active markets of assets or liabilities to which the
business entity has access at the time of valuation.
The level 2 inputs are inputs outside the listed prices, observed directly or indirectly in regard to the
evaluation of the given asset or liability.
The level 3 inputs are such inputs that cannot be observed during the evaluation of the asset or liability.
The fair value of the financial instruments not traded in active market trade is determined by the Group
applying a variety of measurement techniques. The Group applies a variety of methods and uses
different assumptions in accordance with the market conditions prevailing on the given balance sheet
cut-off date. The Group establishes the fair value of the futures foreign exchange transactions on the
basis of the futures market foreign exchange rates in effect on the given balance sheet cut-off date.
In the previous business year the 68 MHUF of additional payment to cover losses of ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Telco
Kft., was recognized on the financial assets available-for-sale balance sheet line, as per the regulations of
the IAS 39 standard.
In the reporting period the Group re-classified this item to a credit instrument, based on the IFRS 9
standard, since ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Telco Kft. has to repay the additional payment. According to the “business
model” evaluation required by the IFRS 9, the goal of ELMŰ Nyrt. is to get the amount of additional
payment back, thus it is not their intent to sell this financial instrument. The amount of additional
payment does not contain any cash flows, which are not considered as equity or interest payments.
Therefore, according to the IFRS 9, it is recognized among other financial instruments accounted at
amortized cost.
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MHUF
Levels of financial instruments as per real valuation
31.12.2018

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Directly observable market price

Derived market price

Directly not observable market
price

Derivatives receivable
Total

Total

-

188

-

188

-

188

-

188
MHUF

Levels of financial instruments as per real valuation
31.12.2017

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Directly observable market price

Derived market price

Directly not observable market
price

Derivatives receivable
Available-for-sale financial assets
Total

Total

-

454
-

68

454
68

-

454

68

522
MHUF

Levels of financial instruments as per real valuation
31.12.2018

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Directly observable market price

Derived market price

Directly not observable market
price

Derivative liabilities
Total

Total

-

297

-

297

-

297

-

297
MHUF

Levels of financial instruments as per real valuation
31.12.2017
Derivative liabilities
Total

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Directly observable market price

Derived market price

Directly not observable market
price

Total

-

223

-

223

-

223

-

223

According to IFRS 5, in the case of assets held for sale, the book value is lower, than the real value
decreased by selling costs, thus for these assets, no further disclosure is necessary concerning the real
evaluation.
In case of those instruments valuated not on their fair value in the balance sheet, for which the fair
value has to be published, the fair value is presented in the supplementary notes, at the comments
detailing the balance sheet line.
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3.4. Analysis and management of financial risks
MANAGEMENT AND ANALYSIS OF MARKET RISK

Foreign exchange rate risk

The foreign exchange rate risk of the Group primarily comes from the fact that both ELMŰ Nyrt. and
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiakereskedő Kft. are trading electricity with foreign currency partners as well. In
order to cover the EUR rate changes, the Group enters into foreign exchange forward transactions, thus
the effect of these changes of foreign currencies on their equity capital or profit, is not significant,
concerning the Group. The 2018 and 2017 report of the Group is only subject to risks resulting from
changing foreign currency exchange rates in relation to foreign currency monetary items.
Should the EUR currency exchange rate change by 5 % on December 31, 2018 (should it have changed
on December 31, 2017), this would influence the equity capital and profit of the Group by the following
combined effects:
-

in case the EUR currency rate decreased, the equity capital and profit of the Group would increase
by 17 MHUF (in 2017 it would have increased by 9 MHUF) in the period,

-

in case the EUR currency exchange rate increased, the equity capital and profit of the Group would
decrease by 17 MHUF (in 2017 it would have decreased by 9 MHUF as well) in the period.

On December 31, 2018, the book value of receivables in foreign currency on the balancing date (before
revaluation) was 2 433 876 HUF, equaling to 7 535 EUR (in 2017 it was 98 346 048 HUF, equaling to
313 040,21 EUR ). Should the EUR currency exchange rate change by 5 % on December 31, 2018 (should
it have changed on December 31, 2017), this would influence the equity capital and profit of the Group
by the following combined effects:
-

the decrease of EUR currency rate has no significant effect on the equity capital and profit of the
Group (in 2017 it would have decreased by 5 MHUF) in the period,

-

the increase of EUR currency rate has no significant effect on the equity capital and profit of the
Group (in 2017 it would have increased by 5 MHUF) in the period,

The change of current account in foreign currency would influence the equity capital and profit of the
Group by 2 MHUF (it would have had the same 25 MHUF influence in 2017) in the same direction.
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As of December 31, 2018, the foreign currency trade payables book value is 384 292 669 HUF, which
equals 1 189 802,14 EUR on the balance sheet date (before revaluation). Should the EUR currency
exchange rate change by 5 % on December 31, 2017, this would influence the equity capital and profit of
the Group by the following combined effects in the period:
-

in case the EUR currency rate decreased, the equity capital and profit of the Group would increase
by 19 MHUF in the period,

-

in case the EUR currency rate increased, the equity capital and profit of the Group would decrease
by 19 MHUF in the period.

Other price risks

ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiakereskedő Kft., which is included in the consolidation by the equity method, is a
jointly owned company with ÉMÁSZ Nyrt., by an ownership proportion of 50 % to 50 %, thus the other
pricing risks emerging from its operations, are borne collectively by ELMŰ Nyrt. and ÉMÁSZ Nyrt.
Interest rate risk

The 2018 and 2017 annual reports of the Group are only subject to risks resulting from changing interest
rates in relation with borrowed loans, since they do not have any other significant interest-bearing
financial instruments. The following sensitivity analysis shows the effects of the changes in market
interest rates.

Classification of loans by maturity
Between 1-30 days
Between 31-90 days
Between 91-360 days
Between 1-5 years

Total short-term loans

Amount (MHUF)
2 690
4 084
6 774

31.12.2018
Sensitivity analysis of the 3% changes of interest
Number of days until Counted interest until Effect of 300 basis
Effect of 300 basis
expiration date
expiration date
point growth
point decrease
89
4
24
244
11
98
15
122
-

The basis of the interest rate sensitivity analysis is the 2018 year-end closing value of the short-term
loans, which is 6 774 MHUF (closing value in 2017 was 11 213 MHUF).
Should the interest rate of the bank overdrafts and revolving credits per contract change by 300 basis
points on December 31, 2018 (should it have changed by 300 basis points on December 31, 2017), this
would influence the profit of the Group in the period:
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-

in case the interest rate decreased, the change would not change the periodical profit of the Group
(in 2017 it would have increased by 143 MHUF), since the average BUBOR value in 2018 is also
presently zero,

-

in case the interest rate increased, the periodical profit of the Group would decrease by 107 MHUF
(in 2017 it would have decreased by 143 MHUF).

MANAGEMENT AND ANALYSIS OF CREDIT RISK

Categorization of impairment losses in case of financial assets beginning from 01.01.2018 according to
the applied accounting policy (IFRS 9 standard)

Based on the IFRS 9 standard, the Group requires separate disclosure of expected credit losses for the
impairment on financial assets. Credit losses are the discounted present value of the difference between
cash flows due under the contract, and the expected cash flows (cash shortfalls), where the interest rate
– by default – is the original effective interest rate of the instrument. The Group estimates the expected
cash flows, taking all provisions of the contract underlying the instrument into account, for the entire
lifetime (duration). It takes into account the cash flow modifying effect of prepayments, extensions,
related options and other factors. The expected credit losses, recognized as an impairment, is the
weighted average of the above credit losses, where weighting is done by the risk of non-performance of
contractual payments.

The Group accounts impairment of financial assets valued at depreciated purchasing value (increase of
impairment) and decrease of impairment (reversal), against the earnings.
Impairment of debt instruments valued at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) has
to be accounted against the earnings, but the asset is still valued at fair value, so the accounted loss
does not modify the book value (accounting of the impairment means transfer between other
comprehensive income and earnings). Decrease of impairment (reversal) is also accounted between the
earnings and other comprehensive income.
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Simplified approach:

Simplified approach does not require tracking of changing credit risks but requires the recognition of
credit losses for the entire duration. The Group applies the simplified approximation for accounts
receivable (see incomes) containing a significant financing component or for contractual assets.
For the accounts receivable and contractual assets, not containing a significant financing component,
the simplified impairment loss model shall be applied: impairment should be accounted based on credit
loss over the entire duration, from the recognition of the asset, consequently it is not necessary to
ascertain, whether the credit risk significantly increased or not.

For the accounts receivable and contractual assets of the financial asset, the Group employs the
simplified approach, while for the other financial instruments, the general approach is applied.

The application of the new standard did not change significantly the financial statements of the Group.
Cumulative effects of the transition are presented as the adjustment of the opening balance of equity, in
the first year of application. Comparative data from the previous year have not been changed.

The table below shows the impact of impairment change accounted according to the IFRS 9 standard,
and the impact of the IFRS 15 standard, on certain items of the consolidated IFRS balance sheet,
compared to the opening value.
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MHUF
Adjustment for first- Adjustment for firsttime adoption of
time adoption of
IFRS 9
IFRS 15

01.01.2018

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET / ASSETS

Non-current assets
Investments in associated and jointly controlled companies
Available-for-sale financial assets
Other financial instruments
Deferred tax asset
Current assets
Trade accounts receivables and other receivables
Total assets

186 654
3 449
68
15 262
58 969
51 165

-

245 623

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET / EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Subscribed capital
Retained earnings
Total other comprehensive income
Non controlling interests
Non-current liabilities
Long-term contract liabilities
Other non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Short-term contract liabilities
Trade accounts payables and other liabilities
Total equity and liabilities

31.12.2017

11
22
68
68
11
207
207

-

186 643
3 427
68
15 273
58 762
50 958

218

-

245 405

Adjustment for first- Adjustment for firsttime adoption of
time adoption of
IFRS 9
IFRS 15

01.01.2018
168 732
60 744
107 472
33
483
16 099
15 925
123
60 792
11 900
37 169

218
189
29
-

245 623

218

-

-

31.12.2017

15 925
15 925
11 900
11 900

168 514
60 744
91 795
33
454
16 099
16 048
60 792
49 069

-

245 405

The development of impairment losses on receivables by customer groups is presented in the following
tables concerning the periods 01.01.2018. (adjusted opening) and 31.12.2018. (closing):
MHUF
31.12.2018
Electricity buyers
Within the payment deadline
Between 1 - 30 days
Between 31 - 60 days
Between 61 - 90 days
Between 91 - 120 days
Between 121 - 180 days
Between 181 - 360 days
Over 360 days
Due based on group rating, impaired total

Gross value
15 928
2 504
677
233
150
186
388
547
20 613

01.01.2018

Impairment rate (%)
0,26%
0,50%
2,92%
8,70%
20,43%
33,95%
51,59%
85,97%
-

Impairment (-)

Gross value

40
13
20
20
31
63
200
471

22 588
2 651
677
243
113
196
433
439

858

27 340

Impairment rate (%)
0,09%
0,46%
4,05%
10,53%
21,94%
35,17%
52,49%
88,41%

Impairment (-)
21
12
27
26
25
69
227
388

-

795

(*) The Group added the impact of the impairment allocated to the accrual of electric energy to the value of the current period in the value of 27 MHUF.
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MHUF
31.12.2018
Customers paying grid usage fee

Gross value

Within the payment deadline
Between 1 - 30 days
Between 31 - 60 days
Between 61 - 90 days
Between 91 - 120 days
Between 121 - 180 days
Between 181 - 360 days
Over 360 days

840
569
24
4
4
1
7
11

Due based on group rating, impaired total

01.01.2018

Impairment rate (%)

Impairment (-)

0,13%
2,14%
37,50%
72,70%
77,26%
79,47%
84,34%
89,70%

1 460

Gross value

1
12
9
3
3
1
6
10

923
532
28
3
0
3
5
3

45

1 497

Impairment rate (%)

Impairment (-)

0,07%
2,14%
37,50%
72,70%
N/A
79,47%
84,34%
89,70%

1
11
10
2
0
3
4
3
34

MHUF
31.12.2018
Other customers

Gross value

Within the payment deadline
Between 1 - 30 days
Between 31 - 60 days
Between 61 - 90 days
Between 91 - 120 days
Between 121 - 180 days
Between 181 - 360 days
Over 360 days

1 534
146
113
17
76
14
14
36

Due based on group rating, impaired total

01.01.2018

Impairment rate (%)

Impairment (-)

0,08%
0,14%
0,79%
2,05%
42,83%
5,69%
17,92%
74,00%

1 950

Gross value

1
0
1
0
32
1
3
27

803
98
14
21
3
7
36
25

65

1 007

Impairment rate (%)

Impairment (-)

0,29%
0,19%
2,36%
4,27%
11,45%
11,81%
20,09%
84,92%

3
0
0
1
0
1
7
22
34

MHUF
31.12.2018
Buyers under litigation

Gross value

Over 360 days

1 028

Due based on group rating, impaired total

Impairments with group rating, total

01.01.2018

Impairment rate (%)

Impairment (-)

89,06%

Gross value

Impairment rate (%)

Impairment (-)

916

1 936

91,27%

1 028

916

1 936

1 767
1 767

25 051

1 884

31 780

2 630

(*) The Group added the impact of the impairment allocated to the accrual of electric energy to the value of the current period in the value of 27 MHUF.

Impairment on trade receivables and the opening correction due to IFRS 9) are shown in the table
below:
MHUF
31.12.2018
Description

Electricity buyers

Opening value
Adjusted impairment (IFRS9)
Periodic growth
Periodic decrease
Closing value

-

Customers paying
grid usage fee

898

8

103

26

162

11

39
-

5

Total

Buyers under
litigation

Other customers

1 892
-

125

50

313

2 837
-

207
536

99

-

19

1 164

1 282

858

45

65

916

1 884
MHUF

31.12.2017
Description

Electricity buyers

Opening value

1 045

Periodic growth
Periodic decrease
Closing value

Customers paying grid
usage fee

Other customers

172

22

1 133

-

1 280

164

898

8

Buyers under
litigation

Total

5 647

6 886

17

276

1 426

-

4 031

5 475

39

1 892

2 837
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For the amount of receivables from affiliated undertakings and from companies of other ownership
relations, no impairment was accounted, since the Group is not exposed to significant risks from these
customers.
On every balance sheet cut-off date, the Group assesses the maturity of receivables from affiliated
undertakings and from companies of other ownership relations, which typically fall in the not due
category.

Based on the accounting policy, the Group broke down the accounting of the impairment of customers
to customers in USP, competitive market customers (electric energy), customers requiring secondary
activities related to the sale of electric energy, and other accounts receivable for activities not related to
electric energy, markets. With regard to accounts receivable under liquidation or litigation, the
depreciation rates are also calculated based the credit losses and return on investment rates based on
past experience by categories.
Reviewing the customer categories of the Group by credit risk the riskiest customers were the
customers under litigation.
Reviewing the payers of system usage fee and other buyer categories by credit risk it is considered, that
the level of mature, impaired accounts receivables is very low, thus the group was not facing a
significant risk with these customer categories.

Recognition of impairment loss on financial assets until 31.12.2017 according to the applied
accounting policy (IAS 39 standard)

On the basis of its Accounting Policy, the Group accounting of the loss of value of customers was broken
down to categories of buyers of electricity, payers of system usage fee, other buyers, and litigious.
Within buyers of electricity, the Group accounted for loss of value on commercial consumers, based on
individual rating, and for the other consumers, based on group rating.
Reviewing the customer categories of the Group by credit risk, based on the group rating the riskiest
customers were the value loss electricity customers and the customers under litigation.
Reviewing the payers of system usage fee and other buyer categories by credit risk it is considered, that
the level of mature, impaired accounts receivables is very low, thus the group was not facing a
significant risk with these customer categories.
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Accounts receivable and impairment based on group rating

Aging of past due but not impaired accounts receivable, with group rating, by customer group

Rating of the receivables from affiliated undertakings and other companies linked by virtue of
participating interests
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MANAGEMENT AND ANALYSIS OF LIQUIDITY RISK

The Group is managing the liquidity risk based on the expected expiry dates, by disclosing the analysis of
the expiry dates of both financial liabilities and trade payables. The expiry dates of liabilities are based
on contracts at the Group.
The financial liabilities of the Group are partially made up of the bank overdrafts and bank loans, which
are shown in the appropriate expiry category together with the interests to be paid until the date of
expiry, and without any discounts, in the table below.
MHUF
31.12.2018
Description
ING Bank N.V. Magyarországi Fióktelepe
CIB Bank Zrt.
Deutsche Bank AG Magyarországi Fióktelepe
Erste Bank Hungary Zrt.
MKB Bank Zrt.
OTP Bank Nyrt.

Between 1-30 days

Between 31-90
days

Between 91-360
days

Between 1-5 years

Total

-

655
2 039

342
1 653
1 982
118
-

-

342
1 653
1 982
655
118
2 039

Overdrafts and interest payable until maturity, total

-

2 694

4 095

-

6 789

Credit received and interest payable until maturity, total

-

2 694

4 095

-

6 789

24 720

-

-

-

24 720

Other financial liabilities

1 353

-

-

-

1 353

Total financial liabilities

26 073

2 694

4 095

-

32 862

80

482

3 335

4 099

7 996

Accounts payable and payables to affiliated parties

Parent company's guarantee

MHUF
31.12.2017
Description
ING Bank N.V. Magyarországi Fióktelepe
CIB Bank Zrt.
Deutsche Bank AG Magyarországi Fióktelepe
Erste Bank Hungary Zrt.
MKB Bank Zrt.
OTP Bank Nyrt.
BNP Paribas Magyarországi Fióktelepe

Between 1-30 days
-

Between 31-90
days

Between 91-360
days

Between 1-5 years

1 054
1 472
1 179
1 429
6 116
-

1 179
6 116
-

1 054
1 472
1 429
-

7 294

3 956

-

7 294

3 956

-

11 250

29 185

-

-

-

29 185

Other financial liabilities

1 142

-

-

-

1 142

Total financial liabilities

30 327

7 294

3 956

-

41 577

5 279

-

-

-

5 279

Overdrafts and interest payable until maturity, total
Credit received and interest payable until maturity, total
Accounts payable and payables to affiliated parties

Parent company's guarantee

Supplementary annex to the 2018 Consolidated Annual Report ELMŰ Nyrt.

-

Total

11 250

52

3.5. Matching net debts

The table below shows the matching and change of net debts:

Reconciliation of net debt
Opening balance 01.01.2017
Cash flow
Changes of exchanges rate difference
Closing balance 31.12.2017
Opening book value
Cash flows
Foreign exchange adjustments
Closing balance 31.12.2018

Liquid Assets

-

-

236
1 983
1
2 218
2 218
1 501
9

-

708
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Short-term debt and
leasing
5 187
6 026
11 213
11 213
4 472
33
6 774
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The applied estimates and judgments are under continuous assessment, and are built on past
experience and other factors, including the expectations on future events likely to occur, based on the
actual circumstances.

4.1. Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The Group formulates estimates and assumptions for the future. The resulting accounting estimates, by
their nature, rarely match the actual results. Those estimates and assumptions, which can cause the
significant changes in the balance values of assets and liabilities in the next fiscal year, are shown below.
Estimation of the useful life of assets
The Group estimates, how long the given property, plant and equipment can be used, and the useful life
of the asset is determined accordingly.
Practical experience shows that the actual useful life can be different from the estimated value.
On December 31, 2018, the net value of property, plant and equipment, properties kept as investments
and intangible assets combined, is 176 598 MHUF (167 811 MHUF on December 31, 2017), and the
depreciation accounted in the reporting period was 13 998 MHUF (13 787 MHUF in 2017). The
1 percentage point decrease of the depreciation rates would increase the profit by 4 233 MHUF (it could
have increased it by 4 049 MHUF in 2017). The network assets represent 93,39 % of the total stock of
tangible assets (in 2017 it was 92,91 %), their useful life cycle is 12,5 to 25 years. The Group controls the
estimated useful lives annually, and any changes result in the modification of the depreciation rates.
Estimates of realizable value of property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets
Upon signs of impairment, the Group reviews the realizable value of their property, plant and
equipment, and intangible assets. In the impairment testing the Group applies different estimation
methods concerning the future cash flow generated by the usage of the asset, among others taking the
cost of capital and the growth rate into account. The estimation was based on the current regulatory
environment, calculating on the continuous increase of the transferred quantities of electric energy,
while operational safety, maintenance and improvement of service indicators remain in focus,
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accompanied by the reconstruction development and maintenance program. Should the situation
change in the future, further impairment is accounted, or the previously accounted impairment is
reversed - partially or fully. In 2018 and 2017, no accounting of impairment was necessary.
Inspection of the recoverable value of the fixed assets
The recoverable value of the fixed assets is the higher one of the asset’s fair value decreased by the sale
costs and of its value in use. Based on this the Group applies the methodology of fair value fair value
decreased by the sale costs, to determine the recoverable value of their fixed assets. Since the fair value
decreased by the sale costs is above the book value of the assets, the Group did not recognize their
value in use. The fair value is determined by the Group using the discounted present value of the
expected future cash flow. In the calculation of the discount rate, the methodology of the weighted cost
of capital is used (applied discount rate is: 6,9 %, in 2017: 6,7 %). The future cash flow takes into account
the known changes of the market and regulation environment, the performance of the Group in the
previous year, and further the mid-range and long-term plans approved by the Board of Directors of the
Group, which envisage cost reductions.
Due to a potential increase of the capital cost by 1 percentage point, depreciation above the plan should
be accounted to the asset value in the report of the ELMŰ Hálózati Kft. as per the Act C of 2000 on
Accounting, and as a consequence the balance of deferred tax receivables in the IFRS report would
decrease by 3 532 MHUF and the tax expenditure would increase by the same amount.
Deferred tax assets
A total of 17 312 MHUF have been recognized among deferred tax assets as there is a discrepancy
between the tax base (that matches the book value of the annual report of the ELMŰ Hálózati Kft. as per
the Act C of 2000 on Accounting) and the value of grid assets in the IFRS report. For the expectedly
recoverable difference a deferred tax asset has been recognized in accordance with IAS 12.
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Regulatory and legal changes
In the calculation of the profitability of the fixed assets, the Group made the estimation, that there will
be no further regulatory, legal and taxation changes, which would adversely affect the cash flow of the
Group.
Long-term tax policy
In the calculation of the profitability of the fixed assets, the Group made the estimation, that in the long
run, there will be movements of the taxation system towards the sector neutrality.
Should this not materialize, accounting of impairment was still unnecessary on the network assets.
However, should the above change not materialize, it would influence the balance of the deferred taxes
(decreasing it by 9 066 MHUF), while tax expenses would increase by the same amount. This is because
a total of 17 312 MHUF have been recognized among deferred tax assets as there is a discrepancy
between the tax base (that matches the book value of the annual report as per the Act C of 2000 on
Accounting) and the value of grid assets in the IFRS report.
Accounting of provisions
The analyses and estimates are prepared jointly by the Group and their legal advisors, in order to
determine the probability, timing and amount of outflow of resources. The items arising in relation with
environment protection, cannot be allocated to any given asset, and cannot be planned upfront at the
installation of assets. Therefore, these are accounted as costs in the year of the pollution, rather than in
the value of the property, plant and equipment. The estimated costs – which the payments are probable
for – are accounted among the provisions in the financial statements of the Group. The actual
expenditure can differ from the amount accounted as a provision, because of the changing legal norms,
the development of the technology for environmental restoration, or the changing costs covered by
third parties. If the actual amount of these liabilities differs from the provision created, then the
difference has to be accounted in the profit of the period. In 2018 the Group created provisions for
annual leave, agreed wages, for expected liabilities and lawsuits, in a total amount of 727 MHUF. In
2017 the Group created provisions for annual leave, agreed wages, for expected liabilities and lawsuits,
in a total amount of 287 MHUF. For more detailed information on provisions, see subsection 6.11.2.
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The amount of accrual or deferral of the expenditure and sales revenue concerning system usage fees,
expenditures related to the purchase of electric energy, and revenues related to selling electric energy
At the end of the reporting period, estimates are calculated concerning the accrual of suppliers’ invoices
and sales of electric energy, and the suppliers invoices and sales of system usage fees. The accrual and
estimation of sales of electric energy for the full range of consumers, is done monthly based on the
accrual data of the previous month, the current year forecast, and the annual reading, using a model
created on the experience from previous years. The calculated sales to be accrued with the model, is
regularly controlled by the Financial Sales Directorate, using different statistical and other methods. The
amount of accrual or deferral of the expenditure and sales revenue concerning system usage fees is
determined according to the following principle: The closure of the general ledger of the expenditure
and revenue concerning system usage fees takes place on the last working day of the current month.
The invoices corresponding to the reporting period - those that contain the system usage expenditure and the system usage fee invoices issued do not become fully available to the Group until this date. The
Company therefore prepares a quantitative and value forecast based on its own measurement data. The
data of the estimate for the given period can also be found in the corresponding system usage balance
sheet.
The sales of the electric energy and system usage fee, accrued this way, is shown in the balance sheet
on the line of accounts receivables and of other receivables, while the purchase value of the incurred,
but not yet invoiced electric energy and system usage fee is shown on the line of accounts payables and
other liabilities.

Inspection of sensibility of the accrued income and deferred expenses in the electricity business
On December 31, 2018, the accrual of the purchased electric energy and system usage fees paid was
23 659 MHUF (22 194 MHUF on December 31, 2017).
If the accrual of the purchased electric energy and system usage fees paid, changed by 10 % at the end
of 2018 (if it had changed by 10 % in 2017), this would influence the Groups profit of the period the
following way:
-

in case the accrued quantity decreased, the profit of the Group would increase by 2 366 MHUF (in
2017 it would have increased by 2 219 MHUF) in the period,

-

in case the accrued value increased, the profit of the Group would decrease by 2 366 MHUF (in 2017
it would have decreased by 2 219 MHUF) in the period.
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On December 31, 2018, the accrued revenue of the purchased electric energy and system usage fees
paid, was 19 768 MHUF (on December 31, 2017, it was 18 470 MHUF).
If the accrual of the sold electric energy and system usage fees paid, changed by 10 % at the end of 2018
(if it had changed by 10 % in 2017), this would influence the Group's profit of the period the following
way:
-

in case the accrued value increased, the profit of the Group would increase by 1 977 MHUF (in 2017
it would have increased by 1 847 MHUF) in the period.

-

in case the accrued value decreased, the profit of the Group would decrease by 1 977 MHUF (in
2017 it would have decreased by 1 847 MHUF) in the period.

Inspection of sensibility of the unit prices in connection with purchase and sale of electricity:
If the unit price of the purchased electric energy changed by 10 % in 2018 (if it had changed by 10 % in
2017), this would influence the Group's profit of the period the following way:
- in case the unit prices increased, the profit of the Group would decrease by 21 032 MHUF (in 2017 it
would have decreased by 20 643 MHUF) in the period,
- in case the unit prices for purchases decreased, the profit of the Group would increase by
21 032 MHUF (in 2017 it would have increased by 20 643 MHUF) in the period.
If the unit price of the sold electric energy changed by 10 % in 2018 (if it had changed by 10 % in 2017),
this would influence the Group's profit of the period the following way:
- in case the unit prices increased, the profit of the Group would increase by 20 584 MHUF (in 2017 it
would have increased by 21 721 MHUF) in the period,
- in case the unit prices decreased, the profit of the Group would decrease by 20 584 MHUF (in 2017 it
would have decreased by 21 721 MHUF) in the period.
Impairment of accounts receivable
The purport of the applied method of the impairment calculation of the Group is to use the past
experience in connection with the same receivable types augmented by the future expectations. The
calculation of the expected credit loss shall be carried out by assigning different depreciation rates to
the delays, which basically means aging.
When estimating the expected credit loss, the different possible events shall be taken into account, and
it does not mean only estimating the best and the worst-case scenarios. Even if contractual performance
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is far the most probable outcome, the cases of non-performance shall also be taken into consideration,
using appropriate low-probability weights.

The Group examines the impairment rates according to the following accounts receivable categories:
•

costumer consuming the universal service,

•

competitive market customers (electricity),

•

customers requiring secondary activities related to the sale of electric energy,

•

other accounts receivable for activities not related to electric energy.

The closing balance of accounts receivable at the end of 2018 is 5 777 MHUF lower compared to the
year-end value of 2017. The impairment decreased by 953 MHUF, from which the impact of the opening
impairment correction is 207 MHUF due to IFRS 9).
If the applied average impairment rates changed by 1 percentage points in 2018 concerning the total
accounts receivables in the calculation of impairment, this would influence the Group's profit of the
period the following way:
-

in case the average impairment rate decreased, the profit of the Group would increase by
98 MHUF in the period,

-

in case the average impairment rate increased, the profit of the Group would decrease by
250 MHUF in the period,

Received network development contribution and connection fees
The consumers have to pay a network development contribution when they are connected to the
electric energy network, which is based on the actual cost of the extension of the network. The
regulation on the financial and technical conditions of the connection to the public electricity network
76/2011. XII. 21.) NFM specifies, that in case the consumer is connected to an existing network, the consumer
and the network licensee agree about the amount of the connection fee in a contract agreement. By paying the

connection fee, the consumer obtains the right to use the available power at the given connection point,
and this right is transferable along with the consumption location. The Group uses funds taken over for
development purposes (the connection fees) to cover the costs of network development projects.
The amount originating from these development contributions and connection fees is accounted as a
revenue within the expected life cycle of the premise equipment concerned. The accrued development
contributions and connection fees are accounted as contractual liabilities. The over-the-year part of the
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contractual liabilities is shown in the balance sheet line long-term contractual liabilities, and its withinthe-year returning part is shown in the balance sheet line short-term contractual liabilities.
In 2018, the network development contribution and connection fee, accounted proportionally to the
depreciation is 2 018 MHUF (in 2017 it was 2 170 MHUF).
If in 2018 the average expected life cycle of the premise equipment as a base for the depreciation rate
defining the release of the accrued network development contributions and connection fees, differed by
1 percentage point (it had have differed by 1 percentage point in 2017) from the estimates of the Group,
then this change would influence the Group's profit in the period as follows:
- in case the average expected life cycle of the premise equipment increased, the accounted net sales
revenue of the Group would increase by 649 MHUF (in 2017 it would have increased by 639 MHUF) in
the period,
- in case the average expected life cycle of the premise equipment decreased, the accounted net sales
revenue of the Group would decrease by 649 MHUF (in 2017 it would have decreased by 639 MHUF)
in the period.
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5. SEGMENT REPORTING

5.1. Operating segments
In the IFRS 8 Operating segments standard a management approach is applied, i.e. the management
segments must be identified from the aspect of decision makers and other responsible individuals.
A business entity’s main operational decision maker is the board of management, the Board of
Directors.
Based on the above-described the following segments were defined:
Network operations include the activities defined as distribution licensee activities by VET (ÉMÁSZ
Hálózati Elosztó Kft.).
Sales operations include the activities defined as universal service provider and the electricity trading
licensee by VET and the sale of solar cells (ELMŰ Nyrt.), RWE Energie S.R.L., and ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ
Energiaszolgáltató Zrt., which is involved mainly in providing services to specific universal consumers
located on the area defined in the operating permit, Elmű-Émász Energiatároló Kft. and Elmű-Émász
Solutions Kft., as well as ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiakereskedő Kft., included in the Group by the equity
method, which company is involved in the complete spectrum of electricity and gas trade.
RWE Energy S.R.L., the subsidiary in Romania as a geographically separable segment was sold on
31.08.2018; the data concerning the firm are stated in the present report among the discontinued
activities (section 7.10.) as well in the base and in the reporting period.
In the other operations segment, the central management activity of ELMŰ Nyrt. is shown and the
operations of the ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Ügyfélszolgálati Kft. and of the BDK Kft.
The IFRS report by segments was prepared based on the IFRS reports of the members of the Group, the
decision makers are using these data.
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MHUF
31.12.2018
Consolidated figures

Description
Grid activity

Sales activity

Other activity

113 532
4 039
109 493
240
-

138 438
9
146 137
17 988
7
17 981
554

17 839
246
18 040
12 600
12 600
-

Total

Profit and loss statement
Revenues from segments
"-Of which: at a point in time
"-Of which: over time
Revenues from sales between segments
"-Of which: at a point in time
"-Of which: over time
Energy tax

-

Total sales revenues
Operating profit
Profit from financial transactions
Profit from shares
Of which: share from the profit of enterprises accounted for
using the equity method
Profit before taxes:
Profit taxes
Net profit

-

-

-

113 292

119 896

5 239

238 427

20 495
52
-

2 680
82
520

1 992
45
421

25 167
89
941

421

941

-

-

-

269 809
4 294
273 670
30 828
7
30 581
554

20 547
8 079
12 468

-

520

-

3 282
1 277
2 005

-

2 368
705
1 663

-

26 197
10 061
16 136

Other information:
Segment assets

169 311

Investments in jointly controlled entities accounted for using
the equity method
Total segment assets
Segment liabilities
Total segment liabilities
Capital expenditure (Periodic growth of investments)
Depreciation & amortisation
- tangible assets
- intangible assets
Impairment of accounts receivable
Environment protection costs

-

-

169 311
42 789
42 789
19 728
12 447
12 160
287
430
75

-

24 711

35 637

229 659

50

3 421

3 471

24 761
14 368
14 368
1 699
476
175
301
1 342
-

39 058
8 788
8 788
1 912
1 053
740
313
112
66

233 130
65 945
65 945
23 339
13 976
13 075
901
1 884
141
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MHUF
31.12.2017
Consolidated figures

Description
Grid activity

Sales activity

Other activity

114 943
3 852
111 091
-

151 185
151 185
35 245
35 245
604

19 893
3 842
16 051
13 436
1 408
12 028
-

Total

Profit and loss statement
Revenues from sales due from external partners
"-Of which: at a point in time
"-Of which: over time
Revenues from sales between segments
"-Of which: at a point in time
"-Of which: over time
Energy tax
Total sales revenues

-

114 943

Operating profit
Profit from financial transactions
Profit from shares
Of which: share from the profit of enterprises accounted for
using the equity method
Profit before taxes:
Profit taxes
Net profit

-

-

-

115 336

6 457

23 830
51
-

-

1 445
104
282

2 373
37
334

-

-

282

23 881
9 206
14 675

-

1 831
599
1 232

-

-

-

236 736
-

334

-

2 670
347
2 323

286 021
7 694
278 327
48 681
1 408
47 273
604

24 758
90
52
52

-

24 720
8 954
15 766

Other information:
Segment assets

162 792

Investments in jointly controlled entities accounted for using
the equity method
Total segment assets
Segment liabilities
Total segment liabilities
Capital expenditure (Periodic growth of investments)
Depreciation & amortisation
- tangible assets
- intangible assets
- intangible assets
Impairment of accounts receivable
Environment protection costs

-

-

162 792
39 001
39 001
19 405
12 275
11 998
277
1 075
71

-

-

22 420

38 365

223 577

352

3 075

3 427

22 772
22 293
22 293
272
404
160
244
1 742
-

41 440
4 384
4 384
1 320
1 109
748
1
360
20
41

227 004
65 678
65 678
20 453
13 788
12 906
1
881
2 837
112

-

-

The consolidated segment report of the Group shows the continuing and discontinued / discontinuing
operations aggregated. Compared to the consolidated report, the segment report is different because of
the different presentation of the activities discontinued / discontinuing.
The presentation of the discontinued activities / activities to be discontinued in detail see in section
7.10.

5.2. Geographical distribution
The substantial part of the activities of the Group are carried out in Hungary, and until 31.08.2018. some
activities were carried out in Romania. The subsidiary RWE Energy S.R.L. was sold in the reporting
period, therefor, the separate geographical segment does not exist anymore. The data of the sale are
presented in section Discontinued activities (section 7.10.) in detail.
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6. ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCE SHEET
6.1. Property, plant and equipment
MHUF
Description
01.01.2017
Gross value IAS 40
Accumulated depreciation IAS 40
Net book value

-

01.01.2017
Gross value
Accumulated depreciation
Net book value (adjusted)

Technical
equipment,
machinery and
vehicles
-

Land, buildings and
connecting property
rights

-

Other equipment,
gear and vehicles

Assets under
construction

-

Advances paid on
investments
-

-

-

-

-

-

-

234 519

127 294

5 311

2 781

35

3 973
1 338

2 781

35

131 067
103 452

-

76 409
50 885

-

Total
369 940
-

211 449
158 491

Values of the reference period
Opening book value
Commissioning
Capitalisation

103 452

50 885

1 338

2 781

35

13 381

5 351

738

19 972

31

-

-

-

-

19 470

-

-

19 470

-

5

-

-

3 179

-

237

Gross value of scrapping

-

2 107

-

977

-

90

Gross value of sales

-

55

-

94

-

88

-

-

Gross value of reclassification under IFRS 5
Gross value of reclassification under IAS 40

-

Gross value of reclassification in general ledger
Accumulated depreciation of scrapping
Accumulated depreciation of sales
Accumulated depreciation of reclassification under IFRS 5
Accumulated depreciation of reclassification in general ledger
Periodic depreciation
Closing book value

39 473

11

-

-

-

-

1

-

-

-

-

6

-

6

-

-

-

1 941

910

90

-

-

2 941

-

11
-

1

50

90

88

-

-

-

18
6

-

6

-

-

-

18
-

-

7 120
109 534

568
1 508

3 278

66

-

12 906
165 333

31.12.2017
Gross value
Accumulated depreciation
Net book value

158 491

-

-

5 218
50 947

-

-

-

-

-

-

245 754

131 574

5 865

3 278

66

4 357
1 508

3 278

66

136 220
109 534

-

80 627
50 947

-

228

386 537
-

221 204
165 333

Values of the reference period
Opening book value
Commissioning
Capitalisation

109 534

50 947

1 508

3 278

66

13 075

8 265

565

22 178

83

-

-

-

-

21 905

-

-

21 905

-

57

-

-

3 716

-

-

-

727
35
8

-

Gross value of scrapping

-

2 542

-

1 015

-

102

Gross value of sales
Gross value of transfer without charge
Stock rating

-

18
-

-

627
35
-

-

82
8

Gross value of reclassification under IFRS 5

-

335

-

11

-

Accumulated depreciation of scrapping
Accumulated depreciation of sales
Accumulated depr. of transfer without charge
Stock rating

2 399
14
-

Accumulated depreciation of reclassification under IFRS 5
Periodic depreciation
Closing book value
31.12.2018
Gross value
Accumulated depreciation
Net book value

920
556
35
-

150
-

-

7 260
115 017

-

9
-

5 193
53 851

-

36

-

-

102
73
1

-

-

36

-

-

644
1 413

3 494

149

-

-

-

-

-

255 934

138 151

6 202

3 494

149

4 789
1 413

3 494

149

140 917
115 017

-

84 300
53 851

-

165 333
44 166

382
3 421
643
35
1
195

-

13 097
173 924
403 930

-

230 006
173 924

The net amount of Property, plant and equipment under the scope of IAS 16 increased by 8 591 MHUF
(5,20 %) compared to 2017. The value of the investments in the year concerned is 22 261 MHUF. The
ELMŰ Group expended the considerable part of this on the modernization of the network, in order to
increase the security of supply. The depreciation recognized in the reporting period decreased the value
of property, plant and equipment by 13 097 MHUF.
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On December 31, 2018, the gross value of the network assets is 381 550 MHUF, the cumulative
depreciation is 219 115 MHUF, net value is 162 435 MHUF. The network assets represent 93,39 % of the
total stock of tangible assets, their useful life cycle is 12,5 to 25 years.
The capitalized value of the internally generated assets of the Group in the period concerned, is
4 852 MHUF, which is related to the network investments. The capitalized value of the internally
generated assets contains primarily the purchase of materials related to the main distribution network
investments, and to the growing number of the connecting fee-jobs, as well as the materials taken for
the replacement of the expired consumption meters, the working hours carried out, and the accounted
value of vehicle usage. The net value of property, plant and equipment sold in the reporting year is
84 MHUF.
On the balance sheet date, the Group examined, whether there is an objective evidence for the disposal
of any property, plant and equipment. The amount of scrapping accounted in the reporting year
(295 MHUF) is a sum of several items, which are not significant individually. In these cases the reason for
disposal is the physical obsolescence of the asset. The accounting of the disposal is done according to
the IAS 36 standard.
The net value of Investment properties under IAS 40 (48 MHUF) is presented by the Group in a separate
balance sheet line (separately from Property, plant and equipment under the scope of IAS 16).
The net value of the base period of 187 MHUF of the assets held for sale under IFRS 5 is also presented
by the Group in a separate balance sheet line, among the Assets held for sale.
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The information concerning leasing activities is shown in the tables below:
The Group rents different offices, network devices, vehicles and other equipment, which are noncancellable operative leasing contracts and maturing within one year. The leasing contracts have
different conditions, and renewal rights. At renewal the conditions of leasing are renegotiated.
The Group has no within one-year non-cancellable operative leasing.
MHUF
Operating lease (when the Group is the lessee) 31.12.2018

Within 1 year

Rental of real estates

13

Rental of machinery and equipment

23

Total

36
MHUF

Operating lease (when the Group is the lessee) 31.12.2017

Within 1 year

Rental of real estates

9

Rental of machinery and equipment

11

Total

20

MHUF
Operating lease (when the Group is the lessor) 31.12.2018

Within 1 year

Rental of real estates

70

Rental of machinery and motor vehicles

61

Total

131
MHUF

Operating lease (when the Group is the lessor) 31.12.2017

Within 1 year

Rental of real estates
Rental of machinery and motor vehicles
Total

91
163
254

In the business years shown, ELMŰ Nyrt. was not in relation with the member companies of the Group
as a lessee, while they were related to the jointly managed undertakings of the Group as a lessor.
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6.2. Intangible assets

MHUF

Description

Rights representing
pecuniary value

Intellectual product

Total

01.01.2017
Gross value
Accumulated depreciation
Net book value

10 924
-

9 386
1 538

7 027
-

5 703
1 324

17 951
-

15 089
2 862

Values for the reference period (adjusted)
Opening book value
Commissioning
Capitalisation
Gross scrapping value
Gross value of general ledger reclassification
Accumulated depreciation of scrapping
Periodic depreciation
Closing book value

-

1 538

1 324

361
459

536
10

2 862
-

897
449

6
-

-

76
6
76

-

76
76

376
1 058

-

504
1 372

-

880
2 430

31.12.2017
Gross value
Accumulated depreciation
Net book value

10 820
-

9 762
1 058

7 503
-

6 131
1 372

18 323
-

15 893
2 430

Values of the reference period
Opening book value

1 058

Commissioning

368

Gross value of reclassification in general ledger

438

Gross value of reclassification under IFRS 5
Accumulated depreciation of reclassification in general- ledger
Accumulated depreciation of reclassification under IFRS 5

20
234
18

Periodic depreciation
Closing book value

-

485
1 143

-

-

1 372

2 430

731

1 099

438

-

234
-

-

20
18

416
1 483

-

901
2 626

31.12.2018
Gross value
Accumulated depreciation
Net book value

11 606
-

10 463
1 143

7 796
-

6 313
1 483

19 402
-

16 776
2 626

The net value of intangible assets increased by 196 MHUF (by 8,07 %) compared to the base period.
In 2018 the Group spent 1 099 MHUF for the purchase of intangible goods. The accounted depreciation
in the reporting period decreased the value of the intangible assets by 901 MHUF.
The supplying right concerning the free market customer portfolio (B2C) taken over from ÉMÁSZ Nyrt.
by ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiaszolgáltató Zrt., which is fully included in the consolidated report of the Group,
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is activated as rights of a property value in the individual report. Nevertheless, according to IFRS 3, this is
considered a business combination, which was eliminated from the consolidated report of the Group,
since according to their accounting policy, the Group shows the business combinations taking place
between the entities under joint control, at the book value preceding the transfer (predecessor
accounting). The gross cost value of the rights of a property value is 1 373 MHUF, the depreciation in the
reporting period is 229 MHUF, the accumulated depreciation amounts to 553 MHUF, so the net value of
intangible assets filtered against equity capital is 820 MHUF. The effect of the jointly controlled business
entities business combinations on equity capital is shown in the section Deduction of consolidated equity
capital of the consolidated annual report of the Group. For more details please see section 6.9.
“Shareholders' equity”.

6.3. Interests in affiliated undertakings

6.3.1. Interests in jointly controlled operations

ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Ügyfélszolgálati Kft. was founded jointly by ÉMÁSZ Nyrt. and ELMŰ Nyrt. Currently the
proportion of ownership is ELMŰ Nyrt. 70 %, ÉMÁSZ Nyrt. 30 %, by a 50 % to 50 % proportion of votes.
For more detailed information see Section 1 General Section.
The ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Ügyfélszolgálati Kft. is a contractual agreement, which provides services to the
owners and their subsidiaries, thus this is considered a jointly controlled operation.
With respect to their report prepared according to the International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS), ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Ügyfélszolgálati Kft. realized 9 043 MHUF net sales revenues in 2018. The defining
factor of the expenditures affecting the operations (8 489 MHUF), are the 4 204 MHUF value of material
type expenditures, and the 4 029 MHUF value of personal type expenditures. The net earnings of the
Company were 350 MHUF in the reporting year.
With respect to their report prepared according to the International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS), ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Ügyfélszolgálati Kft. realized 8 497 MHUF net sales revenues in 2017. The defining
factor of the expenditures affecting the operations (8 083 MHUF), were the 4 195 MHUF value of
material type expenditures, and the 3 594 MHUF value of personal type expenditures. The net earnings
of the Company were 226 MHUF in the reference period.
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6.3.2. Investments in associated and jointly controlled companies

Under the regulation of IFRS, taking into account the voting ratios and the joint control based on
contractual agreement, the Company classified ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiakereskedő Kft, Budapesti Dísz- és
Közvilágítási Kft. and ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Telco Kft. as jointly managed undertakings.
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiakereskedő Kft. was founded jointly by ELMŰ Nyrt. and ÉMÁSZ Nyrt. The ownership
shares (50 % to 50 %) correspond to the voting rights, and the extent of the influence.
The rate of ownership in Budapesti Dísz- és Közvilágítási Kft. (50 %) is the same as the rate of votes and
influence.
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Telco Kft. was founded jointly by ELMŰ Nyrt. and ÉMÁSZ Nyrt. The ownership shares at
the moment are as follows: ELMŰ Nyrt. 65 %, ÉMÁSZ Nyrt. 35 %, by a 50 % to 50 % proportion of votes.
Further information on the associate and jointly managed companies are shown in Part 1 General
information.

The scope of companies, included in the consolidated report by using the equity method, has not
changed compared to 2017.
MHUF
Share in jointly controlled entities

ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ
Energiakereskedő Kft.

Budapesti Dísz- és
Közvilágítási Kft.*

ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Hálózati
Szolgáltató Kft.

Total

Ownership shares of ELMŰ Nyrt.
50%
50%
65%
Voting shares of ELMŰ Nyrt.
50%
50%
50%
01.01.2017
1 470
2 832
4 302
Share from the profit in 2015
692
333
1 025
Dividend received
836
91
927
31.12.2017
353
3 074
3 427
01.01.2018
353
3 074
3 427
Effect of the first aplication of IFRS 9 standard
22
22
Share from the profit in 2018
328
421
749
Dividend received
845
73
918
Excluding interim profit
191
191
31.12.2018
49
3 422
3 471
* Share is given from the current year's result in the case of BDK not based on the ownership shares, but it is determined based on the correction with dividend under the
syndicate agreement.

The value of the interest in jointly managed companies is 3 471 MHUF, which increased by 44 MHUF
(1,28 %) compared to the previous business year.
The value of the share of the Group from the results of the jointly managed companies in 2018
increased by 558 MHUF, and the dividends received from jointly managed companies (Budapesti Díszés Közvilágítási Kft. and ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiakereskedő Kft.) decreased by 918 MHUF the value of the
interests.
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The amount of the liabilities of ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiakereskedő Kft include the cash pool liability against
ELMŰ Nyrt. Its closing value is 21 400 MHUF in the reporting period, increased by 8 947 MHUF
compared to the value of 12 453 MHUF in the reference period. This item, as related claim, was not
excluded from the consolidated report of the Group, because the Group was consolidated using the
equity method. For more information on the claims against associated companies and the changes of
these claims see Sections 6.6.1 and 7.12.
The ELMŰ Nyrt.'s interest in ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Telco Kft. decreased to zero. No further losses and liabilities
were presented, as ELMŰ Nyrt. does not have either legal or implicit obligation to replace capital. The
result of ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Telco Kft. is zero MHUF in the reporting period, 45 MHUF of loss in the previous
years together was not shown in the report of the Group.
The reports of the companies included in the consolidation by the equity method, were prepared
according to the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), approved by the European Union.

Introduction of the main lines of the jointly managed companies, included in the consolidation by the
equity method:
MHUF
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ
Energiakereskedő Kft.

Balance sheet 31.12.2018
Current assets
Of which: Cash and cash equivalents
Fixed assets
TOTAL ASSETS
Liabilities
Of which: Financial liabilities (credits, loans)
TOTAL LIABILITIES
Net assets without non-controlling interest

Budapesti Dísz- és
Közvilágítási Kft.

46 309
2 289
4 483
50 792
49 128
21 401
49 128

2 752
1 729
9 766
12 518
2 330
2 330

1 664

10 188

ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Hálózati
Szolgáltató Kft.

-

Total

34
8
34
100
100

49 095
4 026
14 249
63 344
51 558
21 401
51 558

66

11 786

MHUF
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ
Energiakereskedő Kft.

Profit and loss statement 2018
Sales revenue
Revenues
Expenses
Of which: Depreciation and amortization
Result of financial operations
Tax expenditure
Interim profit / Total comprehensive income

-

Budapesti Dísz- és
Közvilágítási Kft.

ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Hálózati
Szolgáltató Kft.

159 821
161 239
159 032
1 117
105
1 444

6 045
7 505
6 722
1 005
14

2
2
2
-

658

769

-
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Total

-

165 868
168 746
165 756
2 122
105
1 458
1 427
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MHUF
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ
Energiakereskedő Kft.

Balance sheet 31.12.2017
Current assets
Of which: Cash and cash equivalents
Fixed assets
TOTAL ASSETS
Liabilities
Of which: Financial liabilities (credits, loans)
TOTAL LIABILITIES
Net assets without non-controlling interest

Budapesti Dísz- és
Közvilágítási Kft.

33 928
1 153
5 438
39 366
36 714
12 754
36 714

2 266
1 356
8 911
11 177
5 029
5 029

2 652

6 148

ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Hálózati
Szolgáltató Kft.

-

Total

32
5
32
100
100

36 226
2 514
14 349
50 575
41 843
12 754
41 843

68

8 732

MHUF
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ
Energiakereskedő Kft.

Profit and loss statement 2017
Sales revenue
Revenues
Expenses
Of which: Depreciation and amortization
Result of financial operations
Tax expenditure

-

Interim profit / Total comprehensive income

Budapesti Dísz- és
Közvilágítási Kft.

ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Hálózati
Szolgáltató Kft.

149 607
150 050
147 001
1 206
117
1 547

5 762
6 721
6 123
1 039
1
11

2
2
2
-

1 385

588

-

Total

-

155 371
156 773
153 126
2 245
116
1 558
1 973

Introduction of the main lines of the jointly managed companies, included in the consolidation by the
equity method, in proportion to the ownership of ELMŰ Nyrt.:
MHUF
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ
Energiakereskedő Kft.

Balance sheet 31.12.2018
Current assets
Of which: Cash and cash equivalents
Fixed assets
TOTAL ASSETS
Liabilities
Of which: current liabilities
Of which: Financial liabilities (credits, loans)
TOTAL LIABILITIES
Net assets without non-controlling interest

Budapesti Dísz- és
Közvilágítási Kft.

23 154
1 145
2 242
25 396
24 564
10 701
24 564

1 376
865
4 883
6 259
1 165
1 165
1 165

832

5 094

ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Hálózati
Szolgáltató Kft.

-

Total

23
4
23
65
65

24 553
2 014
7 125
31 678
25 794
1 165
10 701
25 794

42

5 884
MHUF

ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ
Energiakereskedő Kft.

Profit and loss statement 2018
Sales revenue
Revenues
Costs
Of which: Depreciation and amortization
Result of financial operations
Tax expenditure
Interim profit / Total comprehensive income

-

Budapesti Dísz- és
Közvilágítási Kft.

ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Hálózati
Szolgáltató Kft.

79 911
80 619
79 516
559
53
722

3 023
3 753
3 361
503
7

1
1
1
-

328

385

-

Total

-

82 935
84 373
82 878
1 062
53
729
713

* Share is given from the current year's result in the case of BDK not based on the ownership shares, but it is determined based on the correction with dividend under the
syndicate agreement.
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MHUF
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ
Energiakereskedő Kft.

Balance sheet 31.12.2017
Current assets
Of which: Cash and cash equivalents
Fixed assets
TOTAL ASSETS
Liabilities
Of which: non-current liabilities
Of which: current liabilities
Of which: Financial liabilities (credits, loans)
Of which: currenct financial liabilities (credits, loans)
TOTAL LIABILITIES
Net assets without non-controlling interest

Budapesti Dísz- és
Közvilágítási Kft.

16 964
577
2 719
19 683
18 357
70
18 287
6 377
6 377
18 357

1 133
678
4 456
5 589
2 515
2 515
2 515

1 326

3 074

ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Hálózati
Szolgáltató Kft.

-

Total

21
3
21
65
65
65

18 118
1 258
7 175
25 293
20 937
70
20 867
6 377
6 377
20 937

44

4 356
MHUF

ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ
Energiakereskedő Kft.

Profit and loss statement 2017
Sales revenue
Revenues
Costs
Of which: Depreciation and amortization
Result of financial operations
Of which: Revenues from financial transactions
Of which: Expenditures of financial transactions
Tax expenditure
Interim profit / Total comprehensive income

-

Budapesti Dísz- és
Közvilágítási Kft.

ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Hálózati
Szolgáltató Kft.

74 804
75 025
73 501
603
59
59
773

2 881
3 361
3 061
520
6

1
1
1
-

692

294

-

Total

-

77 686
78 387
76 563
1 123
59
59
779
986

* Share is given from the current year's result in the case of BDK not based on the ownership shares, but it is determined based on the correction with dividend under the
syndicate agreement.

6.3.3. Non-controlling interests

ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiaszolgáltató Zrt.

ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiaszolgáltató Zrt. was established jointly by ELMŰ Nyrt. and ÉMÁSZ Nyrt. on August
26, 2006, by an ownership of 70“% to 30 %. The equity capital of the company is 1 000 MHUF. The
owners paid 7 200 MHUF to capital reserves. Universal provider activities have been provided by ELMŰÉMÁSZ Energiaszolgáltató Zrt. from 1st December 2015.
From the second half of 2016 brought significant changes in the life of the Company, through the
realization of successful acquisitions using its energy supplier license, now as an active actor on the
competitive market.
From the second half of 2016 ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiaszolgáltató Zrt obtained the client portfolio of small
users of the free market entitled to use universal service that had belonged to ELMŰ Nyrt. and ÉMÁSZ
Nyrt.
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Based on ownership and voting proportion, ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiaszolgáltató Zrt. is considered a
subsidiary, and was fully consolidated.

Detailed data related to non-controlling interests

MHUF
Non-controlling interest in subsidiary
Ownership shares of ELMŰ Nyrt.
Voting shares of ELMŰ Nyrt.
01.01.2017
Result per non-controlling interest
Interim result of B2C sales filtered by EnSzolg Zrt
Dividend received
31.12.2017
01.01.2018
Adjustment for first-time adoption of IFRS 9
Result per non-controlling interest
Interim result of B2C sales filtered by EnSzolg Zrt
Dividend received
31.12.2018

ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ
Energiaszolgáltató Kft.
30%
30%
176
84
194
454
454
29
58
41
582
MHUF

Balance sheet 31.12.2018

ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ
Energiaszolgáltató Kft.

Current assets
Of which: Cash and cash equivalents
Fixed assets
TOTAL ASSETS
Liabilities
Of which: Financial liabilities (credits, loans)
TOTAL LIABILITIES
Net assets without non-controlling interest
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20 401
3 726
30 081
27 647
9 530
27 647
2 434
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MHUF
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ
Energiaszolgáltató Kft.

Profit and loss statement 2018
Sales revenue
Revenues
Expenses
Of which: Depreciation and amortization
Result of financial operations
Tax expenditure

109 171
111 256
109 986
1 301
31
1 045

-

Interim profit / Total comprehensive income

194

6.4. Deferred tax

The deferred tax assets and tax liabilities are shown aggregated as a net balance, provided that the
compensation is possible, and the assets and liabilities are related to the same tax authority and
incurred on the part of the same company.
MHUF
Deferred taxes

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

1 741
16 731
18 472

1 750
19 031
20 781

5 385
273
5 658

339
5 169
5 508

12 814

15 273

Deferred tax receivable
within 12 months
over within 12 months
Total deferred tax receivable
Deferred tax payable
within 12 months
over within 12 months
Total deferred tax payable
Balance of deferred taxes (receivable: +; payable: -)
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The total movements over the deferred tax general ledger account were as follows:
MHUF
Deferred taxes

Amount

01.01.2017
Impact on the interim profit (+ improves/- debits)
31.12.2017
Opening adjustment for first-time adoption of IFRS 9
Impact on the interim profit (+ improves/- debits)
Acquisition of subsidiary
31.12.2018

15 281
8
15 273
11
2 262
186
12 814

-

Changes in the deferred taxes receivable and payable:
MHUF

Deferred tax payable

Lower asset
value pursuant to
the tax law

01.01.2017
Impact on the interim profit (+ improves/- debits)
31.12.2017
Impact on the interim profit (+ improves/- debits)
31.12.2018

-

5 082
290
5 372
202
5 574

Derivatives
receivable

-

136
136
52
84

Total

-

5 082
426
5 508
150
5 658

MHUF

Deferred tax receivable

01.01.2017
Impact on the interim profit (+ improves/- debits)
31.12.2017
Opening adjustment for first-time adoption of IFRS 9
Impact on the interim profit (+ improves/- debits)
Acquisition of subsidiary
31.12.2018

Higher asset
value pursuant to
the tax law

-

-

19 397
66
19 331
2 019
17 312

Impairment of
accounts
receivable

-

82
76
158
11
15
132

Provisions

-

-

145
7
138
47
91

Accrued value of
contribution to Accrued loss of
grid
previous years
development
626
113
89
326
715
439
101
132
186
816
121

Total

20 363
418
20 781
11
2 112
186
18 472

The balance of the deferred taxes is 12 814 MHUF, including the closing value of the deferred tax assets
in the reporting period 18 472 MHUF, and the closing value of the deferred tax liabilities 5 658 MHUF.
The balance of the deferred taxes is split with regard to the asset values. Deferred tax liabilities are
generated from the difference between the asset value according to the Act on corporate income tax,
and the asset value according to IFRS, while deferred tax assets are generated from the difference
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between the asset value according to the Act on Accounting and the asset value according to IFRS, since
for the calculation of income tax of energy suppliers, the regulations of the Act on Accounting, prevail.
The reason for the high closing value of unrecognized deferred tax assets is that the book values of
immaterial goods, properties, machines and equipment, included in the report prepared according to
the Act on Accounting, are significantly higher, than the values included in the consolidated IFRS report.

The majority of the deferred tax is also related to the intangible goods and property, plant and
equipment. The useful life accepted by the Act on corporate income tax is different from what the
Group defined in their accounting policy of these assets. Therefore, the asset value accepted by the Act
on corporate income tax is lower than the asset value defined according to IFRS rules, and this results in
a deferred tax liability.

The Group disclaims a part of the deferred tax assets, as deferred tax assets would be generated for
ELMŰ Nyrt., its main components would be the deferred losses of the previous years. Deferred taxes
shall be shown on the distinct, unused negative tax base to the extent, which it is considered very likely,
that there will be sufficient taxable profit in the future, which would allow these deferred negative tax
base to to be utilized against. Despite the positive result of ELMŰ Nyrt., calculating with the correction
factors to be considered when defining the corporate tax base, the tax base is expected not to be
positive in the future, its realization is unlikely.
The Group disclaims these deferred tax receivables, because it is considered likely, that there will be no
taxable profit, which would allow these temporary differences to be utilized against. The deferred tax
accounted for the loss amounts to 5 449 MHUF. The impact of deferred tax on the profit is introduced in
section 7.9.
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6.5. Inventories
MHUF
Inventories
Base material
Auxiliary material and supplies
Other material
Material total
Wrapping and packaging
Mediated services
Goods at cost price
Goods total
Incomplete production and semi-finished
goods
Finished goods total
Total

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

2 151
12
-

1 938
10
-

2 163

1 948

15
17
89

21
5
92

121

118

102

392

102

392

2 386

2 458

Compared to the status of December 31, 2017, the closing stock of inventories is 72 MHUF (2,93 %) lower, which is
due to the decrease of the closing values of work-in progress and semi-finished products by 290 MHUF (73,98 %)
and the increase of the closing value of goods by 3 MHUF (2,54 %) and of materials by 215 MHUF (11,04 %). The

inventory turnover rate, along with the operational safety margin (ÜBT) is 4,61 turns (in 2017, January
through December: 4,40 turns). The turn-over rate without operational safety margin (ÜBT) is 8,58 turns
(for the period January-December, 2017: 8,34 turns). Considering that the value and availability of these
inventories is not related to time, it is not reasonable to account their impairment.
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6.6. Accounts receivables and other receivables
6.6.1. Accounts receivable and receivables from affiliated undertakings
MHUF
Accounts receivable
Electricity buyers (*)
Customers paying grid usage fee
Other customers
Litigated receivables
Impairment
Total accounts receivable

31.12.2018

-

20 613
1 460
1 950
1 028
1 884

01.01.2018
adjusted value
27 340
1 497
1 007
1 936
2 630

31.12.2017

-

27 340
1 497
1 007
1 936
2 837

23 167

29 150

28 943

21 911
2 405

13 622
1 816

13 622
1 816

24 316

15 438

15 438

11

11

11

Receivables from affiliated enterprises and other undertakings
representing a share

24 327

15 449

15 449

Total

47 494

44 599

44 392

Receivables from enterprises under joint control
Receivables from other subsidiaries of the parent company
Receivables from affiliated enterprises
Receivables from other undertakings representing a share

The trade receivables line in the consolidated balance sheet aggregates the values of trade receivables,
the receivables from affiliated undertakings and the receivables from companies of other ownership
relations. The accounts receivables – together with the affiliated undertakings and companies of other
ownership relations – increased by 3 102 MHUF (6,99 %) compared to the base year.
The closing value of electricity customers decreased by 6 727 MHUF (24,60 %), and the closing value of
the system usage fee customers decreased by 37 MHUF (2,47 %) compared to the reference period. The
closing balance of other customers is 943 MHUF (93,64 %) higher compared to the previous business
year. The closing value of litigated receivables decreased by 908 MHUF (46,90 %) in the reporting
period.
The Group examined the effects of the application of IFRS 9 standard in case of the receivables from
buyers and revised the opening value of 2018. Due to applying the standard the impairment loss
decreased by 207 MHUF comparing to the base period as on 31.12.2017. The accounted impairment
decreased by 746 MHUF (28,37 %).
The value of receivables from associated companies increased by 8 878 MHUF (57,51 %) compared to
the reference period, mainly owing to the 8 947 MHUF increase of receivables related to ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ
Energiakereskedő Zrt.
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The fair value of the receivables on December 31, 2017, and on December 31, 2018, was approximately
equal to their book value.
Impairment loss was charged in accordance with the guidelines set out in the accounting policy.
Accordingly, by the effective legal regulations, in the universal service provider group there are some
consumer groups, who are protected.
The impairment on receivables from costumer is described in section 3.4. “Management and analysis of
credit risk” of this Supplementary Annex.

6.6.2. Other receivables
MHUF
Other receivables

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

Prepayments (interest, delay damages, compensation)
Other financial receivables, total
Receivables from employees
Receivables from the state budget
Advances to suppliers, security deposit
Other receivables
Other non-financial receivables, total

124
124
17
1 339
255
268
1 879

68
68
101
2 733
3 127
135
6 096

Total

2 003

6 164

The closing value of other receivables is 2 003 MHUF, it is 4 161 MHUF (67,50 %) lower than in the
reference period. The most important factor of the change is the decrease of the closing value of
advances to suppliers by 2 872 MHUF (91,85 %), compared to the base period.
The fair value of the other receivables on December 31, 2017, and on December 31, 2018, was
approximately equal to their book value.

6.6.3. Derivative receivables

The closing value of the derivatives receivable was 188 MHUF, corresponding to the value of receivables
resulting from the valuation of the forward foreign exchange purchases with RWE AG on the balance
sheet date.
The closing balance of the derivative receivables of the base period was shown in the balance sheet line
of accounts receivable and other receivables, under Current assets.
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6.7. Actual profit tax receivables

The balance sheet shows the aggregated amount of the profit tax receivable and liability, if the
receivable and liability are both related to the same tax authority and are incurred on the part of the
same company.

6.8. Cash and cash equivalents
MHUF
Liquid assets
Deposit account for settlements
Escrow deposit account
Deposit account in foreign currency
Book transfer accounts
Total

Name of Bank
ERSTE BANK HUNGARY Zrt.
ING Bank N.V. Magyarországi Fióktelepe
MKB Bank Zrt.
Deposit account for settlements, total

Name of Bank

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

311
18
377
2

55
7
2 150
6

708

2 218

Amount (MHUF)

Average deposit
interest

249
16
46

0,00%
0,00%
0,00%

311

Amount (MHUF)

BNP Paribas Magyarországi Fióktelepe

377

Deposit account in foreign currency, total

377

Other liquid assets

20

Total liquid assets

708

Average deposit
interest
0,00%

The cash and liquid assets of the Group are deposited in the above listed reliable banks.
The closing portfolio of cash, liquid assets and equivalents is 708 MHUF, which decreased by
1 510 MHUF in comparison to the base period. The key factor of the change is the 1 773 MHUF decrease
of the closing balance of the foreign currency debit account compared to the preceding business year.
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In 2018 the average daily value of the interbank offered rate of interest for loans in Forint was zero.
The Group is continuously striving at keeping the amount of cash on the bank accounts and on hand at a
minimum level. The Group keeps on different deposit accounts the funds necessary to finance the
housing-type element of the cafeteria plan, the current account used for paying of dividends kept at
KELER Zrt., the amounts deposited for lawyer's lodgment, and the funds set apart for tendering
securities, applications.
The banks associated with the Group are qualified by Moody's as follows:

Name of Bank

2018

2017

ING Bank N.V. Magyarországi Fióktelepe
CIB Bank Zrt.
BNP Paribas Magyarországi Fióktelepe
OTP Bank Nyrt.
MKB Bank Zrt.
Erste Bank Hungary Zrt.

A+
Baa1
Aa3
Baa1
A3
Baa3

Baa1
Baa1
Aa3
Baa2
B2
A3

6.9. Shareholders' equity

The amount of the shareholders' equity is 175 116 MHUF, which is 6 602 MHUF higher in comparison to
the closing balance posted for the previous period. The change is a combined result from the in 2018
realized profit (16 136 MHUF), the dividend paid after the profit in 2017 (-9 719 MHUF), the correction
due to the first application of IFRS 9 (+218 MHUF) (the difference between the calculated opening value
of the expected impairment on receivables from customers in the reporting period based on IFRS 9 and
the balanced expected impairment on receivables from customers of the base period based on the
accounting policy before the application of IFRS 9 was corrected in the profit reserve and in the profit of
the reporting period; for further information see sections 4.1. and 6.7.), further the derecognized
exchange differences accounted in the previous periods as other comprehensive revenues (-33 MHUF)
due to the sale of RWE Energie S.R.L. in the reporting period (for further information see section 1.1.).
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Subscribed capital
01.01.2017
31.12.2017
31.12.2018

Ordinary shares
(pcs)

Nominal value of
shares (pcs)

6 074 441
6 074 441
6 074 441

10 000
10 000
10 000

Total (HUF)
60 744 410 000
60 744 410 000
60 744 410 000

6.10. Long-term liabilities
It was necessary to reclassify 9 882 MHUF between "Other non-current liabilities (and its summary line
is Long-term liabilities )" and "Trade accounts payable and other liabilities (and its summary line for
Short-term Liabilities)" (short-term and long-term CIAC). The adjustment has no impact on other items
in the Consolidated statement. As the reclassification does not affect the opening period of the
comparative period, they have not been amended and re-disclosed in the balance sheet.

6.10.1. Long-term credits received

Neither in the reporting period, nor in the reference period had the Company liabilities of long-term
credits and leases.

6.10.2. Contract liabilities
MHUF
Contract liabilities (Long term)

31.12.2018

01.01.2018

3 341
22 904
3 989
9

3 514
18 882
3 399
12

30 243

25 807

Unused part of funds received for development purposes
Net value of assets implemented from funds received for development purposes
Net value of assets received free of charge
Other deferred revenues
Total

MFt
Contract liabilities (Short term)

31.12.2018

01.01.2018

1 614
242
3

1 777
238
3

1 859

2 018

Net value of assets implemented from funds received for development purposes
Net value of assets received free of charge
Other deferred revenues
Total

The closing stock of the accruals of long-term connection fees taken over definitively and of assets taken
over free of charge, is 30 243 MHUF. The closing stock of the accruals of connection fees taken over
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definitively and of assets taken over free of charge, is 32 102 MHUF, which is 4 277 MHUF higher,
compared to the base year. In the reporting year, the accrued value of the assets taken over free of
charge and of the network development funds increased by 5 716 MHUF. The net value of the assets
taken over free of charge is the value of the low- and medium voltage networks. According to the
depreciation of the assets taken over free of charge and the funds taken over, 1 439 MHUF has been
derecognized in the reporting period. The closing stock of contractual liabilities is 32 102 MHUF, from
which 1 859 MHUF will prospectively be unwound within a one-year time. The Group inspected the
changes of contractual liabilities, based on the IFRS 15 standard, and reports in the table below, the
sales revenue accounted in the reporting period, which used to be part of the contractual liabilities
balance at the beginning of the reporting period:
MFt
Changes of Contract liabilities

Current changes of contract liabilities:
Of which: revenue recognized that was included in the opening
liabilities
Of which: value of fulfilled payments for customer contracts of the
current period, which has not been recognised as a revenue
Of which: others
-

2 018
4 277
2 014
6 294
3

6.11. Short-term liabilities

The closing value of short-term liabilities decreased by 18 381 MHUF (30,24 %) compared to 2017.
It was necessary to reclassify 9 882 MHUF between "Other non-current liabilities (and its summary line
is Long-term liabilities )" and "Trade accounts payable and other liabilities (and its summary line for
Short-term Liabilities)" (short-term and long-term CIAC). The adjustment has no impact on other items
in the Consolidated statement. As the reclassification does not affect the opening period of the
comparative period, they have not been amended and re-disclosed in the balance sheet.
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6.11.1. Short-term credits

Presentation of the short-term credits and loans received as on December 31, 2018:

Name of Bank
BNP Paribas Magyarországi Fióktelepe
ING Bank N.V. Magyarországi Fióktelepe
CIB Bank Zrt.
ERSTE BANK HUNGARY Zrt.
MKB Bank Zrt.
OTP Bank Nyrt.
Total short-term credits received

Amount (MHUF)
341
1 647
1 978
654
118
2 036

Maturity date

Coverage

Average interest
rate (%)

31.10.2019

pari passu, negative pledge

0,40

10.12.2019
30.06.2019
Without maturity
25.05.2019
30.03.2019

pari passu, negative pledge
pari passu, negative pledge
pari passu, negative pledge
pari passu, negative pledge
pari passu, negative pledge

0,35
0,40
0,85
0,57
0,59

6 774

Presentation of the short-term credits and loans received as on December 31, 2017:
Name of Bank
ING Bank N.V. Magyarországi Fióktelepe
CIB Bank Zrt.
Erste Bank Hungary Zrt.
MKB Bank Zrt.
OTP Bank Nyrt.
Total short-term credits received

Amount (MHUF)
1 047
1 462
1 175
1 424
6 105

Maturity date

Coverage

Average interest
rate (%)

10.12.2018
10.12.2018
Without maturity
25.05.2018
30.03.2018

negative pledge; pari passu
negative pledge; pari passu
negative pledge; pari passu
negative pledge; pari passu
negative pledge; pari passu

0,64
0,64
0,89
0,75
0,63

11 213

The short-term funding requirements of the Group – other than their own resources – also made the
requisition of short-term loans necessary. The value of short-term credits, loans is 6 774 MHUF, which is
4 439 MHUF (39,59 %) lower compared to the value of the previous year (11 213 MHUF). The banks
stipulated the so-called ”negative pledge” and ”pari passu" commitments as collaterals. Accordingly,
during borrowing the general company risk represented by the Group, was considered as the primary
risk. The assets of the Group are not pledged by lien or a similar liability. The fair value of the short-term
loans on December 31, 2017, and on December 31, 2018, was approximately equal to their book value.
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6.11.2. Provisions and contingent liabilities

MHUF
Provisions
01.01.2017
Increase in provision
Release of unused provision
Provision used during the year

For absences and
For
leaves
lawsuits/disputes

For agreed
compensation

For future
liabilities

For environmental
rehabilitation

For other

Total

104

80

93

130

60

44

511

68
12
95

28
5
51

59
4
89

132
7

57
3

125
32
7

412
110
252

31.12.2017

65

52

59

255

-

130

561

01.01.2018

65

52

59

255

-

130

561

67
6
62

65
6
35

44
22
37

551
206
70

-

38
16
58

765
256
262

64

76

44

530

-

94

808

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

808

51
510

808

561

Increase in provision
Release of unused provision
Provision used during the year
31.12.2018

MHUF
Breaking total provision
- long-term
- short-term
Total

MHUF
Provisions
2019
Short-term provisions, total
2020
Long-term provisions, total
Total

For absences and
For
leaves
lawsuits/disputes

For agreed
compensation

For future
liabilities

For environmental
rehabilitation

For other

Total

64

76

44

530

-

94

808

64

76

44

530

-

94

808

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

64

76

44

530

-

94

808

The Group did not create long-term provision in the business year of 2018.
The closing stock of short-term provisions is 808 MHUF, which is 247 MHUF higher compared to the
reference period.
Main driver of the change is that the Group created 551 MHUF provision for expected financial
liabilities. From the provisions created to similar aim in the previous period 70 MHUF were used and the
amount of 206 MHUF non-used provisions were unwound.
The provision for litigation/discussion is 24 MHUF higher compared to the previous business year, which
is created to cover the payments of the passive trials against the Group.
In 2018 the Group created 44 MHUF provision for wage agreements, while the provision created in the
base period (59 MHUF), was used/unwound in the reporting period.
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6.11.3. Short-term contract liabilities
In the line of short-term contractual liabilities is presented the part of accruals of connection fees taken
over definitively and of assets taken over free of charge, which is expected to be unwound within a year
(1 859 MHUF).
For more detailed information on contractual liabilities, see subsection 6.10.2.

6.11.4. Trade accounts payable and other liabilities
The balance line of liabilities to suppliers and other payables includes the aggregated value of accounts
payable to suppliers, payables to affiliated companies and other enterprises with other type of shared
relationships, derivative payables, deferred revenues and other payables.

6.11.4.1. Trade accounts payable
MHUF
Description

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

Investment suppliers
Other suppliers
Liabilities from deliveries of goods and provision of services
Payables to jointly controlled entities
Payables to other subsidiaries of the parent company
Payables to affiliated enterprises
Payables to affiliated enterprises and other undertakings
representing a share

3 624
12 764
16 388
3 026
5 306
8 332

3 289
17 250
20 539
3 206
5 440
8 646

8 332

8 646

Total

24 720

29 185

The accounts payable line in the consolidated balance sheet aggregates the values of trade payables, the
liabilities to affiliated undertakings and the payables to companies of other ownership relations.
The stock of suppliers – together with the liabilities to affiliated undertakings and companies of other
ownership relations – decreased by 4 465 MHUF (15,30 %) compared to the base period.
Within this group, the liabilities related to goods transfer and services – less affiliated and otherwise
interest-related undertakings – decreased by 4 151 MHUF (20,21 %) compared to the previous business
year; including a 335 MHUF decrease of the investment suppliers, and 4 486 MHUF decrease of the
other suppliers.
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The amount of payables to affiliated undertakings is 8 332 MHUF, which is 314 MHUF less, than that of
the preceding period, mainly because of the liability of 184 MHUF, resulting from purchasing electric
energy of ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiakereskedő Kft., and the decrease of 126 MHUF of the amount of
payables to ÉMÁSZ Nyrt.
The fair value of the accounts payable on December 31, 2017, and on December 31, 2018, was
approximately equal to their book value.

6.11.4.2. Other liabilities
MHUF
Other liabilities

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

Liabilities to shareholders
Payables from overpayment by buyers
Support obligation to coal industry
Deferred items and accruals (interest)
Other financial liabilities, total
Liabilities to employees
Liabilities related to shares and securities
Liabilities to the state budget
Other liabilities
Other non-financial liabilities, total

10
295
1
1 047
1 353
1 596
190
2 307
2 541
6 634

11
506
466
159
1 142
1 569
192
2 870
2 103
6 734

Total

7 987

7 876

The amount of other short-term liabilities is 7 987 MHUF, which is 111 MHUF higher compared to the
base period. Main defining factors of the change were: increase of deferred income and accrued
expenses by 888 MHUF and of other non-financial liabilities by 438 MHUF, and the decrease of liabilities
to the central budget by 563 MHUF, of liabilities concerning the support obligation to coal industry by
465 MHUF and of liabilities resulting from customer overpayments by 211 MHUF.
The closing value of the liabilities related to interests and securities includes the liabilities towards the
shareholders, resulting from the sale of the dematerialized shares. As per paragraph 408 of Act CXX.
from 2001 about the Capital Market the owners did not fulfill their obligation for the dematerialization,
thus for this reason a non-expiring liability is created towards the owners of the shares not submitted
for dematerialization. The Group registers this liability based on law, among the other non-financial
liabilities. The fair value of other financial liabilities on December 31, 2017, and on December 31, 2018,
was approximately equal to their book value.
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6.11.4.3. Derivative liabilities
The closing value of the derivatives liabilities was 297 MHUF, corresponding to the value of liabilities
resulting from the valuation of the forward foreign exchange purchases with RWE AG on the balance
sheet date. The closing balance of the derivative liabilities of the base period was shown under other
long-term liabilities and short-term liabilities in the balance sheet line payable to suppliers and other
payables.
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7. ANALYSIS OF THE STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

7.1. Sales revenues

MHUF
Sales revenues
Sale of electric energy
Direct tax related to the sale of electric energy (energy tax paid)
Revenues from grid usage fees
Revenues from connection fee
Other sales revenues
Total
'-Of which: at a point in time
'-Of which: over time

2018

-

95 093
554
104 759
2 018
13 200

2017

-

88 649
605
105 390
2 170
13 670

214 516

209 274

4 287
210 229

6 286
202 988

The sales revenue is 214 516 MHUF, which is 5 242 MHUF (2,50 %) higher compared to 2017.
92,91 % of the net revenues come from the sales of the electric energy division (sales of electric energy
and revenues from system usage fees net of energy tax), which is 5 864 MHUF (3,03 %) higher compared
to the base period. The sales of electric energy (with energy tax considered) increased by 6 495 MHUF
compared to the preceding business year.
The income from the system usage fees, paid by the consumers connecting to the distribution network –
which are paid by the consumers in forms of transfer-system control fee, fee of system-level services,
and distribution fees – decreased by 631 MHUF compared to the preceding business year.
The other revenues not related to the sales of energy, are 470 MHUF (3,4 %) lower compared to the
preceding business year.
From January 1, 2018, the Group accounts revenues according to the IFRS 15 standard, accounting
revenues from contracts with customers. The introduction of the new standard did not bring about any
significant change in the recognition of the sales revenues.
The Group accordingly with the prescriptions of IFRS 15 standard breaks down the sales revenues
resulting from customer contracts also by segments. The Group breaks up the revenues from transfer of
goods and services, according to those are recognized at a specific time or for a given period of time. A
significant part of the sales revenues of the Group are recognized for a given period, such as the
revenues from selling electric energy, revenues from system usage fees, revenues from connection fees,
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and revenues from selling other services. A smaller part of the sales revenues, like revenues from selling
materials and goods, and revenues from selling portfolios, are accounted at a specific time.

Unfulfilled contractual obligation performances over 1 year, of the Group, are reported on long-term
contractual liabilities. For further information, refer to section 6.10.2. Other than that, the Group do not
have any unfulfilled contractual performance obligation at the balance sheet date, of significant
amount, which would result in a revenue over one year.
For presentation of the sales revenue of the Group by segments, see section 5.
For more presentations on contractual liabilities, see subsection 6.10.2.

The Group inspected the source and types of all revenues and found that they do not have any
individually significant customers, against whom the accounted revenues exceed 10 % of the total
revenues.

7.2. Other operating income
MHUF
Other revenues from operation
Sale of tangible assets and intangible assets
Amount paid for uncollectible debts
Income from letting
Exchange rate gain from operation
Income from passing on costs and invoices
Income related to damages
Other items increasing the profit
Total

2018
81
38
1 032
555
115
1 081
1 596
4 498

2017
-

391
42
1 015
303
10
1 254
1 520
3 753

The other operating revenues increased by 745 MHUF (19,85 %) compared to the previous business
year.
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7.3. Depreciation and amortization
MHUF
Depreciation
Tangible assets

2018
13 097

12 900

901

880

13 998

13 780

Intangible assets
Total

2017

The depreciation increased by 218 MHUF compared to the previous period.

7.4. Material type expenditure
MHUF
Material type expenditures

2018

Material cost

2017

4 902

2 618

Cost of goods sold

104 241

96 624

- of which: purchase of electric energy

100 198

89 905

-

1 678

Grid usage fees

37 728

39 370

Other services used

15 212

13 902

162 083

152 514

- of which: purchase of gas

Total

Material type expenditures of the Group were 162 083 MHUF, which is 9 569 MHUF (6,27 %) higher
than in the previous period. The change resulted primarily from the increase of costs of goods sold.
The cost of goods sold increased by 7 617 MHUF (7,88 %) compared to the base period. 96,12 % of the
cost of goods sold comes from the purchasing value of the electric energy (less own consumption), while
3,88 % come from the book value of the materials sold.
The purchase value of the electric energy increased by 10 293 MHUF (11,45 %) compared to the base
period.
The paid transfer, system control fee, fee of system-level services, and distribution fees – altogether the
system usage fees – decreased by 1 642 MHUF (4,17 %) compared to the preceding period. The further
change of the material type costs is mainly caused by the increase of the material costs by 2 284 MHUF,
and the increase of the amount of the other services used by 1 310 MHUF.
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7.5. Personnel type expenditure

MHUF
Personnel type expenditures
Salaries and wages
Health insurance contributions and other personnel type expenditures
Contributions for voluntary pension fund
Social contribution tax
Personnel type provisions

2018

-

Total

2017

12 082
1 141
595
2 233
62

10 824
843
552
2 204
2

15 989

14 425

The personal type expenditures are 1 564 MHUF (10,84 %) higher compared to the preceding business
year.
The increase of the wages and salaries, and the related contributions and expenditures are basically
resulting from the wage increase. The net amount of the provision created for personal type
expenditures (annual leave not taken, wage agreements), resulting from the use of the provision
created for this reason, and from the net creation of the current year, decreased by 60 MHUF compared
to the reference period.

Period/portfolio group

2018

2017

Physical
Intellectual
Total
Physical
Intellectual
Total
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Average statistical
headcount of
employees in the
group (person)
368
1 336
1 704
362
1 288
1 650
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7.6. Other operating expenditures
MHUF
Other operating expenses
Derecognition of tangible assets and intangible assets
Sum of uncollectible amounts written off, debts waived
Profit from the sale of debts
Impairment of enterprises accounted for using the equity method
Exchange rate loss from operation
Rentals, leasehold and leasing
Profit from the allocation and release of provision
Taxes, duties and contributions
Other expenses decreasing the profit
- Of which: turnover commission paid to financial institutions
- Of which: expert and authority fees
- Of which: penalty interest, delay damages, compensation, fine
- Of which: environmental protection costs

2018

-

Total

2017

295
475
862
514
87
116
307
2 641
4 506
1 925
844
312
141

240
1 290
2 769
99
143
49
2 514
4 674
1 470
866
433
112

8 775

11 778

The amount of other operating expenditures is 8 775 MHUF, which is 3 003 MHUF (25,50 %) lower
compared to the previous year.
The net value of derecognition, resulting from disposal and damage accounted in relation with property,
plant and equipment, and intangible goods, is 295 MHUF, which is 55 MHUF lower compared to the
preceding year. On the balance sheet date, the Group examined, whether there is an objective evidence
for the derecognition of any property, plant and equipment, or immaterial goods as a result of disposal.
The derecognized value of property, plant and equipment consists of several, individually insignificant
items. In these cases the reason for disposal is the physical obsolescence of the asset.
In the reporting period, the sum of credit losses of the accounted irrecoverable receivables and the
receivables waived is 475 MHUF, which is 815 MHUF lower compared to the previous period. The profit
of the sale of receivables, was 862 MHUF, decreased by 1 907 MHUF compared to the previous year.
The net value of creation and unwinding of provisions (which does not contain the profit impact of the
changes of personal type provisions, because those are accounted among the personal type
expenditures) increased the value of the operating expenditures by 307 MHUF in the reporting period.
For further detailed information on the provision creation and release of the Group see subsection
6.11.2.
The auditing company, in addition to the audit services related to the reports, provided training services
to the employees of the Group (on IFRS 16 standard, professional training for those providing
accounting services).
Supplementary annex to the 2018 Consolidated Annual Report ELMŰ Nyrt.

93

7.7. Share from the profit of enterprises accounted for using the equity method
MHUF
Share from the profit of enterprises accounted for using the equity method

2018

Pro-rate periodic profit of enterprises accounted for using the equity method
Total

2017
941

52

941

52

The proportional amount of the profit of equity-accounted investees is 962 MHUF, which increased by
889 MHUF compared to the preceding business year. This profit category contains the profit of the
period of the companies consolidated by the equity method, calculated by the ownership rate of ELMŰ
Nyrt., described in detail in section 6.9.

7.8. Profit from financial transactions

MHUF
Description

2018

Interest received from financial institutions
Other received (due) interests and interest-type revenues
Revenues from financial transactions
Interest paid to financial institutions
Currency exchange loss of financial transactions
Expenditures of financial transactions
Profit from financial transactions

2017
298
1
299
324
324

-

25

386
29
415
476
25
501
-

86

The amount of the profit from financial transactions increased by 61 MHUF in comparison to the
reference period.
In line with the 116 MHUF decrease of interest received and interest type revenues, the paid interests
and interest type revenues also decreased by 177 MHUF compared to the base period.
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7.9. Profit tax

MHUF
Profit taxes
Corporate tax
Robin Hood tax
Deferred tax
Local business tax
Innovation contribution
Total

2018

2017

-

1 622
3 521
2 262
2 305
351

-

1 730
4 576
8
2 288
352

-

10 061

-

8 954

-

9 825
236

-

9 272
318

Income tax expense is attributable to:
Profit from continuing operations
Profit from discontinued operation

MHUF
Explanation of profit tax

2018

Profit before taxes from continuing operations
Profit before taxes from discontinued operation

24 759
1 438

Profit before taxes according to IFRS
14% -on számított adó (átlagkulcs)
Tax calculated at 19%
Effect of different tax rates and negative tax bases on the tax
Effect of items excluded from tax bases on the tax
Effect of non-deductible costs on the tax
Effect of the different tax base of other profit taxes on the tax
Effect of not recognised deferred tax
Total profit tax expenses

2017
-

26 197
-

28 982
4 262
24 720

-

2 358
8 121
1 942
907
802
1 605
24

-

-

2 225
7 663
1 577
1 232
207
1 615
53

-

10 061

-

8 954

The 10 061 MHUF amount of tax liabilities is divided. From the amount of tax expenses, the corporate
tax is 1 622 MHUF, the tax of the energy providers is 3 521 MHUF, the local business tax is 2 305 MHUF,
the innovation contribution is 351 MHUF, and the deferred, IFRS consolidated tax expenditure is
2 262 MHUF.

The amount of the profit taxes in relation to the continuing activities are as follows: corporate tax:
1 622 MHUF; the income tax of the energy-provider: 3 521 MHUF; local business tax: 2 305 MHUF;
innovation contribution: 351 MHUF; deferred, IFRS consolidated tax expenditure: 2 026 MHUF.
To the discontinued / discontinuing operations belongs the 236 MHUF deferred tax liability.
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Effect of different tax rates and negative tax bases on the tax
For the calculation of income tax of energy suppliers, members of the Group apportion their revenues,
and thus the tax base, complying with the legal provisions. For the member companies of the Group, the
proportions are different. This line contains the tax effects of the above factors after proportioning.
Effect of items excluded from tax bases on the tax
This is where the share of the profit from jointly managed companies is shown, since the consolidated
profit before taxation contains their amount after taxation. This line contains the tax effects of the
above factors.
Effect of non-deductible costs on the tax
This line of the calculation contains the tax effect of non-deductible expenses – receivables considered
irrecoverable, certain impairments, and support provided to other organizations.
Effect of the different tax base of other profit taxes on the tax
This line contains the tax effect of the tax base of the local and central taxes – which are significantly
different and higher than the corporate tax. Since the first line of the calculation shows a theoretical tax
calculated by an average rate, the effect of the local business tax and the innovation contribution is an
adjustment item in the calculation for the Hungarian member companies of the Group.

Effect of not accepted deferred tax
The Group disclaims a part of the deferred tax assets, because it is considered very likely, that there will
be no taxable profit in the future, which would allow these temporary differences to be utilized against.
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7.10. Discontinuing operations

On May 29, 2018, the Budapesti Elektromos Művek Nyilvánosan Működő Részvénytársaság made a
business share sale and purchase agreement with MET Holding AG – as the buyer – on transferring the
100 % ownership of ELMŰ in RWE Energie S.R.L., to the buyer.

The deduction of the discontinued activities and the activities to be discontinued is shown in the
following table:
MHUF
Profit / loss from discontinued / discontinuing operations
Total revenue
Direct tax (payed electricity tax)
Sales revenue
Other operating income
Depreciation and amortization
Material type expenditures
Personnel type expenditures
Impairment and reversal on financial assets
Other operating expenses
Income from operating activities
Financial income
Financial expenses
Financial result
Profit before tax
Income tax expense
Profit before tax from discontinued / discontinuing operations
Income tax expense

2018

-

-

-

2017

23 911
23 911
168
2
21 130
201
14
1 436
1 324
317
203
114
24 396
22 970
1 438
236

Retained profit / loss from discontinued / discontinuing operations

1 202

-

27 461
27 461
791
7
31 237
162
382
1 486
4 258
122
343
221
28 259
32 896
4 262
318
3 944
MHUF

Cash Flow of discontinued / discontinuing operations
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities

31.12.2018

-

6 172
2 753
7 992

Net increase / decrease in cash and cash equivalents

933

31.12.2017
-

3 950
2 385
7 992
1 657

The subsidiary of the Group, RWE Energy S.R.L. was sold on 31.08.2018. The above table shows the
financial effects of the discontinued activities, which has to be shown clearly separated from the
profit/loss resulted from the continued activities. The base period has been adjusted, the 2017
performance of RWE Energy is recognized among the discontinued activities.
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The profit impact of the sale of subsidiary is shown in the table below. The entire result of the
transaction is recognized in the profit of the discontinued activities, in the line of other operational
expenditures.
MHUF
RWE Energy Srl. company sales

31.08.2018

Received consideration
Carrying amount of net assets
Pofit/Loss
Transaction related costs
Transaction related tax effect
Reconduct effect of OCI
Realized sales result

3 250
1 719
1 531
559
155
817

7.11. Share information

Description
Profit to be allocated to the company's shareholders from continuing operations
(MHUF)
Profit to be allocated to the company's shareholders from
discontinued/discontinuing operations (MHUF)
Total profit to be allocated to the company's shareholders (MHUF)
Weighted average of the number of ordinary shares issued (except repurchased own
shares)
Profit per share and diluted earnings per share (HUF/share)
Of wich:
- From continuing operations
- From discontinued/discontinuing operations

2018

2017

14 934
1 202

19 710
-

3 944

16 136

15 766

6 074 441

6 074 441

2 656

2 595

2 458
198

-

3 244
649

The earnings per share, based on the quotient of the profit in the reporting period, and the number of
ordinary shares, is 2 656 HUF in 2018. The diluted earnings per share is the same, as the value calculated
on ordinary shares, because the Group does not have any stock options. The Group does not have any
repurchased shares.
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7.12. Related party transactions

MHUF
Description

2018

RWE AG

2017
5

12

5

12

16 541
903

17 304
931

17 444

18 235

1 342
11 393
11
14
7
57
94
109
70

252
10 800
2
17
8
33
17
2
16
175
70

Sale of goods and services to other subsidiary of the parent company

12 957

11 392

Sale of goods and services to affiliated parties, total

30 406

29 639

Sale of goods and services to parent company
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiakereskedő Kft.
Budapesti Dísz- és Közvilágítási Kft.
Sale of goods and services to jointly controlled companies
ÉMÁSZ Nyrt.
ÉMÁSZ Hálózati Kft.
RWE EnBW Magyarország Energiaszolgáltató Kft.
innogy IT Magyarország Kft. (previously RWE IT Magyarország Kft.)
innogy Hungária Tanácsadó Kft. (previously RWE Hungária Tanácsadó Kft.)
innogy Solutions Kft.
innogy SE
RWE Supply & Trading GmbH
iSE (previously RWE Deutschland AG)
Mátrai Erőmű Zrt.
RWE East s.r.o.

-

MHUF
Description
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiakereskedő Kft.
Budapesti Dísz- és Közvilágítási Kft.

2018

2017

14 329
4

22 048
4

14 333

22 052

ÉMÁSZ Nyrt.
ÉMÁSZ Hálózati Kft.
RWE EnBW Magyarország Energiaszolgáltató Kft.
innogy Hungária Tanácsadó Kft. (previously RWE Hungária Tanácsadó Kft.)
innogy Ceská republika a.s. (previously RWE Ceská republika a.s.)
innogy IT Magyarország Kft. (previously RWE IT Magyarország Kft.)
innogy SE
iSE (previously RWE Effizienz GmbH )
iSE (previously RWE IT GmbH)
iSE (previously RWE Vertrieb AG)
Mátrai Erőmű Zrt.
iSE (previously RWE Deutschland AG)
RWE Supply & Trading GmbH
eluminocity GmbH

1 133
20 156
208
188
20
2 082
27
69
642
9
101
30 872
11

2 116
20 574
242
115
15
2 737
35
9
641
2
44
22 213
-

Purchase of goods and services from other subsidiary of the parent company

55 518

48 739

-

-

69 851

70 791

Purchase of goods and services from jointly controlled companies

Purchase of goods and services from affiliated parties, total
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MHUF
Description
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiakereskedő Kft.

6

-

6

-

17
2
90
1 195

15
2
185
16
2
36
-

1 304

256

1 310

256

Purchase of tangible assets and intangible assets from jointly controlled companies
ÉMÁSZ Hálózati Kft.
RWE IT GmbH
innogy IT Magyarország Kft. (previously RWE IT Magyarország Kft.)
RWE Effizienz GmbH
RWE Vertrieb AG
Mitteldeutsche Netzgesellschaft Strom mbH
RWE Systems AG
Purchase of tangible assets and intangible assets from other subsidiaries of the parent
company
Purchase of tangible assets and intangible assets from affiliated parties, total

2017

2018

MHUF
Description
RWE AG
Income from financial and other transactions from jointly controlled companies
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiakereskedő Kft.
Income from financial and other transactions from jointly controlled companies
innogy SE
iSE (previously RWE IT GmbH)
innogy International Middle East (korábbi RWE Power International Middle East LLC)
RWE Supply & Trading GmbH
ÉMÁSZ Nyrt.
ÉMÁSZ Hálózati Kft.
Mátrai Erőmű Zrt.
Income from financial and other transactions from other subsidiary of the parent
company
Income from financial and other transactions from affiliated parties, total
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2017
-

76

-

76

867

862

867

862

22
2
1
80
50
4
-

116
1
1
70

-

2

159

188

1 026

1 050

100

MHUF
Description
RWE AG

2018

2017
-

83

-

83

40

13

40

13

RWE Supply & Trading GmbH
innogy SE
RWE IT Gmbh
RWE Power International Middle East LLC
ÉMÁSZ Hálózati Kft.
Expenses of financial and other transactions vis-à-vis other subsidiary of the parent
company

96
273
-

53
226
1
1
-

370

281

Expenses of financial and other transactions vis-à-vis affiliated parties, total

410

377

Expenses of financial and other transactions vis-à-vis parent company
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiakereskedő Kft.
Expenses of financial and other transactions vis-à-vis jointly controlled companies

For detailed information related to the leasing definitions see section 6.1. Property, plant and
equipment, regarding the undertakings wholly included in the consolidation, and the associate and
jointly managed undertakings. In the above tables, the parties shown as affiliated undertakings, is not
the same as the undertakings included in the consolidation.
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The parent company guarantees, provided by ELMŰ Nyrt., existing on December 31, 2018

Date of expiry
31.01.2019
31.01.2020
31.01.2020
28.02.2019
30.09.2019
31.01.2020
30.04.2019
30.11.2019
30.11.2019
31.12.2019
28.02.2020
31.01.2020
31.10.2019
31.10.2019

Description

Total (MHUF)

Parent company's guarantee
Parent company's guarantee
Parent company's guarantee
Parent company's guarantee
Parent company's guarantee
Parent company's guarantee
Parent company's guarantee
Parent company's guarantee
Parent company's guarantee
Parent company's guarantee
Parent company's guarantee
Parent company's guarantee
Parent company's guarantee
Parent company's guarantee

80
322
2 411
482
788
482
1 286
145
322
6
402
482
418
370

Total

7 996

The owner's guarantees provided by ELMŰ Nyrt. to their related undertakings and valid on December
31, 2018 are 7 996 MHUF, which are expected to expire between January 31, 2019 and February 28,
2020. Since the probability of non-payment from ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiakereskedő Kft. is low, the fair
value of these guarantees is not significant.

Key management personnel compensation
MHUF
2018
Description of remuneration

Board of
Directors

Supervisory
Board

2017
Total

Board of
Directors

Supervisory
Board

Total

Short-term benefits

163

26

189

128

30

158

Total

163

26

189

128

30

158

In 2018, the total compensation of the Board of Directors was 163 MHUF, increased by 35 MHUF
compared to the previous year. In the reporting period the Group paid 24 MHUF of remuneration to the
Supervisory Board, as well as 4 MHUF remuneration and 159 MHUF indemnities expenses for the Board.
In the reporting period, a total of 6 MHUF social contribution tax and vocational training levy was paid
after the compensation of the key management personnel.
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8. CONTINGENT CLAIMS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
There were neither contingent liabilities, nor capital commitments incurred against the interests of the
Group in their affiliated undertakings, which are shared with another undertaking.
Lawsuits against the Group
MHUF
Type of legal proceedings
Passive lawsuits
Total

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

718

985

718

985

In the above table of passive lawsuits the cumulated damage value of the lawsuits initiated against the
Group is shown.
The subjects of the passive cases:
- breach of contract or uncontracted draw,
– operation owing to street lighting,
– other court cases,
– claims for damages in relation to invoicing.

Similarly to the passive trials, provisions are generated if there is an expected payment obligation
resulting from the trial, for the Group. For further information, refer to section 2.20. The closing value of
the provision for litigation/discussion is 76 MHUF, which is created to cover the payments of the passive
trials against the Group. For further information, refer to subsection 6.11.2.
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RIGHTS AND COMMITMENTS NOT INCLUDED IN THE BALANCE SHEET
As far as the litigious customer receivables, the Group secured its rights not included in the balance
sheet, by registering mortgages. In the enforcement phase of debt collection through litigation
enforcement rights were registered by the land registry office in regard to debts under litigation. The
closing value of the mortgages on 31 December 2018 is 111 MHUF, and on 31 December 2017 was
192 MHUF. The Group secured its rights and liabilities not included in the balance sheet, by issuing a
bank guarantee through agreements with banks, and owner's guarantees.

The bank guarantees issued by the Hungarian Branch Office of ING Bank N.V. in place on December
31, 2018

Date

Description

Total (MHUF)

30.11.2019
31.01.2020
31.01.2020
31.01.2019
31.01.2019
31.01.2019
31.01.2019
31.01.2020
31.12.2019
30.09.2019
31.12.2019
30.09.2019
26.10.2019
31.12.2020
31.01.2021
31.01.2021
31.03.2020
31.03.2020
31.01.2020
31.01.2021

Performance guarantee
Performance guarantee
Performance guarantee
Performance guarantee
Performance guarantee
Performance guarantee
Performance guarantee
Performance guarantee
Performance guarantee
Performance guarantee
Performance guarantee
Performance guarantee
Performance guarantee
Performance guarantee
Performance guarantee
Performance guarantee
Performance guarantee
Performance guarantee
Performance guarantee
Performance guarantee

35
104
96
257
152
80
13
99
72
71
74
72
0
4
117
82
16
2
1
101

Total

Performance guarantee

1448
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Presentation of ELMŰ Nyrt.
Budapesti Elektromos Művek Nyrt. (ELMŰ Nyrt., hereinafter: Company) - through their shareholdings
- performs regulated market trade with electric energy (universal services), regulated network
business (distribution) and also sale of electric and natural gas energy on the free market. Moreover
the Company also provides many further services to their customers. The Company is part of the
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Group (hereinafter: ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ).

Organization of ELMŰ Nyrt. and its connection to ÉMÁSZ Nyrt.

The Company celebrated the 125th anniversary of its foundation in 2018. This landmark anniversary
was presented by the Company in the framework of a “customer arena” event, introducing futureoriented products and services of the Company.
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The Company continued to modify its structure in 2018 as described below.
The Company transferred the newly developed service portfolio to its newly established subsidiary,
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Solutions Kft. that has the objective of providing professional, complex solutions to
their customers for any energetics, network, lighting and renewable energy needs, from the
assessment through design to realization.
In order to serve the promisingly expanding telecommunication market, ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Hálózati
Szolgáltató Kft. that changed its name to ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Telco Kft., has the primary objective to
provide telecommunication infrastructure services in the B2B segment.
The new member of the Group of companies is ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiatároló Kft. established by the
Company with a 100 % ownership. The objective of the operation of the company is a new type of
activity, enabled by the technological development, namely the sale of battery energy storage as a
service, mainly on the quickly developing market of primary energy control.
The Company sold 100 % of their stake in their former Romanian energy trading subsidiary, RWE
Energie SRL to the Swiss MET Group, so they exited the Romanian energy market in 2018.
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Management Team
Board of Directors
The Board of Directors is the managing body of the Company, it is responsible for setting and
accomplishing the targets of the Company, develops and controls the work organization of the
Company, and represents the Company.

Members of the Board of Directors:

Chairman of the Board of Directors
Dr. Marie-Theres Thiell

Board Member responsible for Finance and Services Division:
Krisztina Horváth

Board Member responsible for Sales Division:
László Koncz

Board Member responsible for Network Division:
Franz Josef Retzer
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Supervisory Board
The Supervisory Board is responsible for controlling the Executive Management in order to protect
the interests of the Company.
Members of the Supervisory Board:
·

Karl Kraus
Chair of the Supervisory Board

·

Dr. Martin Konermann *
Energie Baden-Württemberg AG

·

Marc Wolpensinger *
Energie Baden-Württemberg AG

·

Dr. Miklós Dobák

·

Dr. Gábor Szörényi

·

Lajos Németh
employee representative, ELMŰ Nyrt.

·

Dr. Csaba Székely
employee representative, ELMŰ Nyrt.

·

Katalin Szuromi-Máté
employee representative, ELMŰ Nyrt.

·

József Dénes*

(*members of the Audit Committee)

In accordance with the relevant laws, the Company has an enterprise resource planning system,
publicly available as per Article 95/B, Section (2), subsection a) of the Act C of 2000 on Accounting at
the website of the Budapest Stock Exchange (www.bet.hu), and it is in coherence with the applicable
legal regulations as per Section (2), subsection c).
The managing body of the Company is the Board of Directors, undertaking also the daily operative
tasks of the Company according to the provisions of the Articles of Association, the General Meeting
and the Supervisory Board. The Board of Directors has four members. The members of the
Board of Directors are persons delegated by the strategic investors (innogy SE, EnBW). The election
of the Board of Directors is the exclusive authority of the General Meeting. There is therefore no
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nomination committee working at the Company. The members shall elect a chairman from among
themselves.
Management of the Company is the task of the Board of Directors, with the various operative tasks
divided among the members, as listed below:

1. Chairman of the Board of Directors - Dr. Marie-Theres Thiell,
2. Division for Finance and Services - Krisztina Horváth,
3. Division Sales - László Koncz,
4. Network Division - Franz Josef Retzer.

Tasks and decisions for each division as described above are within the authority of the individual
members. These shall be undertaken at their own discretion, but always in line with the Company’s
predefined directives. The members have responsibility for the management of their respective
divisions towards the Board of Directors and the Company. The Board of Directors shall make
common decisions as a body, for the topics regulated by the procedural rules of the Board of
Directors. The preparation, convocation and administration of the meeting of the Board of Directors
are the tasks of the Chairman. The resolutions of the Board of Directors must be communicated to
the Supervisory Board, and the Board of Directors is obliged to report regularly to the
Supervisory Board on the Company’s course of business. The Board of Directors is obliged to inform
the Supervisory Board in advance on the major business matters, as detailed in the procedural rules
of the Supervisory Board.
A Supervisory Board operates at the Company in order to control the business activity of the
Board of Directors, according to the provisions of the Civil Code. The Supervisory Board has nine
members. Three members of the Supervisory Board are delegated by the Worker’s Council from
among the employees, after hearing the opinion of the Company’s Trade Union, and their election is
resolved by the General Meeting. The majority of the members of the Supervisory Board are
independent individuals, according to Section 3:290 of the Civil Code, i.e. they have no other legal
relationship with the Company apart from the said membership. The members shall elect a chairman
from among themselves. The Company established an Audit Committee in 2007, according to Section
3:291 of the Civil Code. Its members are elected by the General Meeting from among the
independent members of the Supervisory Board. The declaration announced on the practice of

Business Report 2018 ELMŰ Nyrt.

7

corporate management contains the composition and operation of the supreme bodies of direction
and supervision.
The system of internal controls includes the controls built into the managerial and work processes,
comprising among others the following activities:
·

continuous follow-up of the corporate objectives, preparation of external and internal
reports (Controlling System)

·

defining, assessing, continuously reviewing, analyzing, reporting and controlling market and
credit risks (risk controlling system)

·

elaboration and implementation of the internal control plan, derived from the Company’s
expected financial, operative, regulatory and other risks Independent Internal Control
System)

·

Enforcement of the provisions of Code of Conduct (responsible: Compliance Officer)

The risk controlling system supports overall strategic objectives of the Group of companies, by
maintaining the balance between risks and returns, such as defining, assessing, monitoring, limiting
and reporting risks.
After all, the Board of Directors is responsible for risk strategy, management and comprehensive
control, which, according to the Articles of Association, established the appropriate internal risk
management organization, harmonized with the tolerable risk and expectations of shareholders.
The Risk Committee, consisting from Board members, and chaired by the finance and services
division manager (CFO), is the responsible body for maintaining the risks within the limits set by the
Board, and for the management of those risks.
The risk management department operates under direct supervision by the CFO. They establish the
methods, procedures and systems used for the continuous definition, measurement, assessment,
limitation and proactive reduction of credit and market risks, both at the level of assessing the
Company’s partners and level of portfolio.
Risk management is basically carried out according to the rules and guidelines set by innogy SE,
while the degree of risk assumed is set out in accordance with the group level risk tolerance limits.
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Economic and market environment in 2018
The effectiveness of the Company is affected by many factors of the global economy, the
developments of the energy market, and the domestic economic conditions.
In our days we see a drastic transformation of the energy models resulting from the dynamic changes
of energy markets. Due to the constantly changing conditions, participants of the electricity market
turn towards, on the one hand, investments and business areas with lower risk-level, and, on the
other hand, new and innovative technologies and complex consumer solutions. These developments
provide a number of possibilities for the Company. In the traditional business fields, in the regulated
business tightening of the regulation was experienced, while on the free market competition
intensified.

Social and technological environment
In order to meet new challenges, the Company focused on developing sustainable quality of life and
quality of services, with emphasis on digitalization spreading everywhere. Proliferation of solar
panels, battery storage systems and electric-driven cars continues worldwide, at the same time
opening up a series of new business opportunities. The enHome and Solutions business lines offer
solutions in these areas.
Digitalization also has a serious impact on the internal life of the Company and can provide a
solution to the challenges resulting from the lack of manpower.
The Digital@Elmű program is a company level tool for promoting digitalization of the group
processes. Developments accomplished within the framework of the program resulted in increase of
efficiency even on the short term.
In the 21st century, mankind rallies into megapolises. These can only be operated as smart cities.
Smart cities need more multi-functional solutions that improve the quality of city life by providing
digital infrastructure. In the framework of such a pilot project, in co-operation with BDK Kft., 5 smart
public lighting columns, connected in a group, were installed in Budapest, on the Lechner Ödön alley.
In this pilot project columns are connected to the Internet, provide a number of new, essential
functions, needed for operating a smart city.

Business Report 2018 ELMŰ Nyrt.

9

In the framework of the e-mobility program of ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ, the expansion of the electric driven
vehicle fleet of the Company Group continued in 2018.
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiatároló Kft. owned by the Company has started its operations in order to
operate a high performance battery storage, which installed for energy regulation purposes.

Mission
The Company is prepared for the future energy world, and strives to contribute to the success of the
Hungarian energy and economic policy, at the same time meeting the expectations of investors,
customers and public. The Company relies on the expertise of their employees, and is an
indispensable actor of the domestic innovation, plays a crucial role in the formation of the renewable
energy production of Hungary.

At the service of our customers
Budapesti Elektromos Művek celebrated their 125 years of existence with a major event, together
with their customers and partners.
Organized by ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ, one of the biggest energy market events for corporate customers, was
held on October 11th, the Energy Market & Management Conference. Employees of the Company
interviewed 1200 household and 400 corporate customers in person, about their experience with
distribution activities and universal services. Using the results of the survey, the Company is trying to
adapt their procedures to better meet the increasing needs of customers.

Responsibility for our employees
Diversity Program initiated by the Company kept on going successfully also in 2018. Diversity
Program focuses on the three pillars of the receptive corporate culture, i.e. intercultural
competencies, genders and age groups. Its objectives and actions include the increase of number of
female managers in technical fields, continuance of the female mentor and scholarship programs and
starting the new talent support program.
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Occupational health and safety
The Company puts special emphasis on the development of health protection and work safety of the
employees. Through the introduction of private health insurance and disease prevention last year, it
made a big step towards the shaping of health awareness and of preventive approach.
It is obligatory to provide work safety and health protection training, as well as fire protection
training to all new employees after hiring them, and later regularly as specified by the relevant
policies.

Code of Conduct, Compliance activity
The Company highlights the importance of respecting human rights, and the fight against corruption.
Company’s activities are conducted in a fair and legal manner.
For all of the employees and business partners Code of Conduct of the Company is available. It
supports diversity and equal treatment, irrespective of sex, marital status, ethnic origin, nationality,
age, religion, sexual orientation, and physical or mental disability. Protects freedom of association
and acknowledges the right to wage negotiations. It supports free competition and transparent
markets, and fights against unfair competition or the restriction of competition. When handling
corporate information, it observes the national and international regulations on the capital market
and ensures careful handling of personal data. The Company stands up for the protection of business
secrets and the intellectual property of a third party, and observes the legislations and regulations on
taxation, supports, and public procurement.
In order to diminish, as much as possible, the risk of breaching the Code of Conduct, the parent
company developed, among others, a so-called Compliance Management System. The Company
regularly communicates and controls and continuously develops all necessary measures to control
and diminish the risks. The Company created a policy and a procedure for reporting any abuse.
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Social responsibility
In addition to its significant economic role, the Company also contributes to value creation and the
conservation of real values through social responsibility. The Company supports charity and healthcare organizations. ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ continued their by now traditional charity cooperation in 2018. In
addition to that Company Group signed a strategic cooperation agreement with the Hungarian
Interchurch Aid and the Hungarian Charity Service of the Order of Malta. On the initiative of the
Company, several featured members of the German-Hungarian Industrial and Trade Chamber
(DUIHK) organized the TechCsajok event between May 14 and 17, 2018. TechCsajok targeted to
promote the interest towards technology and natural sciences studies among potential female
students.

Sustainability
Responsibility for our environment is an essential commitment of the Company. There is no doubt
that the energy sector is of major economic importance, therefore the activities of companies
operating in this field has always been focused with much social and political attention. Protecting
the environment surrounding us is a paramount aspect in all of the developments and investments of
the Company being committed to the responsible use of natural resources. The Company promotes
the use of environmentally friendly technologies.
The Company wishes to contribute to the sustainable development, the improvement of our quality
of life, and the protection of our environment by continuously reducing the pollution of the
environment. The Company operates an Integrated Management System audited under the relevant
standards, including the process management (ISO 9001), work safety (OSHAS), environmental
protection (ISO 14001) and energy management (ISO 50001).
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Annual reports
Analysis of the annual report
Pursuant to the amendment of Act C of 2000 on Accounting in 2015, the Company prepares its
annual report according to the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).
Milestones of the individual balance sheet of our Company
The value of non-current assets decreased by 325 MHUF (0,13 %) compared to the reference period.
The net value of intangible assets decreased by 29 MHUF (3,9 %) compared to the reference period.
The net value of the property, plant and equipment increased by 584 MHUF (6,9 %) compared to the
previous business year. The Company spent a significant part of the investments of the reporting
period primarily on building renovations, telecommunication reconstruction and the expansion and
renewal of its vehicle fleet.
Investment properties include the leased buildings of the Company, its net value was 953 MHUF for
the reporting period.
On 31 December 2018, the Company had shares in eight undertakings, shown in financial fixed
assets. The amount decreased by 871 MHUF compared to the previous business year, which includes
the derecognition of the book value of RWE Energie S.R.L. and the share value of the newly founded
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Solutions Kft.
Investments of ELMŰ Nyrt. on 31 December 2018

ELMŰ DSO Holding Kft. "u.v.l."
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiatároló
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Solutions Kft.
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Ügyfélszolgálati Kft.
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiaszolgáltató Zrt.
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Telco Kft. *
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiakereskedő Kft.
Budapesti Dísz- és Közvilágítási Kft.
Total

Subscribed capital
MHUF
221 814
3
3
3
1 000
3
200
8 479

Investments of ELMŰ Nyrt.
(Book value) MHUF
221 814
3
3
2
5 740
2
225
3 180

Ownership ratio
of ELMŰ Nyrt
100,00
100,00
100,00
70,00
70,00
65,00
50,00
50,00

230 969

* the previous name was ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Hálózati Kft.
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The 37 141 MHUF closing balance of current assets increased by 176 MHUF (0,48 %) in comparison
to the previous year.
The amount of loans provided increased by 1 660 MHUF (5,43 %) in 2018.
The value of the trade accounts receivables and other receivables shows a total increase by
487 MHUF (14,25 %) compared to the previous year.
One of the key factors is the amount of receivable claims against affiliated companies, which is
671 MHUF higher than in the base period.
The closing balance of other receivables is 1 317 MHUF, it is 772 MHUF lower than in the reference
period. Its most significant component is the decrease of receivables from the central budget by
596 MHUF compared to the previous year.
The closing balance of electricity buyers decreased by 249 MHUF (83,28 %) compared to the
reference period. The determining factor of the change of receivables related to electricity buyers is
resulted from the Company having sold its accounts receivables, and terminated its electricity sales,
as its licence of electricity trade expired.
The closing balance of other customers is 759 MHUF higher compared to the previous business
period. The closing balance of litigated receivables decreased by 591 MHUF. Consequently, the
amortization recognized for customers decreased by 669 MHUF.
The closing balance of actual income tax-receivables decreased by 1 859 MHUF compared to 2017.
The closing balance of inventories (446 MHUF) decreased by 280 MHUF compared to the previous
reporting period.
The closing balance of cash and cash equivalents is 256 MHUF, which increased by 168 MHUF,
compared to the previous reporting period. The key factor of the change is the 240 MHUF increase of
the closing balance of the settlement deposit account compared to the preceding business year.
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Equity capital of the Company was 206 445 MHUF on December 31, 2018. The following table shows
the equity capital structure of the Company:

Equity capital on 31 December 2018
Subscribed capital
Capital reserves
Retained earnings
Of which: Retained profit/loss
Total equity

MHUF
60 744
0
145 701
10 131
206 445

The closing balance of non-current liabilities was 35 MHUF, decreased by 54 MHUF compared to
2017, and this change is mainly caused by the decrease of long-term provisions.
The over-the-year part of contract liabilities is shown in the balance sheet long-term contract
liabilities and the within-one-year part is shown in the balance sheet line short-term contract
liabilities. Within the contract liabilities is the 41 MHUF closing balance of accrual of assets taken
over free of charge.
The 72 599 MHUF closing balance of current liabilities decreased by 392 MHUF compared to the
previous year, this change is owing to the decrease of accounts payable and other payables by
1 236 MHUF, and the increase of short-term loans (by 398 MHUF) and the provisions (by 434 MHUF).
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Development of the bank loans in 2018 and 2017 (MHUF)

The following graph shows the structure of the closing amount of the assets and liabilities in 2018:
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Profit and loss of the Company
Revenue on sales is 14 574 MHUF, and its main components are central services provided to related
undertakings (11 237 MHUF), renewable energy services (2 531 MHUF), revenue from the sales of E+
products (96 MHUF) and revenue from goods sold (246 MHUF).
The revenue from the sale of electricity recognized in the reporting period was stated in the retained
profit/loss from discontinued/discontinuing operations.
The value of other operating income is 12 051 MHUF, which shows a decrease of 5 178 MHUF
compared to the reference period. One of the determinants of the change is the 4 816 MHUF
decrease of the income resulted from investments.
The depreciation and amortization decreased by 58 MHUF compared to the previous period.
The amount of material type expenditures is 9 260 MHUF, it is 690 MHUF (8,05 %) higher than in the
reference period.
One of the key factors is the 986 MHUF increase of the material cost, which is related to the increase
of the renewable energy business unit.
The total amount of services used increased by 999 MHUF, including, but not limited to, the increase
of central services received from related undertakings, maintenance costs, and value of sold
(intermediated) services.
The cost of goods sold is 1 295 MHUF lower compared to 2017.
The personal type expenditures are 578 MHUF (16,94 %) higher compared to the preceding business
year. The increase of the wages and salaries, and the related contributions and expenditures are
basically resulting from the wage increase.
The amount of the other operating expenses is 2 962 MHUF, which is 1 132 MHUF (61,86 %) higher
compared to the previous year. This increase is resulted from, among others, the increase of profit
generated from allocation and release of provisions by 370 MHUF, and the increase of the profit
from the sale of shares by 408 MHUF.
The amount of the profit on financial transactions decreased by 73 MHUF in comparison to the
reference period. Parallel to the 185 MHUF decrease of the income from financial transactions, the
costs of financial transactions also decreased by 112 MHUF compared to the reference period.
Business Report 2018 ELMŰ Nyrt.
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The breakdown of the 202 MHUF amount of the income taxes is as follows: local business tax is
175 MHUF, innovation contribution is 27 MHUF, IFRS consolidated tax expenditure is not generated.

Usage of profit after tax
The Board of the Company allocates the profit after tax of 10 131 MHUF to profit reserve.
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Attachment
Individual balance sheet (IFRS)
BALANCE SHEET / ASSETS
MHUF
Non-current assets

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

241 751

242 076

9 048

8 464

Investment properties

953

961

Intangible assets

715

744

230 969

231 840

65

-

Available-for-sale financial assets

-

65

Loans

1

2

Trade and other receivables

-

-

Property, plant and equipment

Investments
Other financial instrumentums

Deferred tax asset
Current assets
Inventories

-

-

37 141

36 965

446

726

Securities
Loans
Trade accounts receivables and other receivables

-

-

32 209

30 549

3 905

3 418

Income tax receivable

325

2 184

Cash and cash equivalents

256

88

Assets classified as held for sale

187

-

279 079

279 041

Total assets

BALANCE SHEET / EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Subscribed capital
Capital reserves
Retained earnings
Non-current liabilities

31.12.2018

31.12.2017

206 445

205 961

60 744

60 744

-

-

145 701

145 217

35

89

Deferred tax liability

-

-

Provisions

-

42

29

-

Long-term contract liabilities
Other non-current liabilities

6

47

Current liabilities

72 599

72 991

Short-term debt and leasing

67 169

66 771

545

111

12

-

Provisions
Short-term contract liabilities
Trade accounts payable and other liabilities

4 873

6 109

Income tax liability

-

-

Liabilities classified as held for sale

-

-

279 079

279 041

Total equity and liabilities
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Statement of comprehensive income

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
MHUF

2018

Total revenue

2017

14 574

Direct tax (payed electricity tax)
Sales revenue
Variations in self-manufactured stocks
Other own work capitalized
Other operating income

15 319

-

-

14 574

15 319

102

-

17

-

12 051

17 229

Depreciation and amortization

-

1 082

-

1 140

Material type expenditures

-

9 260

-

8 570

Personnel type expenditures

-

3 990

-

3 412

Other operating expenses

-

2 962

-

1 830

Impairment and reversal of financial assets

-

10

-

Income from operating activities

9 440

Financial income

261

Financial expenses

-

Financial result

-

Profit before tax
Income tax expense
Retained profit/loss from continuing operations

-

301

15
17 581
446

-

413

40

33

9 400

17 614

202

-

230

9 198

17 384

933

200

10 131

17 584

1 668

2 895

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss

-

-

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

-

-

Total other comprehensive income

-

-

10 131

17 584

Retained profit / loss from discontinued / discontinuing operations
Retained profit/loss

Basic earnings and diluted earnings per share (HUF/share)

Total comprehensive income
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Cash Flow report

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
MHUF

2018

Profit before tax

10 352

Financial result excl. realized exchange differences

41

Depreciation and amortisation
Impairment on trade receivables

2017

1 082
-

520

Other non-cash items

610

Balance of recognising and using of provisions

392

Other adjustment items

-

Modified profit before tax

9 799

-

1 236

Current assets (excl. cash and cash equivalents)

-

249

Interest received

-

3 498
3 181
75

-

16 463

-

10 299

2 277
15 228

260
-

10
1 140

2 158

Trade accounts payable

Interest paid

17 852
-

413

301

-

402

1 638

-

947

-

9 719

-

9 112

Cash flows from operating activities

-

7 449

-

2 842

Purchases of non-current assets

-

1 935

-

1 333

Tax paid (on profit)
Dividends paid

Sale of non-current assets

103

Available-for-sale financial assets
Loan repayments

-

Cash from the sale of a subsidiary company
Dividends received
Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from borrowings
Repayments of borrowings
Cash flows from financing activities
Not realized exchange gains/losses on cash and cash equivalents (+/-)

-

117

-

-

65

4 440

-

14 208

1 934

-

11 557

16 373

7 219

884

5 398

5 000

5 000

-

398
-

2 967
2 033

-

1

Net increase/decrease in cash and cash equivalents

168

74

Net increase/decrease in cash and cash equivalents

168

74

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

88

14

256

88

(*) In the statement of cash flows of the company the profit before tax shows the profit before tax for the continuing operation (9 400 MHUF) and
for the activities being and already discontinued (952 MHUF) consolidated.
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Changes of equity capital

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
MHUF
Carrying amount 01.01.2017

Subscribed
capital

Additional
paid-in capital

Retained
earnings

Total equity

60 744

-

136 745

Retained profit / loss

-

-

17 584

17 584

Total comprehensive income

-

-

17 584

17 584

Distributions of dividends
Carrying amount 31.12.2017
Adjusted impairment (IFRS9)
Carrying amount 01.01.2018

-

-

60 744

-

-

9 112

197 489

-

145 217

9 112
205 961

-

-

72

72

60 744

-

145 289

206 033

Retained profit / loss

-

-

10 131

10 131

Total comprehensive income

-

-

10 131

10 131

Distributions of dividends
Carrying amount 31.12.2018
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-

60 744

-

-

9 719
145 701

-

9 719
206 445
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Analysis of the consolidated annual report
The consolidated annual report is worked out on the basis of the International Financial Reporting
Standards.
There has been a significant change in the life of the Group from 31st August 2018, when RWE
Energy S.R.L., a subsidiary with a 100 % rate of ownership has been sold to MET Holding AG. In
conclusion of the deal one of the separate geographical segments has been ceased.
The Company has transferred its total electricity business unit to its fully consolidated subsidiary and
to the joint companies of the Group consolidated using the equity method.
Under the provisions of IFRS, from the Group's aspects, universal service provider activities and free
market electricity trading activities are to be considered as continuous activities.

Key data of the Group balance sheet
The closing balance of current assets increased by 6 335 MHUF (3,39 %) to 192 978 MHUF compared
to the business year 2017.
The net value of the property, plant and equipment increased by 8 591 MHUF (5,20 %) compared to
the previous business year. The ELMŰ Group used a significant portion of the value of the year's
investment projects for the modernization of the grid mainly in order to further improve the security
of supply.
The net value of intangible assets increased by 196 MHUF (8,07 %) compared to the reference
period. The change in intangible assets was caused to a significant extent by the recognition of
depreciation related to the ISU invoicing system.
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There was no change in the scope of companies included in the consolidated report in comparison
to the previous business year.
The Company as the parent company, held a share in the following enterprises as at
31 December 2018:

ELMŰ DSO Holding Kft. "u.v.l."
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiaszolgáltató Zrt.
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Ügyfélszolgálati Kft.
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Telco Kft.*
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiakereskedő Kft.
Budapesti Dísz- és Közvilágítási Kft.
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiatároló Kft.
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Solutions Kft.

Registered Capital
MHUF
221 814
1 000
3
3
200
8 479
3
3

Share of ELMŰ Nyrt.
%
100
70
70
65
50
50
100
100

* the previous name was ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Hálózati Kft.

The Company established ELMŰ DSO Holding Kft. (currently under voluntary liquidation) as its wholly
owned subsidiary, responsible for the property management of ELMŰ Hálózati Kft., in the business
year of 2015.
In accordance with the provisions of the IFRS 10 standard, ELMŰ DSO Holding Kft. ”u.v.l.” and
ELMŰ Hálózati Kft. are classified as indirect subsidiaries, as the parent company exercises control
over these companies. For both subsidiaries, the rate of ownership (100 %) corresponds to the rate
of the votes. Based on the above, the subsidiaries are fully consolidated.

The Group qualifies ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Ügyfélszolgálati Kft. as a jointly controlled operation. ELMŰÉMÁSZ Ügyfélszolgálati Kft., is joint arrangement providing services to the owners and to their
subsidiaries, therefore it qualifies as a jointly controlled operation.

In line with the IFRS standards, the Group qualifies its following companies as jointly controlled
enterprises:
§

ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiakereskedő Kft.

§

ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Telco Kft.

§

Budapesti Dísz- és Közvilágítási Kft.
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Presentation of the key lines of the (IFRS) reports of companies under joint control consolidated
with the equity method:
Balance sheet as at 31 12 2018 (data in MHUF)
Current assets
Fixed assets
TOTAL ASSETS
Liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES
Net assets without non-controlling interest

ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ
Energiakereskedő Kft.
46 309
4 483
50 792
49 128
49 128
1 664

Budapesti Dísz- és
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Telco Kft.
Közvilágítási Kft.
2 752
34
9 766
0
12 518
34
2 330
100
2 330
100
10 188
-66

Total
49 095
14 249
63 344
51 558
51 558
11 786

Profit and loss statement of 2018 (data in MHUF)

Revenues
Costs
Result of financial operations
Tax expenditure
Interim profit / Total comprehensive income

ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ
Energiakereskedő Kft.
161 239
159 032
-105
1 444
658

Budapesti Dísz- és
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Telco Kft.
Közvilágítási Kft.
7 505
2
6 722
2
0
0
14
0
769
0

Total
168 746
165 756
-105
1 458
1 427

Presentation of the key lines of the (IFRS) reports of companies under joint control consolidated
with the equity method in the proportion of the ownership shares held by ELMŰ Nyrt.:
Balance sheet as at 31 12 2018 (data in MHUF)

Current assets
Fixed assets
TOTAL ASSETS
Liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES
Net assets without non-controlling interest

ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ
Energiakereskedő Kft.
23 154
2 242
25 396
24 564
24 564
832

Budapesti Dísz- és
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Telco Kft.
Közvilágítási Kft.
1 376
23
4 883
0
6 259
23
1 165
65
1 165
65
5 094
-42

Total
24 553
7 125
31 678
25 794
25 794
5 884

Profit and loss statement of 2018 (data in MHUF)

Revenues
Costs
Result of financial operations
Tax expenditure
Interim profit / Total comprehensive income

ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ
Energiakereskedő Kft.
80 619
79 516
-53
722
328

Budapesti Dísz- és
ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Telco Kft.
Közvilágítási Kft.
3 753
1
3 361
1
0
0
7
0
385
0

Total
84 373
82 878
-53
729
713

Shares held in enterprises involved in consolidation using the equity method (data in MHUF)
Ownership shares of ELMŰ Nyrt.
Voting shares of ELMŰ Nyrt.
31.12.2017
Effect of the first application of IFRS 9 standard
01.01.2018
Share from the profit
Dividend received
Elimination of interim result
31.12.2018
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ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ
Energiakereskedő Kft.
50%
50%
353
22
375
328
-845
191
49

Budapesti Dísz- és
Közvilágítási Kft.
50%
50%
3 074
3 074
421
-73
3 422

ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Telco Kft.
65%
50%
-

Total

3 427
22
3 449
749
-918
191
3 471
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The value of the interest in jointly managed companies is 3 471 MHUF, which increased by 44 MHUF
(1,28 %) compared to the previous business year.
The part of the profit of the jointly managed companies of 2018 allocated to the Group increased the
value of the interests by 941 MHUF. The amount of the dividend received from the jointly managed
companies (Budapesti Dísz- és Közvilágítási Kft. and ELMŰ-ÉMÁSZ Energiakereskedő Kft.) is
918 MHUF in the reporting year.

The closing value of current assets is 54 670 MHUF, which is 4 092 MHUF (6,96 %) lower than the
value of the previous period.
The 708 MHUF closing balance of cash and cash equivalents is 1 510 MHUF (68,08 %) lower than in
the reference period, while the closing balance of the inventories decreased by 72 MHUF (2,93 %)
compared to the previous reporting period.
The closing balance of 49 685 MHUF of accounts receivables from buyers and other receivables
decreased by 1 273 MHUF (2,50 %) compared to the reference period.
The balance line of accounts receivables from buyers and other receivables includes the aggregated
value of accounts receivables from buyers, receivables from related companies and other enterprises
with other type of shared relationships, other receivables and derivative receivables.
The change of accounts receivables from buyers and other receivables was resulted from the
decrease of the electricity buyers and other customers, from the increase of claims against affiliated
companies.

The Group's consolidated equity capital as at 31 December 2018 amounted to 175 116 MHUF; its
structure shown in the table below:

Subscribed capital
Accumulated profit / loss
Total other comprehensive income
Non controlling interests
Total equity
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MHUF
60 744
113 790
0
582
175 116
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The Group's long-term and short-term liabilities decreased by 4 172 MHUF (5,43 %) to
72 719 MHUF, in comparison to the previous period. The 14 209 MHUF growth of the amount of
long-term liabilities was determined by the increase of the deferred long-term income items.
The balance-decrease of short-term liabilities by 18 381 MHUF is mainly resulted from the decrease
of liabilities to suppliers and other liabilities, and short-term loans and credits.
The financing needs of the Group required the use of short-term loans. The value of short-term loans
is 6 774 MHUF, which is 4 439 MHUF (39,59 %) lower compared to the value of the previous year.
The Group allocated provisions for its expected liabilities, debiting its pre-tax profit by an amount of
247 MHUF higher than that of the reference period.
The closing balance of 32 970 MHUF of the liabilities to suppliers and other liabilities decreased by
16 099 MHUF (32,81 %) compared to the reference period.
Liabilities to suppliers and other liabilities decreased due to the decrease of short-term deferred
incomes and liabilities to suppliers.
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The following graph shows the structure of the closing amount of the assets and liabilities in 2018.
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Profit and loss of the Group

The interim profit of the Group consolidated under IFRS is higher in 2018 than in the reference
period.
Net revenues from sales was 5 242 MHUF (2,50 %) higher than in 2017. 92,92 % of net revenues is
made up of the revenues of the electricity business unit (electricity sale and network usage fees)
which increased compared to the reference period. Other revenues not related to the sale of
electricity decreased compared to the previous business year.
The amount of the Group's costs and expenses was 200 845 MHUF in 2018, which is 8 348 MHUF
(4,34 %) higher than the value of the reference period.
Description
Material type expenditures
Personnel type expenditures
Depreciation and amortization
Other operating expenses
Total

2018
162 083
15 989
13 998
8 775
200 845

2017
152 514
14 425
13 780
11 778
192 497

MHUF
Change (%)
6,27
10,84
1,58
-25,50
4,34

The profit from shares, an amount proportionate to the profit of the enterprises recognized by using
the equity method for the current year, was 941 MHUF, 889 MHUF higher in comparison to the
previous business year.
The -25 MHUF balanced value of financial operations increased by 61 MHUF in comparison to the
reference period. Parallel to the 116 MHUF decrease of the financial income, the financial expenses
decreased by 177 MHUF compared to the reference period.
The 9 825 MHUF amount of the profit tax is distributed among the following tax categories:
corporate tax: 1 622 MHUF, income tax of energy suppliers: 3 521 MHUF, local business tax:
2 305 MHUF, innovation contribution: 351 MHUF and IFRS consolidated deferred tax: 2 026 MHUF.
The interim profit of the Group generated by continuous activities is 14 934 MHUF,
4 776 MHUF lower than the corrected value of the reference period.
In 2018 the amount of earnings per share is 2 656 HUF based on the ratio of profit of the reference
period and the ordinary shares. The diluted earnings per share of the Group equals to the value
calculated with the ordinary shares as it does not have a share option. The Group does not have any
repurchased shares.
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Attachment
Consolidated balance sheet
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET / ASSETS
MHUF

31.12.2018

31.12.2017
(restated)*

Non-current assets

192 978

186 643

Property, plant and equipment
Investment properties
Intangible assets
Investments in associated and jointly controlled companies
Other financial instruments
Available-for-sale financial assets
Loans
Trade accounts receivables and other receivables
Deferred tax asset

173 924
48
2 626
3 471
65
8
22
12 814

165 333
48
2 430
3 427
68
11
53
15 273

Current assets

54 670

58 762

Inventories
Trade accounts receivables and other receivables
Income tax receivable
Cash and cash equivalents

2 386
49 685
1 891
708

2 458
50 958
3 128
2 218

187

-

247 835

245 405

Assets classified as held for sale
Total assets
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET / EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
MHUF

31.12.2018

31.12.2017
(restated)*

Equity

175 116

168 514

Subscribed capital
Accumulated profit / loss
Total other comprehensive income
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Non controlling interests

60 744
113 790
174 534
582

60 744
107 283
33
168 060
454

Non-current liabilities

30 308

25 981

Provisions
Long-term contract liabilities
Other non-current liabilities

30 243
65

51
25 930

Current liabilities

42 411

50 910

Short-term debt and leasing
Provisions
Short-term contract liabilities
Trade accounts payable and other liabilities

6 774
808
1 859
32 970

11 213
510
39 187

247 835

245 405

Total equity and liabilities

*The modification is presented in chapters 6.10, 6.11 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Business Report 2018 ELMŰ Nyrt.

30

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Sales revenue
Variations in self-manufactured stocks
Other own work capitalized
Other operating income
Depreciation and amortization
Material type expenditures
Personnel type expenditures
Impairment and reversal on financial assets
Other operating expenses
Income from operating activities
Income from investments for using the equity method
Financial income
Financial expenses
Financial result
Profit before tax
Income tax expense
Retained profit/loss from continuing operations
Retained profit / loss from discontinued / discontinuing operations
Retained profit/loss
Of wich:
Attributable to owners of the Company
Attributable to non-controlling interests

2017
(restated)**

2018

MHUF

-

-

214 516
101
4 852
4 498
13 998
162 083
15 989
721
8 775
23 843
941
299
324
25
24 759
9 825
14 934
1 202
16 136

-

-

209 274
4 468
3 753
13 780
152 514
14 425
4 018
11 778
29 016
52
415
501
86
28 982
9 272
19 710
3 944
15 766

16 037
99

15 488
278

33
-

32
-

Total other comprehensive income

16 103

15 798

Of wich:
Attributable to owners of the Company
From continuing operations
From discontinued/discontinuing operations
Attributable to non-controlling interests
From continuing operations

16 004
14 802
1 202
99
99

15 520
19 464
3 944
278
278

Total comprehensive income

16 103

15 798

2 656

2 595

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

Basic earnings and diluted earnings per share (HUF/share)

-

-

**The subsidiary RWE Energy S.R.L. was sold on 31.08.2018, therefore, the Group also shows its performance in 2017 among
the discontinuing operations.
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Consolidated Cash flow
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
MHUF
Profit before tax***
Financial result excl. realized exchange differences
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairment on trade receivables
Balance of recognising and using of provisions
Income from investments for using the equity method
Other adjustment items
Modified profit before tax
Change of trade accounts payable
Change of other liabilities
Change of trade accounts receivables
Change of current assets (excl. trade accounts receivables and cash and cash equivalents)
Interest received
Interest paid
Tax paid (on profit)
Dividends paid

2018

-

-

-

2017

26 197
56
13 998
735
247
941
83
38 905
14 483
14 503
2 336
4 447
301
357
6 365
9 719

-

-

24 896

Cash flows from operating activities

24 720
90
13 787
4 049
50
52
357
34 903
9 079
8 587
1 714
2 378
422
487
9 933
9 112
15 621

Purchases of non-current assets
Sale of non-current assets
Available-for-sale financial assets
Loan repayments
Dividends received

-

23 056
165
3
3
918

-

20 147
358
68
6
927

Cash flows from investing activities

-

21 967

-

19 640

-

4 439

6 026
-

-

4 439

6 026

Proceeds from borrowings
Repayments of borrowings
Cash flows from financing activities

-

Not realized exchange gains/losses on cash and cash equivalents (+/-)

-

25

Net increase/decrease in cash and cash equivalents

-

1 510

1 982

Net increase/decrease in cash and cash equivalents

-

1 510

1 982

2 218
708

236
2 218

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

***In the statement of cash flows of the Group the profit before tax shows the profit before tax for the continuing operation (24 759 MHUF)
and for the activities being and already discontinued (1 438 MHUF) consolidated.
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Consolidated change in equity capital
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

MHUF
Carrying amount 01.01.2017

Subscribed
capital

Retained
earnings

OCI

NCI

Total

Total equity

60 744

100 907

1

161 652

176

161 828

Retained profit / loss

-

15 488

-

15 488

278

15 766

Of which: Adjustment due to business combination
between entities under common control

-

455

-

455

194

649

Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income
Distributions of dividends

-

15 488
9 112

32
32
-

32
15 520
9 112

278
-

32
15 798
9 112

60 744

107 283

33

168 060

454

-

189

-

189

29

218

60 744

107 472

33

168 249

483

168 732

Retained profit / loss

-

16 037

-

16 037

99

16 136

Of which: Adjustment due to business combination
between entities under common control

-

95

-

95

41

136

Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income
Distributions of dividends

-

16 037
9 719

33
16 004
9 719

99
-

174 534

582

Carrying amount 31.12.2017
Adjusted impairment (IFRS9)
Carrying amount 01.01.2018

Carrying amount 31.12.2018
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60 744

-

-

113 790

-

33
33
-

-

-

-

168 514

-

33
16 103
9 719
175 116
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